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Property Portfolio

Y ESE =)

DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES -
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

ERERENE-TEEYE

Gross
Floor Area
Available for
Self-used/
Sale/Lease
Attributable (included
Number Item Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest ~ underground)  Status Lease Term
(sq.m)
BR/
qHE/
itz
BEER
F¥  HESAR HEE MEEY 2B fEfhREs (BHT) KR HEHR
(EHK)
1 Yinchuan Project West of China National Highway 109, Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 74,350 Medium-term
BB DeSheng Industrial Park* (B TXEE), &% £E Ll
Yinchuan City, Ningxia Hui Autonomous
Region, the PRC
HEEEEERAERT
EBTXER109EER
11 Commercial Phase 1 63,713 Construction completed
£ available for lease
BRI ot
12 Commercial Phase 2 - 10,637 Construction completed
Expansion project available for lease
BE_M-BRIE BRI ot
2 Yinchuan Project West of China National Highway 109, Residential, Residential Portion 100% 40,839 N/A
RIIER DeSheng Industrial Park* (E T£HE), Commercial ~ {EE TER
Yinchuan City, Ningxia Hui Autonomous {5+ H%
Region, the PRC
FEZEEERRERIF
BB TXEE109EER
2.1 Residential Phase 1 142 Construction completed
x5 avallable for sale
BRI otiE
2.2 Residential Phase 2 40,697 Main part partially
FEZH completed available for
sale
PAEEIRTT,
AIHE
2.3 Residential Phase 3 - Construction completed
e and sold out
BERIKER
3 Qinhuangdao Project  Qinhuangdao Municipality, Beidaihe New Residential, Whole Portion 100% 672,110 Medium-term
] District, Changli County, Central Golden Commercial 4 i
Coast EAY
REETHBINEERHE
BEBEDE
31 Phase 1 163,227 Main part partially
= completed
BREEIRET

Includes both plot ratio based floor area and non plot ratio based floor area

* BEAFAEERAA A ERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B wmEAD

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Richly Field
China Development Limited (the “Company”) hereby present the
audited consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year”
or “Reporting Period”) together with the comparative figures for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (the “Corresponding Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in outlets commercial operation and
development and operation of featured commercial properties (such as
tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus), development
of high-end residential properties as well as property management.

Key projects of the Group include JeShing European City Project which
is a comprehensive project comprising “E411E” (commercial), ‘K&
18" (commercial) and “AXF 1" (commercial) and Jin Sheng Yue Jing
(residential) developed in Yinchuan, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), together with the Qinhuangdao
Venice — City of Water Outlets Project which is a comprehensive project in
Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao, Hebei, the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$51,708,000 as compared to approximately HK$637,641,000
for the Corresponding Year, representing a decrease of 91.9%. The
decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to that there was a vast
amount of properties in the Yinchuan Project that had been delivered
to buyers for the Corresponding Year. Management fee income was
approximately HK$5,860,000 for the Year as compared to approximately
HK$14,923,000 for the Corresponding Year, representing a decrease of
60.7%. Rental income was approximately HK$10,650,000 for the Year as
compared to approximately HK$31,225,000 for the Corresponding Year,
representing a decrease of 65.9%.

The Group recorded a loss on revaluation of investment properties of
approximately HK$3,443,000 for the Year as compared to approximately
HK$16,098,000 for the Corresponding Year, representing a decrease of
78.6%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

Finance costs was approximately HK$51,943,000 for the Year as
compared to approximately HK$332,828,000 for the Corresponding
Year, representing a decrease of 84.4% due to the disposal of the
Disposal Group (as defined below) that had approximately HK$1.5
billion outstanding interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at
31 March 2022. The profit attributable to equity holders for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$1,421,817,000 as compared to a loss
of approximately HK$398,884,000 for the Corresponding Year, due to
the disposal of the Disposal Group that generated a gain on disposal
of approximately HK$1.5 billion. The profit per share for the Year was
HK$6.09 cents as compared to HK$1.71 cents loss per share for the
Corresponding Year.

As for financing aspect, regarding the loan agreements with related
parties, JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited* (B E XK E
E£EAEMRAT) (“JeShing Real Estate”), Nanjing No. 1 Architecture and
Engineering Group Company Limited* (I RE—ERTIREEBRER
&) and Jiangsu Decorative Material Co. Ltd* CIEfSERMEIBRAT),
the total outstanding principal amount was RMB301,800,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$344,746,000) (collectively the “Related Party Loan”)
as at 31 March 2023. Related Party Loan was due in March 2023 with
an interest rate range of 5.7%-6.19% per annum and was secured by the
pledge of certain of the Group’s assets.

Related Party Loan was a loan borrowed by the related parties
from Huaxia Bank (the “Huaxia Bank Loan”) and lent directly to the
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited* (Z= 2 & B4% 5y
FBEAIE/AT]), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on
the same terms. No further extension agreement had been entered into
between Huaxia Bank and the related parties in March 2023. Therefore,
the Huaxia Bank Loan was in default from March 2023. Huaxia Bank has
the discretionary right to demand related parties of the Company on full
payment of the whole principal amount and any unpaid interest. To the
best knowledge of the Directors, management of the related parties have
commenced negotiations of the repayment terms of the Huaxia Bank
Loan with Huaxia Bank since then. Up to the date of this report, those
negotiations are still in progress and have not been concluded. As the
land of the Qinhuangdao Project (as defined below) has been pledged
against the Huaxia Bank Loan, Huaxia Bank has the discretionary right
to confiscate the land of the Qinhuangdao Project and dispose it for
Huaxia Bank Loan repayment if related parties of the Company fail to
repay the Huaxia Bank Loan when Huaxia Bank demands immediate full
repayment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

In December 2021, the Group entered into a loan agreement regarding a
revolving loan facility agreement with a related party, JeShing Real Estate
in relation to an unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount of
RMB2,000,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,284,600,000) at
an interest rate of 5% per annum and is due to repay in December 2023.
As at 31 March 2023, amount of approximately RMB1,990,940,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,274,251,000) remained unutilized.
In May 2023, the Group entered into a new loan agreement regarding
a revolving loan facility agreement with a related party, Jinsheng
International Group (BVI) Limited (BB EE (RBETREE) AR
AF))in relation to an unsecured loan fagcility in the total principal amount
of HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest rate of 5% per annum, the revolving
loan facility will start in January 2024 and is due to repay in December
2025.

Property Management Business

On 28 March 2023, the Group announced to acquire 100% equity
interests in two property management companies, which are Ningxia
Guanling Property Service Co., Ltd.* (EEREYERFEERAD)
(“Ningxia Guanling”) and Wuhan Yuejing Property Management Co.,
Ltd.* (UERSYEEEABRAE) (“Wuhan Yuejing”). The unaudited
revenue of Ningxia Guanling and Wuhan Yuejing for the year ended 31
December 2022 were approximately RMB8,330,000 and RMB3,573,000
respectively. Further details refer to the announcement of the Company
on 28 March 2023. The acquisition of Ningxia Guanling was completed
on 7 April 2023. While the acquisition of Wuhan Yuejing has not been
completed up to the date of this report. On 15 June 2023, the Group
acquired 100% equity interests in Hohhot Pengshengjie Property
Management Service Co., Ltd.* (MFHIERHIERZY X EERD
BIREMEAE) (“Hohhot Pengshengjie”), Hohhot Pengshengiie is a
newly setup company to target the property management market in the
Inner Mongolia province, China. These acquisitions will further expand
the property management business of the Group as the property
development market in China has been facing tough environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmED

Projects Overview

Qinhuangdao Venice - City of Water Outlets Project
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited* (ZRE & B4
KHTBEXE AR AT)Is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(“Qinhuangdao Company”). The project developed by the Company
in the core area of International Healthy City, Beidaihe New District,
Qinhuangdao City, is positioned as a large coastal shopping, tourism and
healthcare resort complex with outlets business as the major operation,
integrated with high-end hot spring resort hotels, high-end hospitals,
health preservation and elderly care, cultural and entertainment activities,
and recreational resorts (“Qinhuangdao Venice — City of Water Outlets
Project” or “Qinhuangdao Project”).

Qinhuangdao Venice — City of Water Outlets Project covers an area of
approximately 1,077 mu, planned to be developed in three phases.
Phase 1 of the project covers a total area of approximately 163,227
sg.m., which is planned to be developed, by function, into outlets
business (including Latitude Space), a health preservation hotel, resort
units and an exhibition centre, along with supporting parking lots
and greenery landscape. The Group has successively obtained the
construction work planning and commencement permits for Sections
A, B, and C of Phase 1 and the exhibition centre, the construction work
planning permit for Section D of Phase 1 as well as the pre-sale permits
for the first 59 resort units.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

During the Reporting Period, the Group focused on the construction of
some minor works of the Phase 1 project. Specifically, the main structure
of outlets business has completed capping, and many units have
completed construction of the secondary structure and inspection of the
main structure. The exhibition centre has been fully constructed and put
into use for sale of Phase 1 resort units and daily office operation.

Led by local government agencies, Qinhuangdao Company actively
approached all partners, and plans to build the commercial portion
of Phase 1 with concerted efforts, so as to align with local industrial
positioning, i.e. to build Qinhuangdao into a first-class comprehensive
demonstration city for health care and vacation.

Yinchuan Project

The Company held the property named JeShing European City (& BXER
A7) through Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co. Ltd.* (B E &5
KEBEAFMRAE) (“Ningxia Jinguan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. JeShing European City comprises five parcels of land with
a total site area of approximately 133,300 sg.m. and a residential and
commercial complex constructed thereon (“Yinchuan Project”).

Yinchuan residential project — Jin Sheng Yue Jing (£25F=

Featured with the supporting commercial facilities, Jin Sheng Yue Jing
is a large-scale residential community developed passionately by the
Company, which creates a comfortable and convenient living environment
on the back of the surrounding resources such as banks, medical
institutes, educational institutions, department stores and supermarkets,
entertainment facilities and restaurants as well as its own lifestyle
amenities and building materials stores. With a site area of approximately
120 mu, the Jin Sheng Yue Jing project comprises 20 mid— to high-
rise buildings to be developed in 3 phases. The project has adopted the
frame shear wall structure across the board, the beige granite paint for
exterior decoration, and the internationally popular Artdeco neoclassic
architectural style for the overall appearance, presenting a sense of
fashion, solemnity and elegance.

B | i 1 T o —
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

Phase 1 and Phase 3 of Jin Sheng Yue Jing have been completed and
delivered. Construction of the main structure has been completed for
two buildings under Phase 2. During the Reporting Period, only 1 unit
of commercial premises in Phase 1 remained unsold and all units of
residence of Phase 3 in the central area were sold out.

Yinchuan Commercial Properties

The Yinchuan Commercial Properties consist of three commercial
buildings (namely “E11%”, “KEE” and “XF&EH") and two corridors,
collectively known as Jeshing International Home Furnishing Mall e
Desheng Square (EBREEKE ¢ B EH) (“Yinchuan Commercial
Properties Project”) with a total gross floor area of over 90,000 sqg.m.
[t is an integrated commercial complex featuring building materials and
furniture stores, department stores, restaurants and supermarkets,
with malls offering high-end building materials and upscale household
products. The elegant and comfortable commercial environment, easy
accessibility by convenient public transportation, bespoke commercial
layout plan and premium quality management have made it a new
premier commercial landmark in Yinchuan.

In terms of business solicitation, in addition to building materials and
household products stores that have been growing from strength to
strength in the industry, the Group brought in a large indoor trampoline
centre, a second-hand vehicle market, and a large-scale supermarket
introduced by Beijing investors, which invigorated the existing product
portfolio, provided property owners of Jin Sheng Yue Jing and
surrounding residents with more unique and convenient lifestyle facilities
and attracted a wider range of shopping groups with a unique business
structure, redefining the traditional image of a shopping mall for building
materials and household products by being more inclusive. During the
Reporting Period, X% achieved an occupancy rate of 100% and
became the largest curtain wholesale base in the northwest region.
Gathering merchants of major brands in the northwest, the mall hit a
record high in the amount of orders. As shown from the overall data,
the three buildings of the entire Yinchuan Commercial Properties Project
have gradually unveiled the unique distinction of Yinchuan Commercial
Properties to be the northern commercial hub of the city.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

During the Reporting Period, Ningxia Jinguan renovated the Building
Material Mall, overcame the limitations of the original traffic flow,
consolidated the original booths into Class A booths through round-
the-clock discussions by the operation team, and introduced premium
international and domestic brands including DeRUCCI, CBD and Milily to
settle in, enhancing the strength of furniture brands and attracting more
quality high-end customers. During the Reporting Period, the online live
broadcast modes of Douyin and WeChat official accounts were tried for
the first time, and the Jin Sheng Joyful Lifestyle app was launched to ride
on the online shopping trend, with notable results achieved.

Associated Companies

During the Reporting Period, the projects managed by the associated
companies of the Company also achieved certain progress.

Huailai Project

The master plan, demonstration area design plan, chateau design plan
and environmental impact assessment of the characteristic villa residential
and winery project in Huailai of Hebei Province have been completed.
The project is developed by Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited* (12
RA—BEBIEEAMRAT), a 50%-owned associated company of
the Company. In the demonstration area, access to roads, electricity and
water supply has been in place and certain works regarding landscaping,
planting and slope wall reconditioning have been completed.

Changchun Project

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited* (FME4FIHETE RLBITINIRA
FRAE]) (“Jiin Company”), a 42%-owned associated company of the
Company, obtained land use rights for a piece of land with an area
of 443 mu for commercial and residential purposes in Shuangyang
District, Changchun City, Jilin Province in April 2016. In order to seek
differentiated development, Jilin Company plans to develop its project in
Shuangyang District, Changchun into an integrated project combining
a theme park and a cultural tourism town under the theme of cultural
tourism and the objective of building a liveable place with elderly care.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the Year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly finances its business operations with its internal
resources and loan facilities from banks, financial institutions and related
parties. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$35,083,000 (2022: HK$65,981,000). The
Group’s current ratio (measured as total current assets to total current
liabilities) was 0.67 times (2022: 0.62 times). The unsecured interest-
bearing other borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$30,718,000 (2022: HK$19,444,000) as at 31 March 2023.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, property interest held by the Group with net
carrying amount in aggregate of approximately HK$1,014,100,000 (31
March 2022: HK$2,090,519,000) were pledged to banks and financial
institutions.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As the Group’s other borrowings, bank and cash balances, trade
receivables, prepayments, deposits, other receivables, trade payables,
accruals, other payables, receipts in advance, contract liabilities and
amounts due to related parties were mainly denominated in RMB, the
Group had not experienced significant exposure to foreign currency
fluctuation.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had capital commitments of
construction of properties included under property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of approximately HK$526,430,000 (31 March
2022: HK$569,375,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 14 April 2023, () King Future Holdings Limited (the “Seller”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (i) Heilongjiang Fenglin
Investment Company Limited* (the “Purchaser”), (i) Qinhuangdao
Arirang, and (iv) Qinhuangdao Company entered into the cooperation
agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser and the Seller have agreed
to cooperate to develop the Qinhuangdao Project (the “Cooperation
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, among other
things, the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Seller has conditionally agreed to sell the 30% of the equity interests
in Qinhuangdao Company (“Sale Interests”) (i.e. the Disposal). As
part of the arrangement under the Cooperation Agreement, the Seller
and Qinhuangdao Arirang have also entered into the equity transfer
agreement on the same day to set out the terms of the Disposal (the
“Equity Transfer Agreement”). Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement,
the Seller agreed to transfer the Sale Interests to Qinhuangdao Arirang
for a consideration of USD1.2 million in accordance with relevant legal
procedures. In addition, in order to ensure the development progress of
the Qinhuangdao Project, the Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang will
invest RMB300 million in the first installment (this amount will be used as
an increase in the share capital corresponding to Qinhuangdao Arirang’s
shareholding in Qinhuangdao Company and will not be returned by
Qinhuangdao Company) to resolve issues that affect the Qinhuangdao
Project. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14
April 2023 for details.

On 31 May 2023, the Board announced that the Purchaser and
Qinhuangdao Arirang have failed to perform the payment obligation
in accordance with the Cooperation Agreement and Equity Transfer
Agreement. On 31 May 2023, the Seller served the termination notices
to the Purchaser and/or Qinhuangdao Arirang (as the case maybe) to
terminate the Cooperation Agreement and Equity Transfer Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES OR ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
AND JOINT VENTURES

Disposal of Changsha Outlets Project

On 9 February 2022, #¥H=REH LR) LEBEMBRAE (Richly
Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*), a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and B4 57t R & BTN IMIERE R A F
(Globe Qutlets City Holdings Limited), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (“Sellers”) entered into the equity transfer agreements
with 26X EIEREB AR AT (Lewoju Holding Group Company
Limited*) (“Lewoju”), pursuant to which, Sellers agreed to dispose and
Lewoju agreed to acquire all the equity interests beneficially held by the
Sellers in HEMAHARRRITEFZEABREAE (Hunan Richly Field Outlets
Real Estate Limited”), R/ HBRFHRETEEEEER A5 (Changsha
Yutian Outlets Business Administration Co Limited*) and E7)# HE
KYEESIEHR/AT (Changsha Yutian Outlets Property Management
Company Limited*) (collectively the “Changsha Outlets Project” or
“Disposal Group”).

The disposal of Changsha Outlets Project had been completed on 14
April 2022, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 14
April 2022 for details.

Acquisition of Property Management Companies

On 28 March 2023, Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co.,
Ltd.*, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
equity transfer agreements with each of Ningxia Guanling Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.* and True Gains Limited (the “Sellers”) to acquire
the entire interest in Ningxia Guanling Property Service Co., Ltd.* and
Wuhan Yuejing Property Management Co., Ltd.* at a consideration of
RMB1,590,000 and RMB1,750,000 respectively.

The entering into of the said equity transfer agreements constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and was exempt from the circular (including independent financial
advice) and the shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 28 March
2023 for details.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed a total of 89 employees
(excluding Directors), as compared to 190 employees (excluding
Directors) as at 31 March 2022. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and prevailing market
parameters. Employee benefits include pension insurance fund, medical
insurance coverage, unemployment insurance fund, occupational injury
insurance fund, maternity insurance fund, housing provident fund and
mandatory provident fund (for Hong Kong employees).

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

The Group has focused on the real estate market, strategically rolling out
diverse product mixes such as “residential + commercial”’, “residential
+ senior care”, and “residential + cultural tourism”, which boast unique
features to forestall declined competitiveness due to homogeneity of
products. However, the success of a company still depends very much
on its ability to appreciate industry-related policies in advance and
make business adjustments and plans in advance to align itself with the

policies.

In the past few years, the Group failed to adapt itself to industry policies
and market development trends in a timely manner, and was not able
to effectively convert the land on hand into cashable commodities.
Moreover, being a “late-mover” for several times also resulted in
significantly lower-than-expected fund usage rate and return, leading to
high financial costs. Financial policies support the notion that housing is
for accommodation rather than speculation, and will not be relaxed in
2023. Besides, the financing environment will continue to be tightened. To
strictly control the flow of capital and turn away from the virtual economy
to the real economy, developers must also strictly stick to the bottom-line
mindset of “three red lines”, deleverage and reduce liabilities.

Even amid the periods severely stricken by the pandemic, the policy
orientation of housing for accommodation rather than speculation was
never wavered, which will also continue in 2023. On the condition of
not compromising the steady and rapid economic growth, the overall
regulation of the property market will remain tight. It, therefore, means
that housing prices will tend to be stable overall without substantial rise
or fall, and the time in which general price rise brings about benefits has
become a bygone era.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

The above factors, such as high financial costs, tight financing
environment, unswerving policy orientation of housing for
accommodation rather than speculation, and increasingly rational
property buyers due to the rising mortgage interest rate and prolonged
lending cycle, undoubtedly pose a great challenge for the Group, whose
income sources are relatively simple (i.e., mainly property sales income
and rental income). The Group’s future development fundamentally hinges
on identifying ways to fully use funds and proactively broaden revenue
sources, such as property management business which is also one of the
key businesses of the Group. The two property management companies’
acquisition during the Year will help to bring in more stable income to the
Group in the future.

Amid the harsh economic environment, “struggling alone” is no longer
realistic, and only “partnering up with others” will allow a slim chance
of survival. The attempt to bring in a new investor and partner to the
Qinhuangdao Project in April 2023 was one of the ways, despite it was
terminated due to unexpected reasons, to bring in additional capital and
resources to continue the development of the Qinhuangdao Project. In
the future, the Group will continue to enhance cooperation with financing
institutions, government agencies and other parties of the same or
different industries to activate its various projects with concerted efforts.

STEPS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY SINCE THE
PUBLICATION OF THE 2022 ANNUAL REPORT TO
ADDRESS THE 2022 DISCLAIMER OPINION AND
THE PROGRESS ACHIEVED

Refer to the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2022 published on 13 August 2022 (“2022 Annual Results”), the
Company’s auditor issued the disclaimer opinion on the Company’s
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“2022 Disclaimer
Opinion”), which arose as the Group reported net loss of approximately
HK$398,884,000 and had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,955,823,000 as at 31 March 2022. These conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

As part of the measures to resolve the issues underlying the 2022
Disclaimer Opinion, the Group has successfully completed the disposal of
the Disposal Group. As further detailed in the note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, the disposal of the Disposal Group was completed
on 14 April 2022. Thereafter, the Group would no longer be required to
finance the repayment of the liabilities of the Disposal Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

On the other hand, the Group has also taken the following steps since the
publication of the 2022 Annual Results but the underlying issues cannot
be resolved due to the following reasons:

1.

18

Acceleration of the pre-sales and sales of the
Group’s property development projects

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated 29 August
2022, as at 31 March 2022, the Group still possessed pre-sale
permits of around 27 block of properties for the Qinhuangdao
Project that can generate approximately HK$66.6 million of
estimated pre-sale proceeds based on average selling price in
2021.

The Group intended to accelerate the pre-sales and sales of the
Group’s property development projects during the year ended 31
March 2023. For example, during the Reporting Period, the Group
focused on the construction of some minor works of Phase 1 of
the Qinhuangdao Project. Specifically, the main structure of outlets
business has completed capping, and many units have completed
construction of the secondary structure and inspection of the main
structure. The exhibition centre has been fully constructed and put
into use for sale of Phase 1 resort units and daily office operation.
Regarding the Yinchuan Project, construction of the main structure
has been completed for two buildings under Phase 2, majority
of which was unsold. During the Reporting Period, only 1 unit of
commercial premises in Phase 1 remained unsold and all units of
residence of Phase 3 in the central area were sold out.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENmES

However, the Group’s plan was negatively impacted by the Am  AEBEBZHETEUTERED
following factors: =R N

a) RBE_Z_=ZF=ZR=+-—

a)  The sentiment of the property market in China had been

bad during the year ended 31 March 2023. According
to the Office for National Statistics of China, the sales of
residential buildings was RMB11.7 trillion for the year ended
31 December 2022, representing a decrease of 28.3% as
compared to 2021.

As a result, for the Yinchuan Project, the Group has during
the financial year ended 31 March 2023 successfully
delivered approximately HK$36.0 million of properties to
its customers (2022: approximately HK$605.8 million) and
received pre-sold proceeds of approximately HK$11.2 million
of properties (2022: approximately HK$6.1 million). For the
Qinhuangdao Project, the Group did not record any pre-sold
proceeds of properties during the financial year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: HK$31.8 million).

Because of the slow progress of pre-sales activities of the
Group, the progress of construction has also been affected
badly, which led to the suspension in the construction of
the Qinhuangdao Project as a result of the lack of monies
received from pre-sales to support further construction.

In addition to the main reasons above, the Group’s sales and
construction activities were also disrupted due to the impact
of COVID-19 which had remained throughout most of the
time for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEsTwmA N
2. Other financing options

20

On 14 April 2023, () King Future Holdings Limited (the “Seller”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (i) Heilongjiang Fenglin
Investment Company Limited (the “Purchaser”), (i) Qinhuangdao
Arirang Real Estate Development Company Limited (“Qinhuangdao
Arirang”), and (iv) Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company
Limited (“Qinhuangdao Company”) entered into the cooperation
agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser and the Seller
have agreed to cooperate to develop the Qinhuangdao Project
(the “Cooperation Agreement”). Pursuant to the Cooperation
Agreement, among other things, the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to purchase and the Seller has conditionally agreed to sell
the 30% of the equity interests in Qinhuangdao Company (“Sale
Interests”) (the “Proposed Disposal”). As part of the arrangement
under the Cooperation Agreement, the Seller and Qinhuangdao
Arirang have also entered into the equity transfer agreement on
the same day to set out the terms of the Proposed Disposal
(the “Equity Transfer Agreement”). Pursuant to the Cooperation
Agreement, in order to ensure the development progress of the
Qinhuangdao Project, the Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang
will invest RMB300 million in the first installment to resolve issues
that affect the development of the Qinhuangdao Project. The
Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang will also be responsible
for investing the funds required for future development of the
Qinhuangdao Company, repaying all debts, and ensuring the
Qinhuangdao Project is completed, sold, and delivered on time
(the initial project development period is 48 months after the
completion of the registration of the change of the equity transfer).
The Company considers that such cooperation with the Purchaser
and Qinhuangdao Arirang will help the Group to continue the
development of the Qinhuangdao Project and at the same time
restoring the Project Company to a healthier financial position
after repayment of debts and liabilities with the fundings from the
Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang.

However, after several attempts by the Group to pursue the
performance obligations of the Purchaser/Qinhuangdao Arirang
by way of reminder letters and telephone communication, the
Purchaser/Qinhuangdao Arirang still failed to perform the payment
obligation. On 31 May 2023, the Board announced that the
Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang have failed to perform the
payment obligation in accordance with the Cooperation Agreement
and Equity Transfer Agreement. On 31 May 2023, the Seller served
the termination notices to the Purchaser and/or Qinhuangdao
Arirang (as the case maybe) to terminate the Cooperation
Agreement and Equity Transfer Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRAD R

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION MEASURES

The Group had a net loss for the Year of approximately HK$90,801,000
(after deducting the one off non-cash gain on disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$1,512,618,000) and as at 31 March 2023, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$511,791,000 and
total borrowings, including interest-bearing other borrowings, amount
due to a shareholder and amounts due to related parties, in aggregate
of approximately HK$599,027,000 that will be due in the coming twelve
months from the end of the Reporting Period. As at the same date,
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$35,083,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and, therefore the Group may not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION ISSUED BY THE
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FOR THE YEAR

The independent auditor of the Company has issued a disclaimer of
opinion to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year
(“2023 Disclaimer Opinion”), details of which are set out in the report from
the independent auditor.

Plans to Address the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion

In view of the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion, the Company had carefully
considered the following measures to address the issues underlying the
2023 Disclaimer Opinion:

1. Property development projects
The sentiment of the property market in China has shown sign
of improvement in the first 5 months of year 2023, according to
the Office for National Statistics of China, the sales of residential
buildings was RMB4.5 trillion for the first 5 months of year 2023,
representing an increase of 11.9% as compared to the same period
in 2022.
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The development progress of certain of the Group’s property
development projects had been significantly delayed or suspended
due to the market conditions and liquidity issues faced by the
Group. Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period, the Group
entered into a supplementary agreement with a contractor that the
non-legally binding framework agreement signed in July 2022 still
remains valid and that the contractor agreed not to demand any
repayment from the Group for the construction works it performed
towards the Group’s property development projects until the
value of cumulative certified works reach RMB200,000,000. The
Directors of the Company considered that, such arrangement
together with the improving market sentiment could enable the
Group to continue the property development as scheduled and
to accelerate the pre-sales of properties under development as
potential buyers would know that the Qinhuangdao Project has
resumed.

The Directors, based on information available as of today and their
best knowledge, expect the Group would record a forecasted
operating cash inflows for the year ending 31 March 2024 as
follows:

a. For the Qinhuangdao Project, the Directors expect
approximately RMB54.0 million of pre-sales deposits to be
generated from this project for the year ending 31 March
2024,

b. For the Yinchuan Project, the Directors expect approximately
RMB27.1 million of pre-sales deposits to be generated from
this project for the year ending 31 March 2024.

Continuous financial support from related companies

a. Asat 31 March 2023, the Group had a revolving loan facility
of RMB2,000,000,000 granted by a company controlled by
a controlling shareholder that will expire in December 2023 of
which approximately RMB1,990,940,000 remained unutilised
as at 31 March 2023.
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b.  Subsequent to the Reporting Period, the Group entered
into a new loan agreement regarding a revolving loan facility
agreement with a company controlled by a controlling
shareholder of HK$2,000,000,000 that will start in January
2024 and expire in December 2025.

c. The Directors of the Company considered that the credit
facilities can be utilised in the manner to settle the liabilities of
the Group when and as they fall due.

Expansion of Property Management Business

The Group had made acquisitions of property management
companies subsequent to the end of Reporting Period. The
unaudited revenue of Ningxia Guanling and Wuhan Yuejing for the
year ended 31 December 2022 were approximately RMB8,330,000
and RMB3,573,000 respectively. On 15 June 2023, the Group
acquired 100% equity interests in Hohhot Pengshengijie Property
Management Service Co., Ltd. which is a newly setup company
to target the property management market in the Inner Mongolia
province, China.

Property management business is one of the key businesses of the
Group, the expansion of the property management business will
help to bring in more stable income to the Group in the future.

Other financing options

Further to the termination of the Cooperation Agreement, the
Group will continue to identify and negotiate with various financial
institutions and identifying various options for financing the Group’s
working capital and commitments in the foreseeable future, such as
new investors and business partners.

Possible disposal of non-core businesses and assets

In addition, the Directors of the Company will also consider, if
necessary, to dispose of certain of its property development
projects and/or to seek other investors/property developers to
accelerate the development of the Group’s property projects in
order to source additional funds to the Group.

Cost control
The Group will continue to take appropriate measures to control
administrative costs.
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Removal of the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion

The Directors of the Company believe that, after taking into account the
above plans and measures, as well as the forecasted operating cash
flows for the year ending 31 March 2024, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to satisfy its present requirements for the year ending 31
March 2024.

The Directors believe that the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion would be removed
for the year ending 31 March 2024 after taking into account the Group’s
action plan above.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property sector in
Mainland China and the uncertainties to obtain continuous support from
the banks, the related companies and the Group’s contractors/creditors,
the Directors of the Company consider that material uncertainties exist as
to whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, the Group may be unable to operate as a going concern, in
which case adjustments might have to be made to the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to state them at their realisable values, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify its non-current
assets and non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities,
respectively.

Based on preliminary discussion with the Company’s auditor, the auditor
are of the view that:

° The 2023 Disclaimer Opinion would be removed in the next
year’s auditor’s report if the proposed measures above have been
successfully implemented after taking into account the latest
progress of these measures. These measures would mitigate the
Group’s liquidity pressure and improve its financial position which
would result in the generation of sufficient cash flow to discharge
the Group’s liabilities falling due in the next 12 month. However,
as disclosed in the 2023 Annual Report, the outcome of these
measures are subject to multiple uncertainties.
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° In next financial year, the Auditor will exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing in order to
conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The conclusions would be based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report.

Audit Committee’s View Towards The 2023
Disclaimer Opinion

As disclosed on page 29 of the 2023 annual results announcement of
the Company dated 30 June 2023, the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) had reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
results for the year ended 31 March 2023 with the Group’s management,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, risk management and internal control, and
financial reporting matters, in conjunction with the Auditor.

During the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 30 June 2023, all
members of the Audit Committee had thoroughly reviewed the Auditor’s
qualification and the Group’s financial position, and agreed with the
management’s position that the Company was able to carry on as a
going concern despite the Auditor’s qualification, based on the reasons
as mentioned under the “Plans to Address the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion”
above.
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Report of the Directors
EEgHRS

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 is
set out in the sections of Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
6 to 25.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
112.

There will not be a payment of a final dividend for the Year (31 March
2022: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on pages 115, 116 and 225, respectively.

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
Nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was not more than 12% of the Group’s total revenue for the
Year.

The percentage of purchases cost for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

44%
83%

- the largest supplier
- five largest suppliers combined

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in
the major suppliers or customers noted above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 228. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Wong Chi Hong William
Xu Jinghong

Pursuant to Bye-Law 99, Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Chi Hong
William and Mr. Xu Jinghong will retire from office by rotation at the AGM
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the
requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 105 to 107.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors, the Chief Executive of the
Company and their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO) or, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of persons (other
than Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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LONG POSITIONS

Under otherwise specified, the shareholding percentages disclosed
below are calculated based on the total of 23,336,687,255 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2023.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each of the Company

e

FRABETHN TXREZFERBE DTS
BREBARIAN T =

S ——
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ZEHBE%1723,336,687,255/R B5 10 5t

Ho

Number of issued
ordinary shares
and underlying
shares held/

AT EARE(E0.05B T Z EiEAR

Approximate

percentage of the

issued share
capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity interested Company
BE %H
HEZBE1T AR
EEkKk BRITRA
IERETE 15 HERAkRG B B4 B2
Fine Bliss Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 2,340,000,000 10.03%
RIRBERLE (1) Bm#EAA
Complete Power International Limited (Note 1)  Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 10.03%
2NHBEBEERAT (sE1) ZEHEE S
Good Moral Enterprises Limited (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 10.03%
EEPEBRAD (HE1) ZEEE S
Stimulate High Investment Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 11,439,198,452 49.02%
IREFLERRAA (FzE2) BEm#EAA
Wang Hua (Note 1 and 2) Interest of controlled corporation 13,779,198,452 59.05%
F# (st k2) ZEEE R
Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,600,000,000 11.14%
(Note 3)
BB EZERARAR (MIE3) ZEHEE S
Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 2,600,000,000 11.14%
Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (f#3£3) EREA A
Wu Peipei (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,600,000,000 11.14%

RIEE (HEE3)

EHAE
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Notes:

1) Fine Bliss Limited is the registered holder of 2,340,000,000 shares of the
Company. Mr. Wang Hua owns the entire issued share capital of Complete
Power International Limited, and Complete Power International Limited owns the
entire issued share capital of Good Moral Enterprises Limited, and Good Moral
Enterprises Limited owns the entire issued share capital of Fine Bliss Limited.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Wang Hua, Complete Power International Limited and
Good Moral Enterprises Limited is deemed to be interested in the 2,340,000,000
shares directly held by Fine Bliss Limited under the SFO.

2) Stimulate High Investment Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Hua.
Accordingly, Mr. Wang Hua is deemed to be interested in the 11,439,198,452
shares directly held by Stimulate High Investment Limited under the SFO.

3) Sino Dynamics Investments Limited is the registered holder of 2,600,000,000
shares of the Company. The entire issued share capital of Sino Dynamics
Investments Limited is directly owned by Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings
Limited. Ms. Wu Peipei owns the entire issued share capital of Galaxy Sharp
Investment Holdings Limited. Accordingly, each of Galaxy Sharp Investment
Holdings Limited and Ms. Wu Peipei is deemed to be interested in the
2,600,000,000 shares directly held by Sino Dynamics Investments Limited under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, no person (other than
the Directors) had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and receipt of confirmation
from the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the
Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules subsequent to the date of the interim report of the Company
for the six months ended 30 September 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To the best knowledge of the Board, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them, or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Having made all reasonable enquiries and based on the available
books and records, the Board is not aware of any material interest in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors, the Shareholders
and their respective associates had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following connected transactions,
certain details of which had been disclosed in compliance with the
requirements under the Listing Rules.

On 28 March 2023, Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co.,
Ltd.*, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
equity transfer agreements with each of Ningxia Guanling Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.* and True Gains Limited (the “Sellers”) to acquire
the entire interest in Ningxia Guanling Property Service Co., Ltd.* and
Wuhan Yuejing Property Management Co., Ltd.* at a consideration of
RMB1,590,000 and RMB1,750,000 respectively (the “Acquisitions”).
Further details refer to the announcement of the Company on 28 March
2023. The acquisition of Ningxia Guanling was completed on 7 April
2023. While the acquisition of Wuhan Yuejing has not been completed up
to the date of this report.

As Mr. Wang Hua, the controlling shareholder of the Company, who is
a connected person of the Company, is beneficially interested in the
entire interests in Sellers, therefore, the Acquisitions constitute connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules. Please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 28 March 2023 for details.
As the highest applicable percentage ratio of the Acquisitions, on an
aggregate basis, exceeds 5% but are less than 25%, the Acquisitions
also constitute discloseable transaction for the Company under the
Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Board is not aware of any contract during the Year entered into with
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 14 April 2023, () King Future Holdings Limited (the “Seller”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (i) Heilongjiang Fenglin
Investment Company Limited* (the “Purchaser”), (i) Qinhuangdao
Arirang, and (iv) Qinhuangdao Company entered into the cooperation
agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser and the Seller have agreed
to cooperate to develop the Qinhuangdao Project (the “Cooperation
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, among other
things, the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Seller has conditionally agreed to sell the 30% of the equity interests
in Qinhuangdao Company (“‘Sale Interests”) (i.e. the Disposal). As
part of the arrangement under the Cooperation Agreement, the Seller
and Qinhuangdao Arirang have also entered into the equity transfer
agreement on the same day to set out the terms of the Disposal (the
“Equity Transfer Agreement”). Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement,
the Seller agreed to transfer the Sale Interests to Qinhuangdao Arirang
for a consideration of USD1.2 million in accordance with relevant legal
procedures. In addition, in order to ensure the development progress of
the Qinhuangdao Project, the Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang will
invest RMB300 million in the first installment (this amount will be used as
an increase in the share capital corresponding to Qinhuangdao Arirang’s
shareholding in Qinhuangdao Company and will not be returned by
Qinhuangdao Company) to resolve issues that affect the Qinhuangdao
Project. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14
April 2023 for details.
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On 31 May 2023, the Board announced that the Purchaser and
Qinhuangdao Arirang have failed to perform the payment obligation
in accordance with the Cooperation Agreement and Equity Transfer
Agreement. On 31 May 2023, the Seller served the termination notices
to the Purchaser and/or Qinhuangdao Arirang (as the case maybe) to
terminate the Cooperation Agreement and Equity Transfer Agreement.

AUDITOR

During the year, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has resigned as the
auditor of the Company (“‘Auditor”’) and CL Partners CPA Limited (“CL
Partners”) was appointed as the Auditor on 21 March 2023.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Year
have been audited by CL Partners. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM to re-appoint CL Partners as the Auditor.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM will be held on Tuesday, 22 August 2023. To
ascertain the Shareholders’ entitiement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
17 August 2023 to Tuesday, 22 August 2023, both days inclusive,
during which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant shares certificates must be lodged with the
Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong by 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 16 August 2023.

On behalf of the Board

Li Yi Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Company has been making an effort to enhance the
corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to the code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). During
the Year, the Company has applied and complied with all the code
provisions set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1.

Code provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the Year, the Company had deviated from code provision C.2.1
because the roles of Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company had been vested in the same person (Mr. Li Yi
Feng). The reason for this deviation was that the Board believes that
at the current development of the Group, vesting of the two roles in
the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership and facilitates the planning and execution of the Group’s
business strategies. The Board will review this structure periodically and
will consider steps to separate dual roles of chairman and chief executive
officer as and when appropriate taking into account the prevailing
circumstances.

Code provision F.2.2 provides that the Chairman of the Board should
attend the annual general meeting (“AGM”) and should be made available
to answer questions at the AGM.

Mr. Li Yi Feng, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the AGM
held on 9 September 2022 due to business trip. But the Chairperson of
the audit and remuneration committees of the Company was present to
answer shareholders’ questions at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of five Directors
including two Executive Directors, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Company’s businesses, investment and strategic
decisions and performance. In addition, the Board has delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees. Further details of these board
committees are set out in this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company wiill
also take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board recognizes that gender-diverse leadership encourages better
governance, provides broader range of perspectives to the decision-
making process and ultimately increases corporate performance and
competitiveness. During the Year, the Board was comprised of 80% male
and 20% female, and is committed to improving gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified.
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To develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to maintain
gender diversity, similar considerations are used when recruiting and
selecting key management and other personnel across the Group’s
operations.

During the Year, the Group maintained a 49.4:50.6 gender ratio of males
to females in the workplace. The Group will consider not only the ability of
each potential candidate, but also the agenda diversity in the workforce
when recruiting suitable candidates.

Independent Views and Input

The Company has established mechanisms for ensuring independent
views and input are available to the Board for enhancing an objective and
effective decision making.

The following mechanisms are subject to annual review by Board,
including without limitation:

(@ Independent Non-executive Directors can express their views in
an open and candid manner, and in a confidential manner, should
circumstances require through meeting between Independent Non-
executive Directors and the Chairman only;

(b)  each and every Director is given the opportunity to express his/her
different views at Board meetings and to voice his/her concerns;
and

(c)  other informal meetings outside the boardroom.

Executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Hsu Wai Man Helen

Wong Chi Hong William

Xu Jinghong

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The biographical information of the
Directors is set out on pages 105 to 107.
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Chairman

The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating the overall
strategies and policies of the Company in order to ensure effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance with
good corporate governance practices and encourages and facilitates
active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The chairman also
ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and have received adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner with the assistance of the company secretary.

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors are responsible for running the Company and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the Company’s
management team in accordance with the directions set by the Board
and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal control system is
in place and the Company’s business conforms to applicable laws and
regulations.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors serve the important function of
ensuring and monitoring an effective corporate governance framework.
Their participation provides adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The
Board currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
and two of them have relevant professional qualification or accounting
or relating financial management expertise. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On this
basis, the Board is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
Independent Non-executive Directors will provide independent opinion
and share their knowledge and experience with other members of the
Board.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu
Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Chi Hong William and Mr. Xu Jinghong, was
appointed for a fixed term of three years commencing from 22 November
2022, 31 January 2021 and 1 April 2023 respectively.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings %%@ GRMIRRKE
During the Year, the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and RAFE EFHFEEFTTEZAREKX
general meetings is set out as follows: "%‘ ZHEXRFRAOT

Number of meetings attended/held

tuﬁ/$17 = ui% B

Board  Annual General Special General
Name Meetings*® Meetings* Meetings*®
e EETgR RFRBERE* MERAFRIRE
Executive Directors:
HITES:
Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) 9/9 0/1 11
BN (EFSLERTEAEE)
Chen Wei (Vice President) 9/9 0N on
RR1E (BAEEL)
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BIUERITES !
Hsu Wai Man Helen 9/9 11 11
REH
Wong Chi Hong William 9/9 11 11
=BT
Xu Jinghong 9/9 0N 11
STEE
* The denominator represents the number of Board meetings, annual general  * PEERBEEZE_=F=HA=+— EIJkﬁﬁ

meeting or, as the case may be, special general meetings, held during the tenure BEEZEEEARNBIT2ESE R A
of each Director in the financial year ended 31 March 2023. RBFEAREWN RIERTME) Ey%-‘ﬁﬂ‘ﬂ(“
#HEo

All minutes of Board meetings and general meetings are kept by the FTEEZEZTEEZ KRR AT EHLHH

company secretary and are open for inspection at reasonable time on AT MERF LR AEBEXN E’] & IR
reasonable notice by any Director. Every Director is entitled to have @THREEANEESER FEFTHARR
access to Board papers and related materials and access to the advice HBREZGXH REBER > A EERA G
and services of the company secretary. In addition, the Company MEZEBERRB LIS  REBENER
enables the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent T A ABIBHFESFETETHFRSKE
professional advice in appropriate circumstances. TBEEEE
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director is provided with induction and information
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business as well as his/her responsibilities under the

relevant status, laws, rules and regulations.

The continuous professional development is provided to all Directors at
the Company’s expense to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to assist them in discharging their duties. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, a record of the training attended/received by each of the

Directors, is set out as follows:

EEZHE
AAFEEHTEEREMNRER > U
REABYEREADZEERES U
RERERER AR RARKHET
Z&EEo

ARBEBEENMEESEREFEETXRS
ANERT EHEMB RRE HHRE
BORE UBEREEFAESSFHANE
RABRAZ B R

REAFER KEEZ2HE ZZEIBN
SLERHITRATE ¢

Type of training

Name e R R

Executive Directors: HITESE .

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and TN (EESFERITHAES) A&B
Chief Executive Officer)

Chen Wei (Vice President) R e (S48 %) A&B

Independent Non-executive Directors: B IEHITES ©

Hsu Wai Man Helen REW A&B

Wong Chi Hong William =TE

Xu Jinghong FER A&B

Notes: =

A attending courses/seminars/conferences

B: reading journals/written training materials/updates
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the code provisions
under the CG Code. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible
for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control systems; making recommendations to
the Board in the appointment and removal of the external auditors and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditors;
and reviewing the interim and annual reports and accounts of the
Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee comprised all Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Chi Hong
William and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of
the Audit Committee.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the six months
ended on 30 September 2022 and the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the Audit
Committee is set out as follows:

BZEEY

FAAFRERIEBEZZBEG HLETLEHR
AREXEEARATAZFRIMGXUSEE T
A EBRELEE BEREEETEEEER
BEARBZUBRRAGKRAREER
NBEEZRR, MEZERERIBZH
B EZ BN 2 M & M EH
UkEBzzZBMREIXNREREBZEM
BMEODEFERHEEERZS, KBRERQ
BlzHAREEREMRE -

REFER BZEZEEH2EBEIIIER
TESFEN IGRE8LET BEFELE
RHABBERE HREBRXEIREREZES
EEo

BEZZECEBERLARABE_S -
FAR=ZFTHERNBARREFENKES
MHERT RS ERRRNTSERS
ERAN EHRAKRERRE LEFHT
DWEE -

REFERN BZEZEGNEBHELZES
ZENEFEXRITAOTF

Number of meetings HE BT

of the Audit Committee BREEY

Name attended/held* % gEYE"
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairiadly) 4/4  BEH(FER) 4/4
Wong Chi Hong William 44 =T 4/4
Xu Jinghong 4/4  FTES 4/4
The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Audit ABRERBEE_ZE_=F=B=+—HLL&

Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Audit
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

BFEEEZLZEENIEZEZEGNETH
WATRITERNEE -
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE HMEEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee (the HAATERUFMEZE L (THFHEE
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance &) > W& F FHRREEE BT
with the Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code.  F B UL Z 2 = &I & B 7 6 & o 3 M
The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making ZE @ T EESHAEEZTITRALTESE
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy KS4#HkEIEE B RIEHEER S
for Directors and senior management, and overseeing the remuneraton MU EREEHNTES RS K EERE 2 H il
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management. e

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprises one Executve MRAFERN > HFiMEZETBAE—RHMITE
Director, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng, and three Independent Non-executve SZZTN#BEER="HRBIFATEER
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr Wong Chi Hong Wiliam ESZ T - &EFBERERTEBILE %
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of the =X+t AFMEESERE-
Remuneration Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year MM ZE @R AFEANMETZITIEE
includes reviewing the policy for the remuneration of Executive Directors, 1EHBRMITEE 2 FH M EE T EHITE
assessing the performance of Executive Directors and approving the ZEZRBERBHATEETRBZ SO 2K
terms of Executive Directors’ service contracts. o

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the RAFERN FWZETHEHFEZE S
Remuneration Committee is set out as follows: EZEPNHFERIN AT

Number of meetings

of the Remuneration BT

Committee FNEEE

Name attended/held* #% gEYE

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairladly) 3/3 BREREE 3/3

Li Yi Feng 3/3  Eh#E 3/3

Wong Chi Hong William 3/3 EFE 3/3

Xu Jinghong 3/3 FEE 3/3

* The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Remuneration — * PEBRRBEEZZS=F=A=+—HBItH

Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Remuneration HEEHFNEZEENSFNEZE SN BTN
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2023. APTRITEENEE
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE RHWEEY

The Company has established a Nomination Committee (the “Nomination AA T ERUIRELRZE D (TIBEEE
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing &) > WS FHRAI R ESATE >
Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Nominaton SFEIEXUEBEHAFI EHBEHE 2L
Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and ZEGTEESHEHEST T 2B - BE
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the R 4H AL (B HE 7 8E ~ A 8k R A4S &%) » 3 it #iF
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the ¥ 2 5 @ ~ {F o] & &) (F & # & 22 & LUEC
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying &BARATZEEFB - YEEERETE
individuals suitably qualified to become member of the Board and making F& M E 2B A KB R IETE E W
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated Z EE ARIEGDEESSEHEREEZ 7
for directorships, assessing the independence of Independent non- (HBIIFNITEE 2B W HEE L
Executive Directors, and making recommendations to the Board onthe ZEHMEZETEERESE 2 HETEAES
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for & E H HEE 2 % o

directors.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprises one Executive HAHAEER  BLEEGHEFE—LHITE
Director, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng, and three Independent Non-executve SZZENBEER="HBIUIFANTEEHR
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr Wong Chi Hong Wiliam Z8 &+t - &8FEXERFERKLE - F
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Mr. Li Yi Feng is the Chairman of the Nomination TR BIRLEEFEFE o

Committee.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year 22 EZBEE@NAFEEARNMMETZIIFE
includes reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and  EEREF G 2 2948 iR 1R K 48 o ML K2 5F
assessing the independence of all Independent Non-executive Directors EFFE B IENTESTNEAEERN 2B
during the Year. I o

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the RAFEERN ELZECTHEHFEZETS
Nomination Committee is set out as follows: BENHFEERINTAOT

Number of meetings

of the Nomination BT
Committee RLZEY
Name attended/held* %% BRYE
Li Yi Feng (Chairman) 11 EN#E(FE) 11
Hsu Wai Man Helen 11 #®REH 11
Wong Chi Hong William 11 =ETE 11
Xu Jinghong 11 FER 11
* The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Nomination — * NERRBEEZ_=F=B=+—HILH
Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Nomination BEERL2ZEENSRLZEEREEH
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2023. APTRITEZENHEE -
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REMUNERATION DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest-paid individuals
in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the Company’s auditors are set out as follows:

EFRELBEFHA LN
1%

EFFMEEAEBRZIAESHMAL
WEBOANENGEEMHHRERWEIN
10°

ZHENE &

REFERN BRARTZBEMEH-RZZH
RIFZEBBRFBAEBZMEI RO

Services rendered Fee paid/payable 12 {tERFS et EHER

HK$’000 FET
Audit services 880 IZERTE 880
Non audit services 1838 IEZEARFS 138

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code including:

° develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

° review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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° develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

° review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period and to ensure that the
financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material restatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 108 to 111.

STEPS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY SINCE THE
PUBLICATION OF THE 2022 ANNUAL REPORT TO
ADDRESS THE 2022 DISCLAIMER OPINION AND
THE PROGRESS ACHIEVED

Refer to the 2022 Annual Results, the Company’s auditor issued the
2022 Disclaimer Opinion, which arose as the Group reported net
loss of approximately HK$398,884,000 and had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,955,823,000 as at 31 March 2022. These
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may
cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

As part of the measures to resolve the issues underlying the 2022
Disclaimer Opinion, the Group has successfully completed the disposal of
the Disposal Group. As further detailed in the note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, the disposal of the Disposal Group was completed
on 14 April 2022. Thereafter, the Group would no longer be required to
finance the repayment of the liabilities of the Disposal Group.

e HE-BAAERBAREERES
WIRTEARGREFM WA 5 &

s RBREFXATDETEEEARATIHNE
MREXEEARSTHBIKE-

EFHMBTHRRZEE

EFNTHAEERRAERZ M B
BMBERERRIBERMBERTEERE
MERBRAEGHERN URETESRIR
HRHRTEEER NN ERENNE
RERRENGEEHMBREMEBLE
RBREE-

KABREBMEHGEMBERERZE
FEBHEENEI08EIIIEZBHILZE
B 2R &5 o

TATIBHE S - _FFHRIE
ARR_E - _FARARRERR
KRz S REANMGZER

KT EFEEHE AEEARY
BB S - _FEABXREETHARSE
EEIREIBFEEL398,884,0008 7T
BRZE =B =+—HBERHE
E 3 5491,955,823,0008 L ZE BN
RPEEATHEEN OUEHAEERFE
RERENEEENER

FRABARCE__FAEXERAMMB
BNERZ - AEEERNTREHESE
ErHE -BNEEHBEREWEI0E—
T HEEBEZHEERN T
mMAE+MmARTM - ILE  AEBEBEB
EHEHEERNERREHES -
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On the other hand, the Group has also taken the following steps since the
publication of the 2022 Annual Results but the underlying issues cannot
be resolved due to the following reasons:

1. Acceleration of the pre-sales and sales of the
Group’s property development projects

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated 29 August
2022, as at 31 March 2022, the Group still possessed pre-sale
permits of around 27 block of properties for the Qinhuangdao
Project that can generate approximately HK$66.6 million of
estimated pre-sale proceeds based on average selling price in
2021.

The Group intended to accelerate the pre-sales and sales of the
Group’s property development projects during the year ended 31
March 2023. For example, during the Reporting Period, the Group
focused on the construction of some minor works of Phase 1 of
the Qinhuangdao Project. Specifically, the main structure of outlets
business has completed capping, and many units have completed
construction of the secondary structure and inspection of the main
structure. The exhibition centre has been fully constructed and put
into use for sale of Phase 1 resort units and daily office operation.
Regarding the Yinchuan Project, construction of the main structure
has been completed for two buildings under Phase 2, majority
of which was unsold. During the Reporting Period, only 1 unit of
commercial premises in Phase 1 remained unsold and all units of
residence of Phase 3 in the central area were sold out.

46 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023

FS—FEC BHUE_ZE__FEFEEEL
Ko AREBIFREU TR BEARUT
BER HEEEE LTSI ER

MREEEMERBEB ZTEE
KEHE
HNMAABDHPEA S _-__F£N\A
“tHhAHZASHRM® O RZIEZZ
ZB=+—B Fx&EENEERESE
BHEN2TEYEZEEHF UL B
N _EC—ENFEHEBYELEY
66,600,000 T2 st AEME®R
=)

rEEBRNRBEE_Z _=ZF=ZA8
=t+—BLEFENMREEBRYER
BREERERBE WM NKS
PR RESEEERETEBETN —
HHNENZTETIRE -Hb > BREE
ITREBETHAHE HPhSHETF
M- REBHIE ML TR TR
Bl -BRTHRONIREEREEMT
TR AR BR—HERAEN
HEMBBMA -mIR)IIBEEMS
“HORTESAERIRE HAR
DIHARHE - REFRN > —HBEXEY
FE—ENRLE ZHPPEEEE

EEERE-



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

However, the Group’s plan was negatively impacted by the Am  AEBEBZHETEUTERED
following factors: =R N

a) RBE_Z_=ZF=ZR=+-—

a)  The sentiment of the property market in China had been

bad during the year ended 31 March 2023. According
to the Office for National Statistics of China, the sales of
residential buildings was RMB11.7 trillion for the year ended
31 December 2022, representing a decrease of 28.3% as
compared to 2021.

As a result, for the Yinchuan Project, the Group has during
the financial year ended 31 March 2023 successfully
delivered approximately HK$36.0 million of properties to
its customers (2022: approximately HK$605.8 million) and
received pre-sold proceeds of approximately HK$11.2 million
of properties (2022: approximately HK$6.1 million). For the
Qinhuangdao Project, the Group did not record any pre-sold
proceeds of properties during the financial year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: HK$31.8 million).

Because of the slow progress of pre-sales activities of the
Group, the progress of construction has also been affected
badly, which led to the suspension in the construction of
the Qinhuangdao Project as a result of the lack of monies
received from pre-sales to support further construction.

In addition to the main reasons above, the Group’s sales and
construction activities were also disrupted due to the impact
of COVID-19 which had remained throughout most of the
time for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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Other financing options

On 14 April 2023, () King Future Holdings Limited (the “Seller”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (i) Heilongjiang Fenglin
Investment Company Limited (the “Purchaser”), (i) Qinhuangdao
Arirang Real Estate Development Company Limited (“Qinhuangdao
Arirang”), and (iv) Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company
Limited (“Qinhuangdao Company”) entered into the cooperation
agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser and the Seller
have agreed to cooperate to develop the Qinhuangdao Project
(the “Cooperation Agreement”). Pursuant to the Cooperation
Agreement, among other things, the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to purchase and the Seller has conditionally agreed to sell
the 30% of the equity interests in Qinhuangdao Company (“Sale
Interests”) (the “Proposed Disposal”). As part of the arrangement
under the Cooperation Agreement, the Seller and Qinhuangdao
Arirang have also entered into the equity transfer agreement on
the same day to set out the terms of the Proposed Disposal
(the “Equity Transfer Agreement”). Pursuant to the Cooperation
Agreement, in order to ensure the development progress of the
Qinhuangdao Project, the Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang
will invest RMB300 million in the first installment to resolve issues
that affect the development of the Qinhuangdao Project. The
Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang will also be responsible
for investing the funds required for future development of the
Qinhuangdao Company, repaying all debts, and ensuring the
Qinhuangdao Project is completed, sold, and delivered on time
(the initial project development period is 48 months after the
completion of the registration of the change of the equity transfer).
The Company considers that such cooperation with the Purchaser
and Qinhuangdao Arirang will help the Group to continue the
development of the Qinhuangdao Project and at the same time
restoring the Project Company to a healthier financial position
after repayment of debts and liabilities with the fundings from the
Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang.

However, after several attempts by the Group to pursue the
performance obligations of the Purchaser/Qinhuangdao Arirang
by way of reminder letters and telephone communication, the
Purchaser/Qinhuangdao Arirang still failed to perform the payment
obligation. On 31 May 2023, the Board announced that the
Purchaser and Qinhuangdao Arirang have failed to perform the
payment obligation in accordance with the Cooperation Agreement
and Equity Transfer Agreement. On 31 May 2023, the Seller served
the termination notices to the Purchaser and/or Qinhuangdao
Arirang (as the case maybe) to terminate the Cooperation
Agreement and Equity Transfer Agreement.
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GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION MEASURES

The Group had a net loss for the Year of approximately HK$90,801,000
(after deducting the one off non-cash gain on disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$1,512,618,000) and as at 31 March 2023, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$511,791,000 and
total borrowings, including interest-bearing other borrowings, amount
due to a shareholder and amounts due to related parties, in aggregate
of approximately HK$599,027,000 that will be due in the coming twelve
months from the end of the Reporting Period. As at the same date,
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$35,083,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and, therefore the Group may not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION ISSUED BY THE
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FOR THE YEAR

The independent auditor of the Company has issued a 2023 Disclaimer
Opinion to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year,
details of which are set out in the report from the independent auditor.

Plans to Address the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion

In view of the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion, the Company had carefully
considered the following measures to address the issues underlying the
2023 Disclaimer Opinion:

1. Property development projects
The sentiment of the property market in China has shown sign
of improvement in the first 5 months of year 2023, according to
the Office for National Statistics of China, the sales of residential
buildings was RMB4.5 trillion for the first 5 months of year 2023,
representing an increase of 11.9% as compared to the same period
in 2022.
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The development progress of certain of the Group’s property
development projects had been significantly delayed or suspended
due to the market conditions and liquidity issues faced by the
Group. Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period, the Group
entered into a supplementary agreement with a contractor that the
non-legally binding framework agreement signed in July 2022 still
remains valid and that the contractor agreed not to demand any
repayment from the Group for the construction works it performed
towards the Group’s property development projects until the
value of cumulative certified works reach RMB200,000,000. The
Directors of the Company considered that, such arrangement
together with the improving market sentiment could enable the
Group to continue the property development as scheduled and
to accelerate the pre-sales of properties under development as
potential buyers would know that the Qinhuangdao Project has
resumed.

The Directors, based on information available as of today and their
best knowledge, expect the Group would record a forecasted
operating cash inflows for the year ending 31 March 2024 as
follows:

a. For the Qinhuangdao Project, the Directors expect
approximately RMB54.0 million of pre-sales deposits to be
generated from this project for the year ending 31 March
2024,

b. For the Yinchuan Project, the Directors expect approximately
RMB27.1 million of pre-sales deposits to be generated from
this project for the year ending 31 March 2024.

Continuous financial support from related companies

a. Asat 31 March 2023, the Group had a revolving loan facility
of RMB2,000,000,000 granted by a company controlled by
a controlling shareholder that will expire in December 2023 of
which approximately RMB1,990,940,000 remained unutilised
as at 31 March 2023.
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b.  Subsequent to the Reporting Period, the Group entered
into a new loan agreement regarding a revolving loan facility
agreement with a company controlled by a controlling
shareholder of HK$2,000,000,000 that will start in January
2024 and expire in December 2025.

c. The Directors of the Company considered that the credit
facilities can be utilised in the manner to settle the liabilities of
the Group when and as they fall due.

Expansion of Property Management Business

The Group had made acquisitions of property management
companies subsequent to the end of Reporting Period. The
unaudited revenue of Ningxia Guanling and Wuhan Yuejing for the
year ended 31 December 2022 were approximately RMB8,330,000
and RMB3,573,000 respectively. On 15 June 2023, the Group
acquired 100% equity interests in Hohhot Pengshengijie Property
Management Service Co., Ltd. which is a newly setup company
to target the property management market in the Inner Mongolia
province, China.

Property management business is one of the key businesses of the
Group, the expansion of the property management business will
help to bring in more stable income to the Group in the future.

Other financing options

Further to the termination of the Cooperation Agreement, the
Group will continue to identify and negotiate with various financial
institutions and identifying various options for financing the Group’s
working capital and commitments in the foreseeable future, such as
new investors and business partners.

Possible disposal of non-core businesses and assets

In addition, the Directors of the Company will also consider, if
necessary, to dispose of certain of its property development
projects and/or to seek other investors/property developers to
accelerate the development of the Group’s property projects in
order to source additional funds to the Group.

Cost control
The Group will continue to take appropriate measures to control
administrative costs.
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Removal of the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion

The Directors of the Company believe that, after taking into account the
above plans and measures, as well as the forecasted operating cash
flows for the year ending 31 March 2024, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to satisfy its present requirements for the year ending 31
March 2024.

The Directors believe that the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion would be removed
for the year ending 31 March 2024 after taking into account the Group’s
action plan above.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property sector in
Mainland China and the uncertainties to obtain continuous support from
the banks, the related companies and the Group’s contractors/creditors,
the Directors of the Company consider that material uncertainties exist as
to whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, the Group may be unable to operate as a going concern, in
which case adjustments might have to be made to the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to state them at their realisable values, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify its non-current
assets and non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities,
respectively.

Based on preliminary discussion with the Company’s auditor, the auditor
are of the view that:

° The 2023 Disclaimer Opinion would be removed in the next
year’s auditor’s report if the proposed measures above have been
successfully implemented after taking into account the latest
progress of these measures. These measures would mitigate the
Group’s liquidity pressure and improve its financial position which
would result in the generation of sufficient cash flow to discharge
the Group’s liabilities falling due in the next 12 month. However,
as disclosed in the 2023 Annual Report, the outcome of these
measures are subject to multiple uncertainties.

° In next financial year, the Auditor will exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing in order to
conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The conclusions would be based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report.
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Audit Committee’s View Towards The 2023
Disclaimer Opinion

As disclosed on page 29 of the 2023 annual results announcement of
the Company dated 30 June 2023, the Audit Committee had reviewed
the Group’s consolidated financial results for the year ended 31 March
2023 with the Group’s management, including the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control, and financial reporting matters, in
conjunction with the Auditor.

During the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 30 June 2023, all
members of the Audit Committee had thoroughly reviewed the Auditor’s
qualification and the Group’s financial position, and agreed with the
management’s position that the Company was able to carry on as a
going concern despite the Auditor’s qualification, based on the reasons
as mentioned under the “Plans to Address the 2023 Disclaimer Opinion”
above.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Philosophy of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board considers that sound risk management and internal control
systems can improve the operational effectiveness and efficiency of the
Group and help safeguard the assets of the Group and the investments
of the Shareholders.

Risk Management and Internal Responsibility

The Board is well aware of its responsibility to maintain high standards
of risk management and internal control systems and to review the
effectiveness of such systems during the process of implementation.
The systems are intended to provide a reasonable but not absolute
assurance regarding operational effectiveness and efficiency, reliability of
financial reports and compliance with laws and regulations, with the aim
of managing rather than eliminating risks associated with failure to meet
business objectives.

The Board is fully responsible for assessing and determining the nature
and extent of the risks to which the Company is wiling to assume
in achieving its strategic objectives and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Structures of
the Group

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management,
establishing risk assessment criteria, and supervising the design,
implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems. Under the authority of the Board, the Audit Committee may
seek external legal, financial or other independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company if necessary (subject to prior discussion with
the Board on the relevant expenses).

The Company has developed and adopted a number of risk management
procedures and guidelines with well-defined terms of reference, which are
implemented through its major business procedures and office functions,
including administration and management, human resources, material
procurement, contract execution, project establishment, tendering and
bidding, project management, sales and leasing, financial reporting and
information technology.

The Company set up its internal audit function in 2014. Established
under the Audit Committee and being independent from other functional
departments, the audit department assists the Board in performing its
regulatory role in the internal control and risk management functions
of the Group, reviewing and assessing the overall effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems. The audit department has
been equipped with professional auditors for conducting internal audits
in accordance with the annual work plan, including regular or ad hoc
internal audits and special audits, as well as audits and assessment on
the operation and management, financial position and enforcement of
internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Major Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Company has set up risk management and internal control
systems to ensure that internal rules and systems are strictly enforced;
recruitment, remuneration and assessment systems are fair, impartial and
transparent; the Company operates in compliance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations; construction projects are carried out in conformity
to the relevant systems of the Company regarding project establishment,
tender awards, contract execution, procurement, construction,
acceptance inspection and settlement, etc.; shop management systems
for commercial projects are stringent with no loopholes; assets are not
misappropriated and embezzled; accounting records for providing reliable
financial information for business purposes or public use are properly
kept; access to and use of internal information without proper authority
are strictly prohibited; and reasonable assurance is provided against
major misrepresentations, losses or fraudulent activities.
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To safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Shareholders, the
Company handles and publishes inside information in accordance with
its inside information disclosure system to ensure that such information is
kept highly confidential prior to disclosure and issued in an effective and
consistent manner. The Board shall immediately convene a meeting to
discuss the relevant matter and, if necessary, seek advice from external
independent professional institutions.

Under the supervision of the Board, the internal audit department of the
Company had conducted an annual review on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2023. The scope of the review has been formulated and approved by
the Audit Committee, covering business operations, financial reporting,
and compliance with regulations and systems. Results of the review
and the areas for improvement have been reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee, with emphasis on staff performance appraisal,
standardization and execution of systems, enhancement of tendering
and bidding processes, financial budget management, project budget
management, as well as project and marketing contract management.
Besides, the Board had also conducted a review during the Year of the
effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance, as part of its review of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Procedures for Identifying, Assessing and Managing
Significant Risks

An introduction to the procedures used by the Company for identifying,
assessing and managing significant risks is given below:

Risk Identification and Assessment

° The internal audit department conducts regular annual audits or ad
hoc special audits to perform systematic analysis on the processes,
systems and significant events of the Company to identify possible
risks in the business process. The legal department performs
professional analysis on the proposed terms of contracts to identify
terms that may place the Company in a disadvantageous position,
with the aim of avoiding any potential risks.

° The identified risks are assessed based on the assessment
criteria set up by the management to determine the risk response
approach.
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Risk Response

° The risk management strategies and internal control procedures are
determined based on the category of the risks identified. For major
risks, the internal audit department shall prepare a summary and
report directly to the Audit Committee, and put forward solutions for
resolving the risks for the consideration of the Board.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° The relevant risks are continuously and regularly monitored to
ensure that they are under control through appropriate internal
control procedures. If any significant changes arise, the risk
management policies and internal control procedures will be
amended, and the results of risk monitoring will be reported semi-
annually to the management and the Audit Committee of the
Board.

Effectiveness of Control

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the management has reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems based on the above internal
audit report. The Audit Committee is of the view that there are no
significant deficiencies in internal control. The Group will follow up all the
recommendations of the internal audit department as appropriate and
ensure that they are implemented in due course. As a result, the Board
considers that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group has set up a whistleblowing policy for the employees and
those who deal with the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group
in confidence and anonymity. Any suspected cases will be reported to the
Audit Committee.

In addition, the Group is committed to abiding by all laws and regulations
to prevent corruption and bribery in all business dealing. The Group’s
anti-corruption policy provides information and guidance to employees of
the Group and related third parties who deal with the Group on how to
recognize and deal with bribery and corruption and to handle corporate
donation and sponsorship activities of the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. During the Year, the Company Secretary has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, in order to allow for ease of communication for the
Company, Shareholders and the Board; reflect certain amendments to
the Listing Rules, the Company adopted new bye-laws of the Company
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 9 September
2022, to replace the existing bye-laws of the Company.

Save for mentioned above, there were no other changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company. The new bye-laws of the
Company has been published on the websites of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company on 9
September 2022.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community through its mandatory interim and annual reports
announcements.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential to enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategy.

The general meeting of the Company, including annual general meeting
and, where applicable, special general meeting, provides a useful forum
for the Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairlady/chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are pleased to
answer the enquires raised by the Shareholders. The auditor will also
attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence.
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The Company’s website (www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com) acts as a
communication platform with Shareholders and stakeholders. The
information and the latest developments of the Company’s business
development and operations and all the announcements and circulars are
available on this website for public inspection.

Having considered the various existing channels of communication and
participation, the Board considers that the shareholders’ communication
policy has been properly implemented and effective during the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted its dividend policy which sets out the
principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between maintaining sufficient capital to grow the business of the Group

and rewarding the shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall also take into account of the following factors, among
other things, when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

° the Group’s overall results of operation, financial position, capital
requirement, cash flows and future prospects;

° the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio;
° return on equity;
° the Group’s capacity from current and future operation;

° future commitments at the time of preparing and making the
distribution;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and

° other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to
any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Bermuda, the Listing
Rules, the laws of Hong Kong and the Company’s Bye-laws and any
other applicable laws and regulations.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Way in Which Shareholders of the Company
Can Convene a Special General Meeting of the
Shareholders (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and Bermuda laws, the Directors
shall, on the requisition of Shareholder(s) who, at the date of the deposit
of the requisition, holds not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, proceed duly to convene an SGM of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the SGM and must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit 1504, 15/F, Tower 2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

The request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”). Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the SGM.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene an SGM themselves, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the aforesaid
date of the deposit of requisition.

The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of
the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1504,
15/F, Tower 2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong. The Company will endeavour to respond to
requisitionists’ enquires in a timely manner.
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The Procedures for Making Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at the AGM/SGM
which is to be held, such Shareholder should submit a written notice of
the proposal with his/her detailed contact information to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit 1504, 15/F, Tower 2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong. The request of intention to
propose a resolution will be verified by the Branch Share Registrar. Upon
confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the Company Secretary will
present to the Board for their approval on the inclusion of the proposed
resolution in the AGM/SGM.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at the AGM/SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, which is as follows:

° At least 14 clear days’ notice (excludes the date of the notice and
the date of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (excludes the date of the notice
and the date of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes
a special resolution of the Company in the SGM or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in the AGM.

The Procedures that Shareholders Can Use to
Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Other than a retiring director, any person who is not recommended by
the Board shall not be eligible to be elected as a director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
willingness to be elected (including that person’s biographical details as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) have been lodged to the
Company Secretary at the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 1504, 15/F, Tower 2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong at least 7 days before the date
of the general meeting. As required by the provisions of the Company’s
Bye-Laws, the period for lodging notices will commence no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting. If the notice is received less than 10 clear business
days prior to the date of such general meeting, the Company will need
to consider adjourning such general meeting in order to allow the
Shareholders to have 14 days’ notice (the notice period must include 10
clear business days) of the proposal.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

The Group’s main business is outlets commercial operation and
development and operation of featured commercial properties (such as
tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus), development
of high-end residential properties as well as property management.
Our development positioning mingles both residential property and
commercial property, undergoing active transformation by promoting
innovative modern complexes with agility.

The Group’s corporate mission is to be an “advocate and creator of
green and healthy quality life”. Therefore, we have integrated sustainability
visions into our operational strategies, to exhibit innovative thinking, focus
on long-term overall interests, build a vibrant community and practice
green construction. At the same time, we ensure that our construction
and operation strictly comply with national regulatory requirements.

Qinhuangdao Project

The Qinhuangdao Venice — City of Water Outlets Project (the
“Qinhuangdao Project”) is located in Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao,
Hebei Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). With outlet
business as the core, it is a large-scale coastal shopping tourism and
healthcare resort complex consisting of high-end hot spring resorts
and high-end hospitals, integrating health and elderly care, cultural and
entertainment activities, and recreational resorts. The project is planned to
be developed in three phases. Among them, the first phase of the project
includes outlet businesses, healthcare hotels, resorts and exhibition
centers, together with parking lots and green landscapes.

BN AR E
FEBNIEXFARERFIHEZE
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REBRBPIRATFELERES ¥E
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Yinchuan Project

The Yinchuan Project is located in Yinchuan City. It is a residential
and commercial complex, including the residential project Jin Sheng
Yue Jing and the construction area for residential and commercial
use which is under construction. The surrounding of the residential
area has multiple resources such as banks, medical care, education,
supermarkets, entertainment and catering, and its own home furnishing
materials commercial facilities. Residents can enjoy their daily lives with
convenience. On the other hand, the commercial project consists of three
commercial complexes connected with two corridors.

RIITEE

RINBEURBRIIT REETRBEES
B EAEEERETRRASRRETEED
FTEEEXREERERM -EFEHINEE
BRERT BR -5 BB BREERS
ZRERMBENRERMBEREE R
RAUEZEZEANEZ -MBXEEHRDA B
—EAEERCREEMEERAER-
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SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE

Within the sustainable development governance structure of the
Group, the Board of Directors is the highest decision-making authority
for environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues, responsible
for the daily operation and risk management to facilitate sustainable
development, and safeguard the interests of stakeholders.

We have a top-down ESG management structure, and organized the
Sustainability Working Group which consists of management from each
major project:

ARFEERER

EAEENTFBEEREARBET EF
ERBE-HERER (TESG)) FBH
RERRD EEHEEERAREREN
REXFHNOIFEER REFHENR

>S5 o

I

HPIEER LM FESGEARE » I 48
BTHRETEEENEEAEHARD
S EERE I E/N4E

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
-

° Hold meetings from time to time to identify and analyze the potential

ESG risks and opportunities the Group faces

TEMBHAEE BRI FEREHNETESGAR RKB

° Formulate ESG-related policies
1 ' ESGHH Bf B 5

o Monitor ESG-related performance and incorporate ESG issues into

development and governance strategies

ERAMESCGHBEMKRERE RIBESGEEMAZR K E R H &

SUSTAINABILITY WORKING GROUP

AIRHEERI(F/)VE

° Review and manage the Company’s performance in ESG areas, such

as carbon emissions, employee training, and

social investment

WA ABEESGHENBEMNKRE  NHKIKE - ETHI -HERESF

° Coordinate the preparation work of Env
Governance Reports
RERE HERERARGHNAERITE

ironmental, Social, and

EMPLOYEES OF DIFFERENT DEPARTMENTS AND POSITIONS
AREBFI ~ AR S T

o Implement corresponding measures according to the instructions of

superior management and report the results

and risks

RELREEENESHITHEREK TERERNR AR

The Board of Directors also reviews the ESG Report in accordance with
the relevant strategies established and is responsible for the truthfulness,
accuracy, and completeness of the report content. The Group has also
engaged Riskory Consultancy Limited as an independent consultant to
provide ESG and sustainability-related advisory services.

EXFeNERBETIINEEREER
ESGHRE THHFEEANETNEE M EME
MHHNEEEEE AEEEZERIskory
Consultancy LimitedZ @I FERT > 21
ESGRAFEZRHANBHARS -
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Reporting Purpose

The Company is pleased to release the seventh Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (the “Report”), to disclose to stakeholders the
Company’s performance with regard to sustainable development. The
preparation of the Report is based on the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) contained
in the Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
and complies with its mandatory disclosure and “comply or explain”
requirements. For details of corporate governance, please refer to the
“Corporate Governance Report” section of the Annual Report 2023.

Reporting Principles
In the preparation of the Report, the Company complies with and applies
the reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide:

° Materiality: The Company has set up constant communication
channels to understand the views of various stakeholders on our
sustainability strategies. We also conducted an internal materiality
assessment during the Reporting Period to identify important ESG
issues and highlight the concerns in this Report.

. Quantitative: The Company calculates the key performance
indicators in accordance with the Appendix 2 and 3 of “How to
Prepare an ESG Report” published by the Stock Exchange and
discloses them in a quantitative manner (if applicable). They wil
construct the basis for setting the Company’s future objectives.

° Consistency: The Company uses statistical methods and reporting
scope consistent with previous years, so that ESG data can be
meaningfully compared in the future. If there is any change in the
methodologies and the scope, we would explain them in the notes
for stakeholders’ reference.
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Reporting Boundary and Period

Considering the financial importance and operational influence, the
Report mainly covers the overall ESG performance of the businesses of
the following two major projects' between 1 April 2022 and 31 March
2023 (the “Reporting Period”):

° The Qinhuangdao Project located in the core area of the
International Health City in Beidaihe New Area, Qinhuangdao, Hebei
Province, the PRC; and

° The Yinchuan Project located in Yinchuan City, Ningxia Hui
Autonomous Region, the PRC.

The Report will be published in both Chinese and English versions
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
(http://hk.richlyfieldchinagroup.com/). In the event of any discrepancy
between the Chinese and English versions, the Chinese version shall
prevail.

E Compared to the last financial year, as disposal of the Changsha Project located
in Hunan Province, the PRC was completed in April 2022 (details please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 14 April 2023), the Report does not cover
the Changsha Project. The construction of our real estate development business
is the responsibility of the contractor, and thus the data on emissions and use of
resources are not included in our key performance indicators.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group emphasizes communication with stakeholders and
maintaining good relationships. Therefore we are committed to interacting
with them through various communication channels and platforms,
collecting their opinions on our sustainability strategies, daily operational
systems and policies, and giving stakeholders an understanding of
our visions. The Group’s regular communication channels with various
stakeholders are shown below:

Categories of
Stakeholders
i &EER

Communication Channels

BEAN

FHESH

FEBEREARNERBEBILERTR
FREFR AERMARNZEBTIRANBEER
BRTAEEHETRR WEEEHMH
AREERRE HEEEGFERASHH
ER AREBEFOEBTHRAEAMNES U
THEINAERESFNENEREBER

&=

Stakeholders’ Concerns

ROEMEIEE

Government

BT

The Public

HEAR

Shareholders and
Investors

REKRKEE
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o On-site inspection and surveying

° Working conference, research and
discussion

o Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

° Company’s website

o  RIGHmE-RE

o TITREEMARKETH

e  FER -PFHRERASE

e AEMLL

o Voluntary work
o Philanthropy and social investment

e EHITTF
s EENdERE

° Annual General Meetings and other
general meetings of shareholders

° Information published on the HKEXnews
website, such as annual reports, interim
reports and announcements

o Meeting with investors and analysts

. Company’s website

s KREAFAGRHMRKRERE

s BARGARKEZWEILEMEL
MER PHRERAE

e HEREBEERDNEEHE

LIV ST B

Annual Report 2023

° Law compliance

° Payment of taxes as required by law

° Promotion of regional economic
development and employment

° Environmental protection

° Use of resources

o  EIEE

o KIEMIR

s HWEFEREKKERKIME

o IRIB(RE

e  EHRMEA

° Community engagement
° Social responsibility

° Promoting employment
s HMEZRH

e HMEEME

o {BEME

° Return on investment

° Information disclosure and transparency

Shareholder interests and fair treatment

protection

° Risk management and control in business
operation

=Bl
BENRENERE
o RERA@mMAFFHFBRERRE

s RERBRERE
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Categories of
Stakeholders

&R

Communication Channels

BEBR

Stakeholders’ Concerns

ROEMEEE

Employees

Clients

xR

o Meetings

° Training and seminars

o Cultural and sports activities
o Internal network and email

° Performance evaluation

. wE
. EHIRFEE

. XLRESED
. ABERRES
. @A

° Marketing and promotional materials

° Company’s website

o Annual Reports, interim reports and
announcements

° Email and Customer Service Hotline

° Feedback form

o Regular meetings

e TWGZHE -EEER

. NE L

e  FHR -PFHREKRASE

o  EBWMRERIRBIE

o EREIEX

s TEHER

=]

Protecting the rights and interests of
employees

Occupational health and safety
Working environment

Career development opportunities
Self-actualization
IREE B RV KA 3
HERREZS

TEIRIR

BEEREE

BHREIR

Safe and high-quality products and
services

Stable relationships

Information transparency

Integrity

Business ethics

L2 BEEMKRRS
TR E B A
ERERE

EAE

BEER
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Categories of
Stakeholders

iR EER

Communication Channels

BEBR

Stakeholders’ Concerns

BROEMERE

Suppliers and Business
Partners

HERREHBH

Industry Associations

° Meetings, telephone calls, face-to-face
visits

o Regular meetings

o Review and assessment

° Emails, circulars and brochures

o Company website

L4 ZE BE EH

° T u?k

o 5 Re 54

o EE TR ~ 48 bR e T+

o RE)HFUL

o Industry conferences
° Field visits

. AxEH

o BIES

o Disclosure of information
o Disclosure on website

s  HMKE
o REMBMEN

° Long-term partnerships
° Honest cooperation

° Fairness and openness
° Shared resources

° Risk reduction

o  REIGEEHE

L HESE
. AT AH
L/ ﬁ/}_/\¥
o [RERE

° Experience sharing
° Cooperation

° Fair competition

e GfF

e REHmF

° Law and regulations compliance
° Environmental protection

° Use of resources

. L?ii—ﬁiii%ﬁ

o RIGIREE

s  EREA

STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK FiEERKE

The participation of stakeholders is meaningful to the Company’'s FMENZEHANTIN I FELRE R
sustainable development, we wish to collect their valuable opinions to E & E > HMHEERENBNEEESE R >
continue the enhancement of our operational strategies. If you have any # @& E=EE Hit-0 BT H $ $E =
queries or comments about the Report, please get in touch withusvia HFHEEFREA X ER > ML E B T I
email info@richlyfield.com. info@richlyfield.com £ 3 {5 B 4% o
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Company has conducted an internal
materiality analysis to identify ESG issues that have a material impact on
the Company and those which stakeholders concern about, in response
to their expectations and opinions. We confirm the priority of material
issues based on the assessment results, which acts as an important
reference for the formulation of our sustainable development governance
strategies and the disclosure in ESG reports to ensure that the Report
can reflect our ESG performance accurately and objectively.

Our materiality assessment was conducted with the assistance from our
third-party professional consultant, the procedures are as follows:

EEMEFE

FREHE ARFAEETABERET
G RN EARTDEERTERIRFNE
PREAEMESGHEE > UBIEE N ENIHE
RER - ZATREFGERBIEEN
BB FRFEZEREE QRS
EMESCGHRERBINEEZZ BEEAR
SREERATHM RRKMAESGERIER -

RANEEETEEE=Z A EXERBH
WEB N ET HRBWT ¢

Identify material issues & Bl & B4 5% 2

The Company integrated the following concerns, to review and assess whether the results from

the materiality assessment last year are still applicable:
o Expectations of stakeholders;
o Operation condition of businesses;

° The material ESG issues of the industry from the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board

(SASB);
° The ESG Industry Materiality Map from Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI);
o Industry development trends; and
o Instructions from regulatory authorities.

FARBEEUTER  UEBTEEREFNEEZETENERESKABEA :

s HRHENHE,

o  EBEERR

s HEEEEGFTERNZEEOCASBREKNITHEEARESGERE ;
o  FARAB(MSCINESGITEEE L ME ;

s TEEEREBFE K

o EEWBRESI

Revise and add material issues {85] R4 EE M4 %R

The Board of Directors and the management of the Company revised and added to the list of
material issues from last year, after referring to the abovementioned considerations, and revised

the priority according to the circumstances.

AATNEFEREEBES S LRRENERBRER RAFNESERBIRETETRYE LRERS

BHBRF-

Respond to the results of the materiality assessment [0]fE & E 14 5T (H V45 R

The Company confirmed the sustainable development governance strategies and the focus of
disclosure in the Report based on the materiality priority in the Reporting Period.
KABRBRESHAENEELBIFEI I HEEREAREURARENSIRES
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Assessment Results FF(h4E

The Group has identified material issues listed below after considering ZAEBEZE B F# S BESGHEH AR

and balancing the importance of each ESG issue to the Company and Bl &&FMHEMNEE

stakeholders: EHAEEIUWT -

Serial
Number Issue

FF 5% % w8

Environmental protection and green operation

RIZFRENGEEE

1 Energy management
FEREIE

2 Air pollutant and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission management

ERSEMIREREHINER

3 Sewage discharge and waste management
BEKHE U BEY & 18

4 Water resources management
KEREE

) Other resources management (including paper)
Ht&EREIE (BIEAR)

6 Risks and opportunities related to climate change
Bl R 2B AERE 2 B e & i s

7 Other impact of business activities on the environment

HMER S HIRIREMNTE

Operating practice

BEER

8 Supplier selection and assessment
HEm P ERTE

9 Anti-corruption policy and training
R &5 E RE

10 Compliance
BREE

11 Supply chain environmental and social risks management
HEERIRIE Rt B R EEIE

Product and service responsibility

EmARBEE

12 Service quality (the quality of real estate brokerage service and property furnishing)
IRFFE R MELLCIRTEREEEER)

13 Customer data privacy and information security
EREMLERAEZS

14 Intellectual property protection
M EERE

15 Complaint and advertisement management
BifkEEER

70 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023

MR HINEEN

Materiality Level

EEM%

Most important
FREBEE
Relatively important

REE

Important

52

Most important
FREE

Relatively important

Most important
FREE

Relatively important
REZ

Important

B2
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Serial
Number

5%

Issue

i B
o =

Quality of working environment

IFRIREER

16

17

18

19

20

21

Employment arrangements (including: recruitment, promotion, and dismissal
procedures)

BEZH (B B8 -BAKBRERER)

Employee compensation (including: salary, working hours, holidays and benefits)
ETRFS (81 #Ml - TIER2- REKRER)

Occupational health and safety

BT EREER

Training and development

Eoll R

Prevention of child and forced labour

B LE 8 T R 58 25

Diversity and equal opportunities, and prevention of discrimination and harassment
L b R FEERE B IR K SRR

Community contribution

HERR
22

23

24

Participation in volunteering activities
2HETEE

Social inclusion activities

& HREE)

Charitable donation

EE1RE

Materiality Level

BEEMN

Relatively important

REE

Important
BE

Relatively important
BREZ
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group’s operation emphasizes business ethics. Corruption and fraud
not only weaken our competitiveness and reputation in the industry,
but also cause damage to the interests of stakeholders. Therefore we
proactively promote the construction of integrity and adopt a zero-
tolerance attitude to any unethical behaviour such as bribery, extortion,
fraud, and money laundering.

We strictly comply with laws and regulations relating to corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering, including but not limited
to the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”.
During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or our
employees, or any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Business Ethics

To maintain the highest standards of integrity in the course of our
business, we have implemented the following measures:

° Require all employees to sign a letter of responsibility for integrity
goals; and

° Specify in our contract that suppliers must comply with the relevant
terms of integrity, including strictly prohibiting bribery, offering
rebates and valuables to our employees, to manage and regulate
the ethical conduct of our suppliers.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group has set up a whistleblowing system, employees can report
suspected or actual misconduct verbally or in written form. For the
purpose of protecting the privacy and safety of the whistleblower,
we keep all reported incidents confidential. Except required by legal
obligations, we will not disclose the identity and other information of the
whistleblower without consent. When an internal investigation confirms
that there is a suspected violation of the law, we will notify the relevant law
enforcement departments for strict handling.

Anti-corruption Trainings

To ensure that employees understand and comply with the Group’s
ethical standards and build an internal culture of integrity in the Company;,
we provided information and training to the Board of Directors, senior
management and Company Secretaries on the Listing Rules and
Corporate Governance, as to continuously enhance the Group’s
corporate governance system and eliminate corruption.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has always adhered to the spirit of “heart for heart” in our
management and provision of products and services, to maintain the
high quality of property products and services. We strictly comply with
laws and regulations in relation to product health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters, including but not limited to:

o “Regulatory Measures on the Sale of Commercial Houses”;

° “Regulation on Administration of Development and Operation of
Urban Real Estate”;

° “The Measures for the Management of Advance Sale of Urban
Commercial Houses”;

o “Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China”;

° “Urban Real Estate Administration Law of the People’s Republic of
China”; and
o “Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any non-
compliance issue relevant to product responsibility. Due to the business
nature of the Group, we are not involved in any material issue of
intellectual property.

Product Quality

We have the “Engineering Management Policy” to standardize the
management of the engineering department and ensure that the
construction process of the project is monitored. In addition, external
supervision companies are engaged to supervise and inspect each
project to ensure that the construction of the project is legally compliant,
and that the project is carried out in a safe manner and completed
according to the planned time period. We will also review the supervision
report for verification. As the Group is not involved in manufacturing
business, the recall of product due to safety or health reason is not
involved.
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In terms of the quality verification process of products and services, the
Group has been committed to excellence from the following five aspects:

Design %3
Listen to customer opinions in

the user’s perspective

WEARAEERERER

Pre-sale TE&
Collect customer feedback and
implement maintenance plan
EFROBERRREREE

)

After-sales &€&
Pass the quality examinations

£

—

completed by professionals

HEAERBRBEBRERA

Customer Feedback

The Group believes that customer opinions is the source of improvement,
so we have set up different channels to collect customer feedback,
including complaints, to enhance product and service quality. We have
opened customer complaint service hotline, complaint collection box and
service desk. When a complaint is received, we will handle it properly in
accordance with the standard procedure. During the Reporting Period,
we did not receive any complaints relevant to products and services.

At the same time, for the purpose of building long-term and good
cooperative relationships with customers, we conduct regular visits
to communicate directly with customers, understand their practical
need, and incorporate their opinions into building quality control and
management procedures.
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Advertising and Promotion

All publication of advertising materials need to be approved internally to
ensure their authenticity and prevent the dissemination of misleading and
false information to the public.

Privacy Protection

The Group understands its responsibility to protect customers’ personal
information, and is committed to sparing no effort in the protection
of customers’ privacy in the course of business. All of our employees
are required to sign the confidentiality agreement to ensure that they
understand their responsibility to safeguard customer information and
confidentiality obligations. Furthermore, we have established access
rights for sensitive information, customer information can only be
accessed by authorized personnel and used for business activities
in relation to that customer. In the event of the authorized employee
disclosing customer information improperly, it will be considered as
stealing confidential company information and will be handed over to law
enforcement authorities for serious dealing.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Stability in supply chain management is key to the Group’s provision of
quality products and services, the procurement work is also an integral
part of the corporate management process. We adopt a serious attitude
and adhere to the principle of fairness and openness when conducting
the selection of suppliers and construction materials.

We have formulated the “Tendering and Procurement Management
Policy” to standardize the procurement procedures, such as project
tendering and procurement application procedure, tendering and
procurement work specifications, tender document submission
management etc. and conduct tendering work according to the
procedures. To ensure that suppliers reach the standard of the Group
in the aspects of health and safety, human resources, environmental
protection and business ethics, we confirm that suppliers have complied
with relevant laws, regulations and contractual responsibilities before
reaching cooperative agreements with them.

We conduct review or on-site assessment for suppliers to ensure that
potential suppliers fulfill relevant requirements and criteria. We include
qualified suppliers in the “Qualified Supplier List” and establish the
procurement contract, and conduct regular supplier assessment and
entrust a third-party supervisory organization to monitor the construction
safety of projects and perform on-site random inspection to ensure
product quality.
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We stipulate that the selection of suitable suppliers must be from the
“Qualified Supplier List” and that regular monitoring and review should
be conducted and suggestions for improvement should be given to
suppliers whose performance is substandard. If they cannot meet the
relevant requirements after inspection review, we will remove them from
the “Qualified Supplier List”.

In addition to engaging a supervisory organization to identify the
environmental and social risks in the selection process, we also provide
appropriate instructions and regular training to working staff, and strictly
stipulate that only qualified, trained, skilled and experienced working staff
can work in the construction site, to ensure that the contractors and other
suppliers understand their duty and responsibility, build communities in
an environmentally friendly, harmless and safe manner and control the
impact on the environment in the construction process.

Besides product and service quality, green procurement is also critical.
The Group prioritizes the procurement of green and energy efficient
products where feasible and economically effective, to reduce the carbon
emission and resource consumption in the supply chain, and lower the
negative impact of pollution on the health of community.

During our selection of suppliers, we source from suppliers located in the
project city if possible to reduce carbon emission from transportation, and
at the same time increase the local employment rate. Promote economic
growth and give back to the community.

During the Reporting Period, we have 38 suppliers from the PRC, and all
suppliers have been implemented relevant practices of business ethics
management.

EMPLOYMENT COMPLIANCE

Talent is the basis of our provision of quality products and services and
the critical element for the Group to maintain competitiveness. Our
sustainable development is also attributed to the effort of employees.
Therefore, the Group emphasizes compliance in the area of employment
and is committed to providing a fair and inclusive working environment to
employees. The Group strictly complies with the applicable national laws
and regulations, including but not limited to:

o “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”;

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases”;
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o “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”;
o “Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China”;
° “Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”; and

o “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Women'’s Rights and Interests”.

We have compiled a number of talent management policies, including
“Human Resources Management Policy”, “Employee Handbook”,
“Attendance Management Policy” and “Leave Management Policy”,
to ensure that we meet the requirements of laws and regulations and
protect rights of employees in the aspects of employee recruitment,
salary, working hours, welfare and benefits, promotion, employee training
and performance appraisal. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not involved in any non-compliance issue in relation to employment.

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

The Group strictly complies with “Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour” and has developed policies to strongly prohibit the
employment of child labour and forced labour. Our “Employee Handbook”
stipulates the steps of recruitment procedure, it is required to check the
identification documents before hiring new employees, to ensure that
their age meets the minimum requirements of the law. We recommend
that employees should not work more than 40 hours per week. In the
event where they need to work overtime due to the progress of work,
we will also arrange compensatory leave as soon as possible after their
overtime work. At the same time, we also require suppliers not to employ
any child or forced labour. We will seriously follow up on the issues if any
non-compliance is found internally or within our suppliers. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any non-compliance
issue in relation to child labour or forced labour.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

We have “Anti-Discrimination Practices”, which requires that all job
applicants, regardless of their age, gender, physical condition, marital
status, family position, race, colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation
and sexual orientation, should enjoy equal employment opportunities
during recruitment. Furthermore, we made reference to the requirements
of “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Women’s
Rights and Interests”, to ensure that female employees enjoy the right
to basic salary and have equal opportunities to promotion as male
employees, and they will not be dismissed or terminated employment
contract unreasonably due to reasons such as pregnancy, maternity leave
or breastfeeding.
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Grievance Mechanism

The Group is committed to providing a fair and equal grievance
mechanism to employees, to enable them to express their needs,
concerns and suggestions, facilitate the improvement of the Group
together with employees, and strengthen our close relationship and
cohesion with employees. Employees can report their needs to the
department in writing, through labour union organizations, or to the senior
management directly.

REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

Talent management and retention are one of the keys to corporate
success. The Group offers competitive remuneration and is committed
to offering attractive benefits to employees. The remuneration of the
Group is based on the “Post Remuneration Standard Table” of each
project, industry norm and socio-economic situation. In terms of welfare
and benefits, we provide employees with “five social insurances and one
fund” (including pension, medical insurance, unemployment insurance,
maternity insurance, work injury insurance, and housing provident
fund), Mandatory Provident Fund, labour insurance, and statutory
holidays in accordance with the law. We also provide various holidays,
compensations, and additional benefits, including:

° Leaves such as marriage leave, bereavement leave, maternity leave,
work injury leave, annual leave and paternity leave;

° Subsidies such as working lunches and transportation and
communication subsidies;

° Additional benefits such as staff canteen and health check-ups; and

° A welfare policy for birthday benefits, holiday gifts, and condolence
payments.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

The physical and mental health of employees is one of the Group’s
concerns. We encourage employees to have balanced meals and do
more exercise though various facilities and activities. Our staff canteens
provide nutritionally balanced meals, and their menus consist of nutritious
meals designed by specialists with both meat and vegetables, to ensure
employees eat healthily. At the same time, we also care for the physical
and mental conditions of employees proactively, encourage them to
participate in more outdoor activities, do more exercise and relieve
stress properly. During the Reporting Period, we organized various
employee activities, including speech competition and themed days of
the Communist Party (“F#BE H") etc., hoping employees can balance
between work and life, relieve stress from work, and promote mutual
understanding, enhance the sense of belonging to the Company and
increase corporate cohesion.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group spares no effort in providing comprehensive occupational
health and safety protection, and is committed to building a healthy and
safe working environment with employees, by the proper management of
each part of operation of business, and providing relevant occupational
safety training, and to actively approach sustainable development. We
strictly comply with laws and regulations in relation to occupational health
and safety, including but not limited to:

o “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”;

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases”; and

o “Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

We have formulated the “Safe and Civilized Construction Management
Policy” to manage the safety of engineering projects. The policy stipulates
that engineering staff must wear safety equipment and employees need
to obtain relevant certificates to work at height, etc. We also implement
other relevant security controls, some of which include:
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Keep all emergency exits in the workplace open
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Provision of workplace with sufficient lighting
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Prohibition of smoking in the workplace
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Fire Drill
H R 2 IER

Fire Safety Training Talks
SHBE 2 2 1)l 55

If there is an incident of work injury, the Human Resources Department
of the Group will conduct follow-up immediately within the day of
the incident, perform corresponding first-aid measures according to
the condition of the injured employee, then investigate the cause of
the incident and provide measures such as work injury leave to the
injured employee in accordance with internal guidance, and implement
appropriate measures to reduce the number of incidents.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any non-
compliance with laws and regulations in relation to occupational safety,
and did not have any incident of work injury, therefore did not lose any
working day. The Group did not have any work-related fatality in the past
3 years (including the Reporting Period).
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Professional Safety Measures

The Group requires that employees involved in particular hazardous
types of work (such as electricians) must hold a nationally recognized
qualification certificate and pass the assessment to be authorized to
perform work. They must wear protective equipment as required to
carry out dangerous work. We also regularly arrange construction site
inspections to supervise and ensure that employees wear protective
equipment as instructed to safeguard their safety.

Canteen Hygiene Management

As the Group provides canteens to employees, we need to ensure food
safety and hygiene. Canteens must obtain “Food Hygiene License” per
local regulations. We also require employees involved in food production
to submit health certificates and body check-up reports within three
months before entering the workforce and conduct body check-up
annually. Employees must wear protective workwear such as chef’s hats,
masks, aprons, and rubber shoes during food production.

Strengthen Epidemic Prevention and Control

In response to COVID-19, we have taken strict measures against the
epidemic, such as:

° Requiring all employees to conduct temperature check before
entering the workplace, wear disposable masks indoors, and bring
their own cutlery for dining at staff canteens; and

° Requiring workplaces such as offices to be cleaned and disinfected
regularly to reduce the spread of the virus.

Yinchuan Project

Large-scale commercial malls of the Yinchuan Project strictly carried out
various governmental control measures, to implement the requirements
and instructions from the Helan County’s office in response to COVID-19
(‘FEHHEMXEIE TFRESMHAE"), some of the measures
include:

. Implement “three checking and one scanning” (‘=& —1&"),
including checking the health code, travel code and negative result
of nucleic acid test for COVID-19, and scanning the location code;

° Carry out crowd control;

o Require guests to conduct temperature check, wear masks and
maintain distance of two metres and

° Require staff to conduct nucleic acid test regularly and wear
surgical masks.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group has established the “Training Management Policy”, provided
diversified training opportunities to employees under the principles of
“cost-effectiveness, practicality, efficiency, and diversity” and designed
specific and up-to-date training courses, to enable employees to improve
constantly and catch up with industry trends, at the same time enhance
the Group’s competitiveness. Our training is coordinated, guided and
monitored by the Group’s Integrated Management Center.

Systematic and Diversified Training Programs

To offer systematic and comprehensive training and development for staff
at all levels, we have formulated an annual training plan, including a series
of orientation training, to assist employees in their fast adaptation to the
Company and becoming familiar with job skills. We also organize various
on-the-job training for employees according to their actual position
needs and development pathways, to raise their ideological awareness,
job skills, and management capabilities and promote performance
advancement and employee development.

During the Reporting Period, we organized a high diversity of training
course, including but not limited to property issuance training, financial
policies relevant training, how to design the management system for
service recovery, how to choose the responding principles to typical
customer complaints, sales skill improvement training, operational
management relevant training and stamp duty training.

General staff
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Performance Management and Evaluation

The Group uses a sound and effective performance management system
to motivate employees to improve their work performance, support
their personal growth and promote the operational performance of the
Group, reaching a win-win situation. We have formulated the “Employee
Performance Appraisal Scheme,” which stipulates the conduction
of monthly basic assessment, quarterly pre-assessment, mid-term
assessment, and annual integrated assessment. The evaluation adopts
key performance indicators, such as important work and project progress
etc. For employees at all levels whose performance is overfulfilled in the
annual integrated assessment and those who have completed work on
time and made significant progress, we offer them with performance
bonus for encouragement. In addition, we conduct performance
interviews quarterly through communication with employees, so that
employees understand the goals and standards of the work, eliminate the
misunderstanding against evaluation, and let the appraiser understand
the needs and difficulties of subordinates to guide employees correctly
and effectively. If employees have any protest regarding the assessment
result, they can appeal to the Human Resources Department of the
project company in written form.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a part of the community, the Group has always been aware of its
responsibility to give back to the community, and is pleased to conduct
various community activities to strengthen the close relationship with
the community. During the Reporting Period, as the community is still
under the influence of COVID-19, the Group has suspended the holding
of community investment activities, to prevent the occurrence of large-
scale infections. In the future, the Group will continue to care for the
needs of the community, and explore on conducting different community
investment activities.
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SOCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS' HERABENIEE

Social Key Performance Indicators

HERRRERIER

B1 Employment

B1 {Ef&
B1.1 Number of Employees!’
B1.1 EE& B8’

Total Person 83 172
Hag A

By Gender

R E

Male Person 41 86
B A

Female Person 42 86
gl A

By Employment Category

HBEFEEE S

Part-time/Contract Person 1 1
AR A

Full time Person 82 171
e A

By Employee Category

RESEN 2

Senior management Person [9) 8
BREEAES A

Middle management Person 14 15
FREEAE A

General staff Person 64 149
—RET A

By Age Group

FEERERNDE

20 or below Person 0 0

205% B IA T A

21-30 Person 10 18

21-30%% A

31-40 Person 37 75

31-40%% A

41-50 Person 22 60

41-50%% A

51 or above Person 14 19

51 al Ml £ A

1 Compared to the last financial year, as disposal of the Changsha Project located MAFMEL RURFENEENEPIEER

in Hunan Province, the PRC was completed in April 2022, the Report does not RIZEZTFUBEAHE  AREIRARE
cover the Changsha Project and only covers the Qinhuangdao and Yinchuan IR MRERDVER  REERES KR
Project. IHH-
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Social Key Performance Indicators

HERBERIER

By Geographical Region of Working
BRI EE

Mainland China Person 83 172
FRE Ay it A

B1.2 Employee Turnover Rate

B1.2 BTIAX

By Gender

gkl bl

Male Percentage 10 37
BMH B

Female Percentage 26 30
pegi Bt

By Age Group

HER R B4R

20 or below Percentage 0 100
20 B ATT Bt

21-30 Percentage 50 33
21-305% B

31-40 Percentage 24 45
31-405% B

41-50 Percentage ) 18
41-508% Bt

51 or above Percentage 0 16
51 al M £ B

By Geographical Region of Working

it & 348

Mainland China Percentage 18 34
R Py 3t Bt

B3 Development and Training

B3 % B R3E:

B3.1 Percentage of Employees Trained

B3.1 ETXRiNBSL

By Gender

BER D

Male Percentage 95 99
B4 Bk

Female Percentage 98 95
e Bk
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Social Key Performance Indicators

HERBERIER

By Employee Category

RESHENSE

Senior management Percentage 80 75
EREEAES Bt

Middle management Percentage 100 100
HARBEIEAS B2t

General staff Percentage 97 98
—BET Bt

B3.2 Average Training Hours Completed per Employee
B3.2 B4 BT FIHZIEEH

By Gender

BRI EE

Male Hour () 4
B INEF

Female Hour 3 3
gz NS

By Employee Category

HBESHER S

Senior management Hour 2 3
BREEAR NS

Middle management Hour 3 5
RREEAE NS

General staff Hour 4 3
—MmRET NS

B5 Supply Chain Management
B5 fit fE & B 18

B5.1, 5.2 Number of Suppliers
B5.1, 5.2 (A FERE & B

Mainland China Supplier 38 120
FHE Ay it ER
Number of suppliers assessed during the Reporting Period Supplier 38 82
PRSI ETIZMEEREE EX

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EmEE
B6.2 Number of service-related complaints Case 0 0

B6.2 R E =

B7 Anti-Corruption

B7 R&5
B7.1 Number of corruption lawsuits filed or concluded Case 0 0
B7.1 IR B BENESFHAEHEE o=
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EMISSIONS

The Group understands the impact of emissions, including exhaust gas,
greenhouse gas, solid waste etc., on the environment and the community
as a whole. Therefore we have implemented a number of measures to
reduce the amount of emissions from our operational process. We strictly
comply with applicable laws and regulations in relation to environment,
including but not limited to:

o “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”;

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Pollution from Environmental Noise”;

o “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”;

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes”;

o “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Impact
Assessment”; and

o “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any non-
compliance with laws and regulations in relation to air and greenhouse

gas emissions, discharges to water and land, and the generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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RIE-HEKRERRS

Exhaust Gas and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group’s exhaust gas and greenhouse gas emissions were mainly
from the use of vehicles, the gas used for cooking in canteens set up
in some projects, and the electricity consumed in the daily operation of
offices. Our employees need to travel on business irregularly to meet the
project’s daily operations and business needs. Although the emission
involved is relatively little, we understand that business travel still causes
greenhouse gas emissions. Therefore we have developed responsive
measures and aim to maintain or gradually reduce our emission level,
including:

° Encouraging sales representatives and employees to use public
transportation as much as possible when visiting customers and
joining external meetings or events respectively;

o Encouraging employees to walk instead of taking transportation if
possible for close destinations; and

° Setting up telephones and video conferencing systems at office
locations to encourage staff to prioritize the use of teleconferencing
or video conference instead of face-to-face meetings where
feasible.

Waste Management

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, we do not produce
hazardous waste in our operational process. The non-hazardous waste
generated by our business was mainly from the food waste generated
in staff canteens, construction waste generated by property owners
or settled brands, and household waste generated in office, residential
and commercial areas. For items that must be disposed of, we require
employees to carry out waste sorting and recycling. For waste that
cannot be reused, including construction waste, domestic waste and
food waste etc., they are collected and processed by the municipal
governmental departments collectively.

BERREEREER

FAEENBRAEEREHFRETERS
BERNERA B EERENRERRMA
ROURMAEEBEEEMHENE
HexEBNEEFTEIEHHETES
W7 UENEEANBREEERESE
Ro-BEEPIRNEREMELER D
BERMAPBABEFRTENTELBER
B BER > R IR I B H E A8 8 18 5 LA 5
HETROEMANFRERER B

s HBEBHEAEFNEREFFR O URBT

E2MIB RN TR FERE
/_\ji/\@I,\;

e HHBFANEMM mEBTITREU
TIRBRERXBEIR &

e MMAMMREBERBETREZRR

Mo BB IERTHNBER TELE
PEZgZRGGeaNEEsmE

WEEeo

BEEYER

ERAEENEBEE  RMNEEBRE
TAEEEESEEY RMNERME
CHEEEMETIERBEIBREELEDN
B - EFTHAHFREEHETEECRESL
HEREBEN RKBRRAE - FTERHER
FMEANEZTUR - HRBEEZEENY
o REMERETETEYERLK ; &
RAABIREERNEY  EEEREE
B EENIR AR 85 % > B H MBS PI4R
— W EEE-
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RIE-HER

To achieve the target of reducing the generation of waste gradually, we
encourage employees to implement the “Recycle, Reuse and Reduce”
principles in the daily operation, and carry out the following measures:

=530
E/nO

wE

Sewage Discharge

TR

Paper Consumption FA4E

Promote paperless office and adopt an e-commerce mode of operation
RERRECHAZE HABFIELNEEERN

Set up printing rights, and collect statistics of consumption and recycling
for managing paper consumption

REIEFEE RS AREHAERDOKEBETHRSANEETERMBER

Other Stationaries and Office Supplies E fth}i} A = K X & &

Require employees to handle computer equipment and its peripheral
electronics properly, and handover them to commercial recyclers to
dismantle the remaining computer parts and recycle parts of value if
possible
ERETHERBEEMIBERABEE FE A UK E M3 = B WK XL
FEV R ER BAGEM R BEISEL WA BENZ M4

Food Waste Ef&k

Encourage employees to take appropriate amount of food and require
employees to notice canteen staff of any items they do not consume
in advance. The property management center will arrange inspections
occasionally, if any employees are found not to comply with the
requirement, they shall pay compensations based on the price of the meal
GERETITNECHENERY EXETIRASHREASEARZNERIE 2
EEPAOEIERLZHRE NEREEITETHBARTE AREEETEHE
Set up meal ordering system to pre-order food ingredients based on
the number of employees each day, to minimize food waste as much as
possible
RIUBBEGEUEEREREINHEREERYEME EARERDVRE
Put up slogan of “Cherish Food” over canteens and promote the “Clear
Your Plate” campaign

RBEEEERMIBIERYINRE  REALETH

Set up collection bins for food waste, which are collected and handled by
consigners with professional qualifications

RUBGRWER THEGREXERNSEBHETIRERER

BIKHEIR

RENBRDROBERYEENER
HBREINRHEEEDRRITER
MBEHBURBDERIRR AT

The sewage discharge from our projects were mainly from the public
water consumption of canteens, residence and shops, water for fire
service and water for cleaning vehicles and equipment. Domestic sewage
is pre-treated by septic tanks, the sewage form canteens and catering is
treated by grease traps before entering the sewage treatment plant for
centralized treatment.
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RIE-HEKRERRS

USE OF RESOURCES

We are committed to effective resource management, to enhance the
efficiency of resource consumption. As the Group is not involved in
manufacturing business, no packaging material was consumed.

Energy

We actively develop and implement energy-saving measures and aim
to improve the Group’s overall energy efficiency and reduce indirect
emissions from electricity consumption, some of the measures include:

° Require employees to turn off lighting and energy-consuming
devices when leaving the office;
° Turn off machinery not in use and idle equipment;

° Enable sleep mode when the computer will not be used for a short
period;

° Set air conditioners in office to a moderate temperature and turn
them off when not necessary; and

° Use LED light bulbs in projects for lighting in the residential, public
and office areas to save energy consumed by regular light bulbs.

BIRER

RAERNDRNEMNEREE HFRES
REYFE ALK - EEB:ZK%%ET#T@%%@
X BUTEERERNEEME-

AEIR

HPIRBHELRTEHRERLEE LIRS
EEEBRERINaKRBAVEENHEM
EENEEERSER ERARITHE
MEEE

e EREIERMAMAERLAMAE
FRFEERE

s HEIFEATHHMMNBERE

s RRBEANEABMEE BAERE
5

e BPAEERREETBRRERRN
iy BERASHRBAR &

s REBEBFHEMNESNHMAR

ZEHEBEHREALEDER R IEENGE
EAHOMAEHRMIRA-
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Water Resources

For water consumption, our major consumption of water resources
includes water for public areas in canteens, residential buildings, shops,
fire service, cleaning vehicles and equipment, renovation, cleaning roads
and buildings and greenery irrigation. During the Reporting Period, our
water consumption was supplied by the water supply system of the
municipal government, so there has not been any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose. We always monitor and record water consumption,
and implement the following water conservation measures, aiming to
enhance our water efficiency:

waste of tap water

) B [B] Wk {F 4 1E 78 R
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=

Posting water conservation labels in the workplace
to raise awareness of water conservation

EFESFRMBDOAKRS  BRSHNBKEH

Repair leaking faucets and hoses promptly to reduce

Fe 55 A 1& 78 e B9 7K BE 5B e 7K R > B/ R B B 2R K

Install sensor-activated taps in all operation sites
EREEME L ERE X KEER

Utilize reclaimed water for greenery irrigation
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GREEN CONSTRUCTION

The Group’s business development depends on the resources supplied
by the nature. Therefore we hope to reduce negative impacts on
the environment in our operational process to our best ability. Our
construction work are carried out by contractors so we do not have
significant impact on the environment. However, we still assume the
responsibility of supervising contractors, conducting environmental
assessments in each project to analyze and assess the impact of the
project on the environment, and developing environmental management
measures specific to projects, including treating the sewage from
the construction process of the contractor by sedimentation before
discharging to the sewage pipe network of the municipal government,
reusing sewage for construction site dust reduction, road cleaning and
vehicle tire washing etc., requiring contractors to handle construction
waste properly and prohibit noise-generating construction work at night.

SUSTAINABLE BUILDING DESIGN

We have incorporated elements of sustainable development into the life
cycle of buildings, and actively respond to the national “14th Five-Year
Plan for Building Energy Efficiency and Green Building Development”
to promote energy conservation of buildings and the development of
green building. We are committed to reducing carbon emissions from
construction projects and making a positive contribution to achieving
national carbon peaking and carbon neutrality. While reducing carbon
emissions, we also expect to continuously improve building functions to
provide users with high quality and comfortable living, entertainment and
leisure space.

Our Qinhuangdao Project has passed the assessment of Green Buildings
Evaluation Standard and met the following standards:

° First phase of the project (Zones A, B, C): 2-star/1-star rating

° Exhibition Centre: 1-star rating

As for providing a livable environment, we have implemented green roof
construction in projects to reduce air-conditioning and heating usage and
increase the energy-saving efficiency of the building. In terms of resources
saving, we have switched to using environmentally friendly and energy-
saving LED light bulbs, and brought natural light into the building.

A &t T

FEBNEFERKRBRBARAMEHRD
BER ALEEMAREEBRTTAELS
ERLVHERNEERE RANER
TEEHAZHEEERANT HILEM
HRBEWLRBEANEE - BRMANDAE
EEAERENER AR —BEBYETE
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BEREAERBTIH IBERAELENK T
EESKAEENTIBREERBHRED
5K E i BE K B A IS Bl D35 3R
E-ERBA - EWBBITAE BRXK
EHARERERYETZERENTIF
URZBLREBETEERSHRERT
fEZ o

AT EERRE

RMEREERYNEnBHLRMATAR
BEERETR IRBEERERN(TTOAR
EEMEEGEERERFY ) HEEE
AHEAGEBRREER - RMARNDBME
EIF BRI BER > 4 B IR B 3R BE 1§ K Bk
R i L AR TR B R o 7E A D Bk BRI B
RETHETHTERREERME A
RIEHEBETBENLEE BRERKEE
fE] o
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CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate Change as an issue of global awareness, corporates worldwide
are under the influence of the risks and opportunities it brings, including
more frequent extreme weather events, such as typhoons and extreme
rainfalls. As a property developer, we also may face the risk of the loss of
human and other resources.

To respond to the risks brought by climate change, and safeguard
homeland at the same time, we have formulated relevant policies and
measures, to prevent or reduce the potential damage climate change
may bring to the existing property owned by the Group and protect the
safety of employees and users:

RIREME

RIESEFRE2HKBEINZEZ —> &M
TENEERTHEHBERDABRMKBER
£ BB R &S 90 B R K % i
REARBERE - FAMEREE R
MR EEHANKRERBROER -

HEHREEEHROEAR  FEFTER
B ZMER EHEBESGERER > UERD
RO RIEEEHNAEBRBEY R AL
ERNRERREEIARNEGZE !

Evaluate and make
judgement according
to the early warnings

issued by the local

meteorological
department.

REEMRKISBPIFAEHD

REETHEHA-

The local project leader
will meet with all relevant
departments to formulate
and assess safety
management measures to

achieve flood prevention
and drainage.
EMEEAEASHRAN
R &R PR A & a8 0 LUK E R
FEERZEEREHER
B R HE A o

Some of the measures
include strengthening
staff attendant,
inspection, and reporting
any flood prevention and

drainage information.
BoEHESBEMBAESNE
BMEF - KEEEIF M
mwmmmﬁﬁsmﬁgx

Besides, we also actively contribute to relieving global warming, including
enhancing the management of high-energy consumption equipment to
lower the energy consumption and greenhouse gas emission in each
project gradually. The Group will continue to pay attention to the market
changes in relation to climate change, to grasp opportunities.
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RIE-HEKRERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE IRIBRAREMIER
INDICATORS'

Environmental Key Performance Indicators  Unit

RIGRABERIER B

A1 Emissions

A1 HER4)

A1.1 Air Emissions

Al.1 BERHEK

Nitrogen oxides kg 290.12 337.80
afaty T
Sulphur oxides kg 0.18 3.28
=R vt?) T
Particulate Matter kg 3.53 9.75
MR T F=

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

A2 RERBEHKRE

Scope 1 — Direct emissions Tonnes of CO2e 809.33 1,309.24
HE —BEIZHEW M—EfbikES

Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions Tonnes of CO2e 1,695.46 2,709.45
#[E2— 5 R EHI M_aftikES

GHG removal by tree planting Tonnes of CO2¢e 11.50 0.00
HEAREEFTR B RERBEE M_atiEE

Total Tonnes of COze 2,493.29 4,018.69
S W SEiREE

Intensity Tonnes of CO2e/HK$’000 revenue 0.05 0.01
BE ME_StREE ST ETKE

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste
A4 BEEEEY

Food waste Tonnes 9.40 9.60

BT B8R i

Construction waste Tonnes 570.00 970.00

REEEER i

Paper Tonnes 0.05 0.03

ARSR iz

Other domestic waste Tonnes 566.80 916.80

HMEEREY M5

Total Tonnes 1,146.25 1,896.43

wE 7

Intensity kg/HK$’000 revenue 2217 2.97

= Fh,/ ST R

1 Compared to the last financial year, as disposal of the Changsha Project  ° MAFEMRL RURFEHAEENENE
located in Hunan Province, the PRC was completed in April 2022, the Report BEERZE__FHBRMHE  AREN
does not cover the Changsha Project and only covers the Qinhuangdao and FRESIERTRERVER RRERE
Yinchuan Project. The construction of our real estate development business is ERIRIINIEB -HMNEHEREELEER
the responsibility of the contractor, and thus the data on emissions and use of TEHEAEBAS ALERERRERS
resources are not included in our key performance indicators. ANEEREFARMPBARENIEEE
Mo
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BRI HERERRS

Environmental Key Performance Indicators  Unit

IRIGRBERIER

B

A2 Use of Resources

A2 EREER

A2.1 Energy Consumption

A2.1 BEIRER

Indirect energy Purchased electricity kWh 2,972,924.58 4,440,998.10
EEeER—MNEE S TR
Direct energy Non-renewable fuel kWh 3,993,952.08 3,792,248.17
BEREfER—IFFLEME TRE
Total kWh 6,966,876.66 8,233,246.27
Has TRE
Intensity KWh/HK$'000 revenue 134.73 12.91
BE FERE /ST HBTlE
A2.2 Water Resources
A2.2 KER
Total water consumption m? 22,043.00 249,567.00
FAK#EE AR
Intensity m%HK$’000 revenue 0.43 0.39
BE YAHR/ BFETRE
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INDEX OF STOCK EXCHANGE “ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE”

BRFr(RE - EREBRRS
551 )Y &5l

Mandatory
Disclosure
Requirements Description Section
BHWBRE  AE B
Governance A statement from the board containing the following elements: Sustainable
Structure i) adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues Governance, Materiality
i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the Assessment
process used to evaluate, prioritize and manage material ESG-related
issues (including risks to the issuer’s business); and
i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals
and targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s
businesses
SRS HEFTHLNER BEFEHATIRS ! AFBEREL-EE
) WEESSHRE - HEREAETNEE MET G
i) EEFNRIE -HLEREREESHRE  GFETE - BRET!
REBEEMRE - HERELAEREE (BEHETAEBN
R BBE ; &
i) EEFMARIRE - ERERBMBERRNER - LEREM
GN{rT R EE 1T A 2755 R Bt
Reporting A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the Reporting Reporting Principles
Principles Principles in the preparation of the ESG Report
FERIR A HANRBETRERR HEREAREFNAERERRA HERA
Reporting A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and Reporting Boundary
Boundary describing the process used to identify which entitles or operations and Period
are included in the ESG report
FEREE BREIRE - EREARTNERDBE R PEMLEERIE ¥R 36 [E K B

BAAIRIE T EREARSHIBER
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“Comply or explain”
Provisions Description Section

1374 AE 4]

A. Environmental
AIEE

Aspect Al: Emissions

BEAT : B
General Disclosure  Information on: Emissions
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste
— iR ERERERERBEN - MK I HNEES - BEERBEEEEMN B
EEER
@ B ; &
(o) BTFHEITABEAZENERENEERRAANER
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
Al BEU R A8 A AR R B B IRIZRAREIIER
Al1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions Environmental Key
(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Performance Indicators
A1.2 BHiE GE) MisREE EE2) REREHNE CUEETE) &k (NE RIEAREIIEE
) BE
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Not applicable
intensity
A1.3 FTEEEEEEYRE CUEE & (ER) BE iE A
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Environmental Key
intensity Performance Indicators
A1.4 FrEEEEEEYRE CUEE) k (MER) BE IRIERAREIUER
Al1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Exhaust Gas and
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions
A15 HIFTET L HINE B R R A E RIS £ B AR PTERER & BR ¥R RoRE R AR HEN
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, Waste Management
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them
A16 HRBRIEEERBEREEYN G L RIBMMMTINBEERRAE BEYER

B LB RFI R T BR
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“Comply or explain”
Provisions

TETIRRE
1374

Description

AE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BHEA2 : EREEA
General Disclosure

— RN EE
A2.1

A21
A2.2

A2.2
A2.3

A2.3
A2.4

A2.4

A2.5

A2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials
BMERER (BFER K EEMEME) BB

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh in ‘000s)
and intensity

BRI DNERKEREREEE UTETERRESE KEE
Water consumption in total and intensity

MFEKEREBE

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set, and steps taken to
achieve them

It FTE] 1L B AR IR 8 FA X0 i B AR Fe A% i BB L B AR PR EREN A 2 B
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set, and steps taken to achieve them
M KB A ACOR L] BRI RE > MURPRET I AR S B Rk %
EDE L B RPTIRE & B

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced

S mPTAEEMERNEE CIEE) &k (ER) BLEEBUGE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
[EEAS ! IRIRRRXAER

General Disclosure

— AR EE

A3.1

A3.1

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment
and natural resources

BIRETARIRIERRAEREMERTENBR

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them
HRERFHHIRIERRABRENEARZERERENEEEGATEN
78

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR

Section

B

Use of Resources

BREA
Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
IRIRRIRE IR
Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
IRIRRIRE ISR
Energy, Green
Construction
AEVR AR BBIET
Water Resources

KER

Not applicable

B

Green Construction,
Sustainable Building
Design

REE L~ 7]

I
oX &

TR
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“Comply or explain”
Provisions

TETMRRE
1374

Description

AE

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BHEA4 . RIREME
General Disclosure

— iR iR
A4.1

A4 .1

B. Social
BAt®
Aspect B1:
Employment

BEB1 . EE

General Disclosure

— RN EE

B1.1
B1.2
B1.2

100

Richly Field China Development Limited

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer
HAREHE SR EEHBETAEELENEARBEERASENK
&=

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted,
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them

B RPIEEHBTAELELENEARRRERASEE ) REHIT
&)

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and welfare

BErRFNRRRE -BREAEA TERE-BHE -TEHE 2K

I 1R A e L R 38 R @ 1) 9

@ B &

(o) BTFHETABEARZENEBNEZERRANER

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and

geographical region

BRI BEEE  FRAEN RMER D IEERH

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region

R AR Rt E B D EE AL E

Annual Report 2023

Section

4]

Climate Change

RiEEE

Employment
Compliance,
Remuneration and
Benefits

ERER  FEN kBT

Social Key Performance
Indicators
HERARERIEE
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“Comply or explain”
Provisions

TETIRRE
1374

Description

AE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmB2: EEEEE

General Disclosure

— AR EE

B2.1

B2.1
B2.2
B2.2
B2.3

B2.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards

BREHRZE2IHFREAREREERCHBEMCEN

@ K ; &

(o) BTFHEITABEARZENHEBNEERRANEL

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past

three years including the reporting year

BE=F (BEERFE) SFRAITHHASBKIEE

Lost days due to work injury

RITHEERTIERE

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and

how they are implemented and monitored

PR AN I R R B L 2 fE i U AERARAITIVEE R 5%

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3 : & & RKIE:

General Disclosure

—RIRE
B3.1

B3.1
B3.2

B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities
BRARAHEERE1T TIFB BRI B AR AE AR - fa i B A &)

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category

R kEEENESHNZINEET DL

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category

R REERENE D SREBTMZ N FHRE

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR

Section

B

Health and Safety

REAZE

Social Key Performance
Indicators
T HRIRA IR

Health and Safety

RERZE

Development and
Training

ERRIE

Social Key Performance
Indicators
HERAREIIER
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“Comply or explain”
Provisions

TETMRRE
1374

Description

AE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EEB4 : % T#A|
General Disclosure

— RN EE

B4

B4.1
B4.2
B4.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour

BRAFAIEE T3EHI% T -

@ K ; &

(b) BTFHEITABEAZENEMEZERRANER

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child

and forced labour

ST BIEIER B LA R B T Kool s T

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered

e SR E R IB R H R A BB P EREXAY 2 BR

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EmEB5 - {HEREE

General Disclosure

— iR B8
B5.1

B5.1
B5.2

B5.2

B5.3

B5.3

B5.4

B5.4
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Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain

ERMHEENIRIE SRR
Number of suppliers by geographical region

s oNHEREE

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored

MM AR AERENIEL MERITEREBANEREREE UKk
MERITREER %

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored
it A B B (R R S EIRE AV IRIE it & R IE R » LUK ABRAH
TREEFE

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored

It BE R E RS BIRMRERKRFNVIES  LURBRE#IT
R EREK
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Supply Chain
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“Comply or explain”
Provisions

TETIRRE
1374

Description

AE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BHEB6 . EMEE
General Disclosure

— AR EE

B6.1

B6.1
B6.2

B6.2
B6.3

B6.3
B6.4
B6.4
B6.5

B6.5

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

ERFfRHERNRBNERELZ S - ES - REAMREE UK

MFERN

@ BE; &

(o) BTHETABEARZENHEBNEERRANER

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety

and health reasons

BENCEXERRYIRLZ 2 EREREHMEAERKRN B S

Number of products and service-related complaints received and how

they are dealt with

BERNERRBRBNEHFEE URESHFE

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual

property rights

Tt B 4 5 o AR PR R 38 EE RE R RA R 1B

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures

Wil E ST B2 K E BT

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how

they are implemented and monitored

HHUEBEBRHMRE A RER LRI R B8RS A

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR

Section

B

Product Responsibility

it
oo
pili
=5}

Social Key Performance
Indicators
HERMBEMIER

Not applicable

NEA
Product Quality
EmEE

Privacy Protection

LT
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“Comply or explain”
Provisions Description Section

FTETMER
1374 AE 4]

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7: R&ES
General Disclosure  Information on: Anti-corruption
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—RiEE B RARARA LEBARS ~ 813~ BRER RS B8R0 ¢ RES
(@) BUR; &
(o) BTFHETABEARZENEBNEERRANEL
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought Social Key Performance
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the Indicators
outcomes of the cases
B7.1 NRERARNHZTANEEERETEEENESHRAZHENHER HERREIIEE
EiEINEES
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and  Whistleblowing Policy
how they are implemented and monitored
B7.2 I EIE M R R RET  URABRARIT RER S E RIRIH
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff Anti-corruption
Trainings
B7.3 HHRREERE TRENREFEI k&5l
Aspect B8 :Community Investment
[EEBS8 : #tERE
General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Community Investment
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests
— ARt B BRUMESERTHREEMTHRBENRREERTHEGETRL HERE
& BB R
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution
B8.1 EIERERE
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area
B8.2 HEIBBFABAER
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFEEFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Yi Feng

Mr. Li Yi Feng (“Mr. Li"), aged 60, was re-designated as an executive
director, chairman of the Board, chief executive officer, chairman of
the nomination committee of the Board, member of the remuneration
committee of the Board and the authorised representative of the
Company under the Listing Rules on 31 January 2019.

Mr. Li has been engaged in construction planning, design, real estate
and commercial properties over 30 years and has gained extensive
experience in planning, development, operation and management.
He has a great wealth of experience in asset acquisition and mergers,
business negotiations and capital operations.

Mr. Li obtained his Master’s degree in Architecture from Xi'an Institute
of Metallurgy and Construction Engineering (now renamed as Xi’an
University of Architecture and Technology). In addition, Mr. Li obtained his
certificate of completion from Ontario Real Estate College in Canada.

Since 1985, Mr. Li has been engaging in architecture teaching,
architecture study and design work. Since 2002, Mr. Li joined Homelife
(Canada) and RE/MAX (Canada), offering consultancy services on
residential and commercial property investments. Mr. Li joined the
Company in early 2009 as the chief design officer. Since 2011, Mr. Li has
served as the director of Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co.,
Ltd* aE=R (65 REBBEBRRR).

Following the Re-designation, Mr. Li will also be appointed as a director
of the subsidiaries of the Company, namely Chuang Yu Holdings Limited,
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited, Globe Outlets City Limited, Mile Gain
Limited, Million Harmony Holdings Limited, Million Harmony Limited, Pilot
Will Holdings Limited, Pilot Will Limited, Profuse Gain Holdings Limited,
Profuse Gain Limited, Quality Depot Limited, Richly Field Hainan Holdings
Limited, King Future Holdings Limited and King Future Limited with effect
from 31 January 2019.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEREEFB

Mr. Chen Wei

Mr. Chen Wei (“Mr. Chen”), aged 51, was re-designated as an executive
director and the vice president of the Company on 21 March 2018.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in aspects related to project
planning and construction management. Mr. Chen graduated from
Jinling Vocational University* (B8 2 X2 studying in decoration
and construction management. He was accredited as an engineer by
Nanjing Construction Engineering Intermediate Professional Qualification
Assessment Committee* (FA R R E T TR PR EERKMERTE
ZE®)in December 2012,

During the period from March 2015 to July 2017, Mr. Chen received
further education in Zhongshan Vocational College majoring in society
related works and completed all the required curriculums under the
vocational teaching plan. He has been engaging in construction
management since 1996 and was the chairman of Nanjing First

Construction Engineering Group Company Limited* (AR5 —EE T2
E£EAERAT) from 2008 to 2013.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”), aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 November 2013 and has been
the chairman of the audit and remuneration committees of the Company
since 28 January 2014. She has over 20 years’ experience in accounting.
Ms. Hsu graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor degree in business administration. Ms. Hsu had been working
with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a partner of Ermnst & Young
before she retired from the firm in February 2011.

Ms. Hsu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Hsu is currently an independent non-executive director
of Perfect Medical Health Management Limited (stock code: 1830), China
Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 334),
Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings (stock code: 6828) and Perfect Optronics
Limited (stock code:8311).

Ms. Hsu was also an independent non-executive director of Harmonicare
Medical Holdings Limited (previous stock code: 1509, the securities of
which were delisted from the Stock Exchange on 25 March 2021) from
August 2020 to March 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXEEFB

Mr. Wong Chi Hong William

Mr. Wong Chi Hong William (“Mr. Wong”), aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 31 January 2021. Mr. Wong is
a Regular Member of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA). He obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration from
the University of Wisconsin, Madison in 2005. Mr. Wong has twelve
years of experience in human resources, recruitment, audit, corporate
governance and financial planning. He worked at Deloitte from 2006-
2008, where his last position was Consultant in Enterprise Risk Services.
From 2009 to 2011, he was a Management Trainee at AMTD Financial
Planning Limited. He served as a Recruitment Consultant at Hillman Ross
Limited from 2014 to 2017. From 2017 to 2018, he was a Recruitment
Consultant at Kelly Services Hong Kong Limited. From 2018 to 2019, he
was a Senior Recruitment Consultant at Spring Professional (Hong Kong)
Limited. Since Jul 2019, he has been serving as a Director of Harbour
Consulting International Limited.

Mr. Xu Jinghong

Mr. Xu Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”), aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 April 2014. He graduated from Tianjin
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Tianjin Institute Of Textile
Science and Technology) with a bachelor's degree in mechanical
manufacturing technology and equipment. In addition, Mr. Xu completed
a course of management science and engineering for postgraduate
research students in Nanjing University. Mr. Xu had served as the general
manager of Nanjing Yuexing International Home Square Limited* (F3 5
BEBRREEISABREAT)and the general manager of the Furniture
Centre at Nanjing Golden Eagle International Shopping Centre Group
Limited* (Fa R B BIL BB ER AR ABRER L), and the chairman
of Nanjing Meitu Furniture Company Limited* (FARZEBIFREBEA
3). Mr. Xu is currently the vice president of the Association of Home
Decoration of the China Federation of Industry and Commerce* (£ T
R BT E), the vice chairman of the Market Committee of
China Furniture Association* (FEI{REHEHHZEZEE), the honorary
president of Guangdong Furniture Chamber Of Commerce* (BE 8 & 512
EEELETE), the chairman of Xiamen Meitu Mei Network Technology
Company Limited* (EFIEEIZHEFFERAE)and the vice
president of the Xiyingmen Group* (& Z P9t E)
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B BRI ER

@CL Partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RICHLY FIELD CHINA DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED

HAHPBEEEFRAE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Richly
Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 112
to 227, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
“Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EENER &

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As described in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had a net loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 of approximately
HK$90,801,000 (after deducting the one off non-cash gain on disposal
of subsidiaries of approximately HK$1,512,618,000) and as at 31
March 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$511,791,000 and total borrowings, including interest-bearing other
borrowings, amount due to a shareholder and amounts due to related
parties, in aggregate of approximately HK$599,027,000 that will be due
in the coming twelve months from the end of the reporting period. As
at the same date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$35,083,000. These conditions, together with other
matters as described in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking various plans and
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity pressure and the financial
position of the Group which are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements had been prepared by the
directors of the Company on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of those plans and measures, which are
subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i) the successful resumption
and/or acceleration of property development projects, (i) continuous
financial support from the related parties and, (i) expansion of property
management business.

However, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves that the events or conditions underpinning
the cash flow forecast of the Group for going concern assessment
are reasonable and supportable because of () the lack of sufficient
supporting basis to obtain additional financing to continue the property
development as scheduled; (i) the lack of sufficient supporting basis to
support that the related companies be able to provide additional funding
to the Group in the timing and manner that can match the settlement
of the Group’s liabilities and/or future commitments; and (i) the lack of
detailed analysis in relation to the uncertainty of outcome of those plans
and measures and how variability in outcomes would affect the future
cash flows of the Group. Hence, we were unable to satisfy ourselves
about the appropriateness of the adoption of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements by
the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BB R S

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern
(continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve its plans and measures as detailed in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, it might not be able to
continue as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

In view of the significance of and the potential interaction of the multiple
uncertainties described above and their possible cumulative effects on
the consolidated financial statements, we disclaim our opinion in respect
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023.

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed a disclaimer
of opinion on those consolidated financial statements on 13 August
2022.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EENER &

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report, solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion” section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

CL Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Ting

Practising Certificate Number: PO7069

Hong Kong
30 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

rEEmREMEEREERR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

2023 2022
2= =S
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
s FHET TFHET
Revenue W &5 5 51,708 637,641
Cost of sales THE R AN (36,580) (595,952)
Gross profit E7 15,128 41,689
Loss on revaluation of investment properties & &Y% > B4R 15 (3,443) (16,098)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AT ZWE 30 1,512,618 =
Other income, gain and loss HM A~ W m K518 6 7,167 487
Selling expenses HEMX (4,185) (27,656)
Administrative expenses THMAX (54,386) (72,186)
Finance costs MEER 7 (51,943) (332,828)
Profit (loss) before tax EIRENER (B518) 8 1,420,956 (406,592)
Income tax credit FriSiRit % 11 861 7,708
Profit (loss) for the year FREH (BiE) 1,421,817 (398,884)
Other comprehensive expense Hith2mEpEx
Items that may be reclassified to BB P E R EE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation MEBIINEREEZ
of foreign operations bE =R (24,520) (68,430)
Release of exchange translation reserve RHEWBABEBERESR
upon disposal of subsidiaries G (69,348) -
Other comprehensive expense FREHMEZEEY  NRRIE
for the year, net of tax (93,868) (68,430)
Total comprehensive income (expense) FR2EUE (B%) 4858
for the year 1,327,949 (467,314)
HK$ &7t HK$ &t
Earnings (loss) per share SREHN (5Bi8) 12
Basic B2 6.09 cents #fll  (1.71) cents Ll
Diluted #E 6.09 cents #fll  (1.71) cents AL
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MBRIRR

As at 31 March 2023
RIZ2Z=F=B=+—H

2023 2022
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
MisE FET FET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment MEHEREE 14 1,036 1,290
Investment properties KEYE 15 595,654 646,524
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 378,993 423,935
Interests in associates N =N 17 558 6,391
Financial asset designated at fair value IEER AT EF AEAM
through other comprehensive income 2EWE (BAFE
(“FVTOCI”) FFAEMEEWE)) 2
TRMBEE 18 2,724 2,724
Goodwill meE 19 114,298 123,300
1,093,263 1,204,164
Current assets MENEE
Properties under development ERYE 20 679,319 762,932
Completed properties held for sales BEHEZE T 21 34,893 62,037
Trade receivables FEURBRFX 23 2,604 9,561
Prepayments, deposits and FBNRIENEE K&
other receivables HiE W sRIE 24 304,850 164,016
Cash and cash equivalents BEKRIFEEER 25 35,083 65,981
1,056,749 1,064,527
Assets classified as disposal group DEAFEHEZHES
held-for-sale BE 22 - 2,954,169
1,056,749 4,018,696
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade payables FE{TBRTX 26 389,267 527,023
Other payables and accruals HthE B R ESE R 27 431,327 494,050
Contract liabilities ==k 27 48,254 47,265
Amounts due to related parties FET RRE 5 I8 28 548,483 519,818
Amount due to a shareholder FEAT BE BR R IE 28 19,826 =
Interest-bearing other borrowings FTEEMMER 29 30,718 19,444
Lease liability HEAa®E 16 109 251
Tax payable FEITRIE 100,556 114,889
1,568,540 1,722,740
ZEC=FEH HEPEZEARAR 113



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mREMEIRRR

As at 31 March 2023
RIZ2Z=F=B=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= B
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
M=t FET FHET
Liabilities classified as disposal group DEAREHEZ
held-for-sale HEEFEER 22 = 4,251,779
1,568,540 5,974,519
Net current liabilities mENBEFEE (511,791) (1,955,823)
Total assets less current liabilities mEERRSEE 581,472 (751,659)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred income U TIA N 27 63,694 68,751
Lease liability HEaRE 16 - 109
Deferred tax liabilities FIETRIEE R 31 42,105 31,757
105,799 100,617
Net assets (liabilities) BE (BE) 3% 475,673 (852,276)
Equity (Deficiency in Equity) R (R ESAL)
Issued capital BETRE 32 1,166,834 1,166,834
Reserves i (691,161) (2,019,110)
475,673 (852,276)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 227 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June

2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Li Yi Feng

FhRERE
Director

EF

114 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023

BII2E227TEZ GV BFREER
TZEAAZtHEESSHERER

T THFNEEFARRE:

Mr. Chen Wei
BREEE
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FaEmgER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

Notes:

@

116

The contributed surplus represents the amount arising on reduction of paid-up
capital during the year ended 31 March 2004.

The reorganisation reserve represents the carrying amount of net liabilities
of subsidiaries, net of expenses, being disposed of under the schemes of
arrangement under section 166 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and section 99 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended time to time). Both schemes of arrangement
were sanctioned by the High Court of Hong Kong and the Supreme Court of
Bermuda on 27 May 2008 and 13 June 2008, respectively.

The statutory reserve funds represents 10% of the profit after tax of the
Company’s subsidiaries registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
appropriate to the reserve as stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
certain subsidiaries in the PRC, until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital and thereafter any further appropriation is optional.

Other reserve represents () the difference between the considerations paid to
obtain additional non-controling interests and its carrying amount of the net
assets on the date of the acquisition, which the excess of the fair value of the
consideration over the carrying amount of the net assets acquired has been
debited directly to equity; (i) the deemed contributions from shareholders that
arisen from the difference between the initial fair value and cash receipts on the
loans from related parties; (i) the deemed contribution from shareholder that
arisen from the excess of the net identifiable assets acquired over the fair value
of ordinary shares of the Company issued upon a business combination; and
(iv) the deemed contribution from shareholder that arisen from the excess of
the carrying amounts of indebtedness capitalised over the fair value of ordinary
shares of the Company issued.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_Z_=—F=-A=+—HUIHFE
2023 2022
—EZ= =2
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TFHET TFHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit (loss) before tax BRIARTEF] (B518) 1,420,956 (406,592)
Adjustments for: AR IEZ A
Bank interest income IR1TH) BWA (116) (75)
Finance costs MEER 51,943 332,828
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWRB AT Z W (1,512,618) =
Loss on written off of property, WEEY 2 BB AR E 2 518
plant and equipment - 203
Depreciation of property, ME- BB REEITE
plant and equipment 592 2,197
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESEITE 14,322 19,808
Loss on revaluation of investment properties KREYEZBEER 3,443 16,098
Operating cashflows before movements in EEESEEAIZ
working capital KERERB (21,478) (35,533)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables FEWER =R (1210 6,957 (7,948)
Decrease in properties under EEMERFELREZ
development and completed properties TR
held for sales 58,988 152,179
(Increase) decrease in prepayments, deposits FETAUIE ~ s B A At
and other receivables FE YRR IE (12 00) L (140,834) 90,288
(Decrease) increase in trade payables FE{TBR X CRIZL) HE 0 (74,596) 184,761
Increase (decrease) in other payables and accruals  ELfth FE (T #r 18 K & =1 B FB 12N
O 76,694 (50,783)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERH LD (1,000) (396,951)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (RSB F > IR EE (95,269) (63,987)
ZEI=FFR HHETPEZEERRAT 117



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHECTZ_=F=-HB=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—EZ= BT TF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET TFHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Construction costs for investment properties KREMEZ BERAK - 2,213)
Repayment from an associate BEABIER - 3,340
Purchases of items of property, REYE- -BEX
plant and equipment REIEEB (382) (397)
Bank interest received BWERTTH]E 116 75
Net cash outflow arising on the disposal of HEWNBABEEZ
subsidiaries RERHFER (8,721) -
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING KREEE FrA) RS2SR
ACTIVITIES (8,987) 805
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B IEE
Advance from related parties KERAEL 2B 120,000 263,267
Advance from a shareholder KERBE B 19,826 =
Repayment to related parties EIAEHER (77,461) (154,367)
Interest paid BNFE (13) (2,078)
Proceeds from other borrowings HMERPTiS I8 13,343 =
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BEBITREMMBER - (20,593)
Repayment for principal elements of BEREa G2~ D
lease liability (251) (1,481)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ME RS ZREFEE 75,444 84,748
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND RERREEER (AL ENEEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (28,812) 21,566
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FHzREAREEER 74,501 57,302
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEEBI R EIFER (10,606) (4,367)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FEXRZBEERFAEEER
AT END OF YEAR, represented BNIRITHE R RIRE
by bank balances and cash 35,083 74,501
Analysis of balances of cash and RERREEERGHOWN:
cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents BEAIBEEEER 35,083 65,981
Cash and cash equivalents included in assets FADEARFFEHEZHESE
classified as disposal group held-for-sale BEENRENIREEER - 8,520
35,083 74,501
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TEC-F=-RB=+—HLFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Richly Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability and
continued as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda
after the change of domicile from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda
effective on 11 February 2004 and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and Unit 1504, 15/F, Tower
2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong respectively.

The Company'’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR M ERR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023

1. ADREEEH

BHPEZERERAE (TRAAF))
ARHEREEFMMINERAR
TH_ZEZZME_RB+—HEHRH
EHEBEMEERER REBAR
EAEHNFEBEKERB R HK
DR ERAMERZMAERRE (N
RF)) EfeAAB N M EE
AR F B E M DB A Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda
REBMRZEE S 223 IA G
BEI52FE15181504% o

FARBNEIBEBE/REEZER -NE

activities of the subsidiaries are set out below: NRENEFEEBHIIANOT
Information about subsidiaries MB AT ER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: KRBIMBEABFENT !
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
Bl BRTRBRERE/
g MR EEE EUEZ FAERMERERS TEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# ik
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEIZE CTCCE ZBIZE CTTICE
Chuang Yu Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - = 100% 100%  Investment holding
BIRERERAR i 18T REZR
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERNER LB HERERAT B BT REER
Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited*  The People’s Republic of HK$596,400,000 - - - 100%  Property development
(*Hunan Richly Field") #* (note) China (the “PRC")/ 596,400,0007% 70 MRS
HEAHRNRAEXERAT Mainland China
(TmE#E) * (5 REARLNE (TRE) /
HERH
Jiangxi Richly Town Construction Projects The PRC/Mainland China HK$10,000,000 100% 100% - - Inactive
Co., Limited"# HE/RERH 10,000,000%7% ORER
IBEBRHEETRERAD"
Mile Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BRERAH HEELHE/BE e REZR
Million Harmony Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - S 100% 100%  Inactive
BRERERAT B BT EE
Milion Harmony Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BRARAR HEELHE/BE e REZR
Globe Outlets City Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
RERAERLBTIRERASD HBRYHE/ BB £ REER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZEMTFRERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

— =1 = b N =
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REIREEER @
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) B RABIEFE @
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
Bl BRTRBERE/
B SRR EE R FAREMEREE AL ITEBEH
Directly Indirectly
E# i
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEIZE TZCCF ZBIZE TRICF
Pilot Will Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - S 100% 100%  Inactive
REERERAT B BT BREH
Pilot Will Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HEERAR RBRYHE /B e BEER
Profuse Gain Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
ERIERERAT B BT BREH
Profuse Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERBRAT RBRYHE /BB e BEER
Quality Depot Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$100 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
REERAF REEUHE/BE 100%7T BREH
Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting The PRC/Mainland China HK$15,000,000 100% 100% - - Property management and
Co., Ltd.* I/ HER 15,000,000 7% investment holding
REZER (bR KEBBERATH MEEEREEER
Richly Field Hainan Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% - - Inactive
REERERERAT B 1B BEEY
Beiing Yutiancheng Investment The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
Management Co., Ltd.* HE/ RERT AE#1,000,0007T MEEE
TRRARREEEERAR
Changsha Yutian Outlets Business Administration  The PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - - - 100%  Property management and
Co. Limited* (note) HE/ RERT AR %100,000,0007¢ trading of fashion wears and
ROBERERESCXERERAT () accessories
NEEBREERE R
Changsha Yutian Outlets Properties Management  The PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - S - 100%  Property management
Company Limited* (note) FE/FERM A RH500,0007% MEER
EORARFMEEEERAT (D)
Huailai Shengtian Wine Manor Co., Ltd.* The PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
EREBEE ELEERAT HE/RE R AR 120,000,0007 mEER
Richly Field Kabushiki Kaisha* Japan JPY3,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
A g =N 3,000,000 BREH

120
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZERTRERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1. RAEIREBREN @

MEBATER @

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
Bl Ave BRTREERE/
k2 ERREE i FAREERET AL TBEH
Directly Indirectly
E# &
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECZE CECCE ZEIZE TECCE
King Future Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - S 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEERERAT B 18T RELR
King Future Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$10 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HEERAR HEELHE/BE 10%7 REZR
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Co., Ltd.** The PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
REBRRRGELERAT e/ RERH 20,000,000% 7T MERE
Hunan Longsheng Decoration Engineering The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
Company Limited##* FE/RERM AR #10,000,0007% BEER
HAEEREEERTRERAT
Shanghai Yunxiang International Trading Co., Ltd.** The PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
LEBEEREZBRAR HE/hER AR 15000007 YELY
Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co., Ltd.*  The PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development and
ERGuREEEBRAT L/ HER AR #350,000,0007 management and home
furnishing
MERLEREENRBEN
# Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law ” RIFPEAEEMAERAR
# Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under PRC law i RIEFEDERFMAIEREERE
##  Registered as a Sino-foreign joint venture under PRC law o REBEFPEAEEMARIEGELE R
*
* For identification purposes only * 1SR
Note: Those subsidiaries had been disposed during the year ended 31 March e BE_2_=—F=A=+—HLF

2028.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

2.1

122

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for
per share data. HK$ is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency.

The Group had a net loss for the year ended 31 March 2023
of approximately HK$90,801,000 (after deducting the one off
non-cash gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$1,512,618,000) and as at 31 March 2023, the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$511,791,000 and total
borrowings, including interest-bearing other borrowings, amount
due to a shareholder and amounts due to related parties, in
aggregate of approximately HK$599,027,000 that will be due in the
coming twelve months from the end of the Reporting Period. As at
the same date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$35,083,000.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and, therefore the Group may not be
able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

In view of the above, the Directors had carefully considered the
liquidity of the Group, taking into consideration of the following facts
and assumptions:

() Property development projects

The sentiment of the property market in China has shown
sign of improvement in the first 5 months of year 2023,
according to the Office for National Statistics of China, the
sales of residential buildings was RMB4.5 trillion for the first 5
months of year 2023, representing an increase of 11.9% as
compared to the same period in 2022.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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ZERAGVMBRECEELAATRE
MEAE (RBIAER)) -

AEEBETRERYHTRRAME
ZCEEERERKERMTEELR
RIEZEE ((NREEK)FE-KFE
RBEBIN ZEEGHUBRETLUE
T (TET) 2% TEMELAEZER
BAETMU -BTREARNZYEER

BRAEBZ2H0E -

HEz_Z2_=%=B=+—H
FTEE XEBBEHEIFHELY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(i)

(i)

Property development projects (continued)

The development progress of certain of the Group’s property
development projects had been significantly delayed or
suspended due to the market conditions and liquidity issues
faced by the Group. Subsequent to the end of the Reporting
Period, the Group entered into a supplementary agreement
with a contractor that the non-legally binding framework
agreement signed in July 2022 still remains valid and that
the contractor agreed not to demand any repayment from
the Group for the construction works it performed towards
the Group’s property development projects until the value
of cumulative certified works reach RMB200,000,000. The
Directors of the Company considered that, such arrangement
together with the improving market sentiment could
enable the Group to continue the property development
as scheduled and to accelerate the pre-sales of properties
under development as potential buyers would know that the
Qinhuangdao Project has resumed.

The Directors, based on information available as of today
and their best knowledge, expect the Group would record
a forecasted operating cash inflows for the year ending 31
March 2024 as follows:

a. For the Qinhuangdao Project, the Directors expect
approximately RMB54.0 million of pre-sales deposits to
be generated from this project for the year ending 31
March 2024.

b.  For the Yinchuan Project, the Directors expect
approximately RMB27.1 million of pre-sales deposits to
be generated from this project for the year ending 31
March 2024.

Continuous financial support from related
companies

a. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a revolving
loan facility of RMB2,000,000,000 granted by a
company controlled by a controlling shareholder that
will expire in December 2023 of which approximately
RMB1,990,940,000 remained unutilised as at 31 March
2023.

——

—_—<——

i B )

(i)

MERBER ®
HRmEHERTRAEB@TRR
BESME ETAERY =
ERBEEHNEREERELSR
REZE - PREBPREB  AEH
H-EAREEI UM RS
HERZE-__FTtAEITW
EAERNENERBZDNAE
MoBEZAEREBREAEHE
RAEENYEEREEERRE
MEETITRERLAEBREYH
FHRHEF BEEIRFIREES
BEZI AR®200,000,000
T ANBEERA > BRELH
EmZEErEnERERE
BERATRKBETYEERR
ﬂul;f%ﬂ@%ﬂﬂﬁ’i’ﬁ;mﬁ\

TEXFNEREEEBE
Io

BEEESHEBENRRA
EXSEHAERERREBEE"S
“THE=ZAR=+—BHLEER
BRAKERSERALT

a. MEEEEEMS EF
EHZEERREBEE S
—HWME=A=+—BL%=E
EELXEERETOARE
54,000,0007T ©

b. BMIBNEEMS EFHE
HzZEERSRBE_Z
_WE=ZA=+—HLHF

EELETEERSHARE
27,100,0007z °
ERELTIFEIRHEIMEE
E
a. A TEZ=H=F=+—

S

B A&EBEEBRER

H

BREEHNQEFREH
BREITHRE ARE
2,000,000,0007% » It #%F
N2 =2+ 8 7
MR 2 _=ZF£=4
=+—H EFHARK
1,990,940,0007T 4 < &

o

FEHR HETEERERAR 123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Continuous financial support from related

124

(i)

(i)

companies (continued)

2.1 REEE )
(ii) g%@@ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁn
%(/

&)

b.

Subsequent to the Reporting Period, the Group entered
into a new loan agreement regarding a revolving loan
facility agreement with a company controlled by a
controlling shareholder of HK$2,000,000,000 that will
start in January 2024 and expire in December 2025.

The Directors of the Company considered that the
credit facilities can be utilised in the manner to settle the
liabilities of the Group when and as they fall due.

Expansion of Property Management
Business

The Group had made acquisitions of property management
companies subsequent to the end of Reporting Period. The
unaudited revenue of Ningxia Guanling and Wuhan Yuejing
for the year ended 31 December 2022 were approximately
RMB8,330,000 and RMB3,573,000 respectively. On 15 June
2023, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in Hohhot
Pengshengjie Property Management Service Co., Ltd. which
is a newly setup company to target the property management
market in the Inner Mongolia province, China.

Property management business is one of the key businesses
of the Group, the expansion of the property management
business will help to bring in more stable income to the Group
in the future.

Other financing options

Further to the termination of the Cooperation Agreement,
the Group will continue to identify and negotiate with various
financial institutions and identifying various options for
financing the Group’s working capital and commitments in
the foreseeable future, such as new investors and business
partners.

Possible disposal of non-core businesses
and assets

In addition, the Directors of the Company will also consider, if
necessary, to dispose of certain of its property development
projects and/or to seek other investors/property developers to
accelerate the development of the Group’s property projects
in order to source additional funds to the Group.

Cost control

The Group will continue to take appropriate measures to
control administrative costs.

Richly Field China Development Limited

Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The Directors of the Company believe that, after taking into account
the above plans and measures, the Group would no longer be
required to finance the repayment of the liabilities of the Disposal
Group as well as the forecasted operating cash flows for the year
ending 31 March 2024, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to satisfy its present requirements for the year ending 31
March 2024.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property
sector in Mainland China and the uncertainties to obtain continuous
support from the banks, the related companies and the Group’s
contractors/creditors, the Directors of the Company consider that
material uncertainties exist as to whether the Group will be able to
achieve its plans and measures as described above.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans
and measures, the Group may be unable to operate as a going
concern, in which case adjustments might have to be made to
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to state them at their
realisable values, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify its non-current assets and non-current
liabilities to current assets and current liabilities, respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective for
the Group’s financial year beginning 1 April 2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19 — Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

2.1

2.2
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2.2

126

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(continued)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs and the Committee’s agenda decision(s) in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations
for which the acquisition date was on or after 1 April 2022.
The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010),
add a requirement that, for transactions and events within the
scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination and add an
explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognize contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.2 FERAMI REEIIEEBUHTHE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts'
October 2020 and February

2022 Amendments to

HKFRS 17)

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-Current Liabilities with
Covenants®
Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction’

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the Directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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2.2

128

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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2.2

2.3

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by
the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the
use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available,
reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except as otherwise set out in the accounting
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

2.2

2.3
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2.3

130

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit or

loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12

Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance

with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with
the share-based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based

Payment at the acquisition date; and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held-for-
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-
for-sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

° Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease was a new
lease at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date;
or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash generating unit (the “CGU”) (or groups
of CGU) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rate basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwiill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those poalicies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of an associate used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investment in an associate (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 36 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 20% to 25%

15% to 33 /5%
15% to 20%
20% to 25%

Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction for
such purposes).

Owned investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

If an item of prepaid land lease payments becomes an investment
property when there is a change in use, as evidenced by end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in respect of
that item will be transferred directly to retained earnings when it is
derecognised.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

23 FEGTHHBEHRE @

REME
REMEERERBES R NE
BXMEZNE (QERLENZE
RYE) o

BERREVENIRRE (BEF
A BB X) 518 o 1040 ia i3
B REMEBRATEFE-KREY
EZATEEIFELEZEBBRE
EHIREEt AR o

EERREMEMELEZREMNLS G
BEXRMb FREEREMESMIRE
Ee

REMEDNELERAERED X
XKARNBERREHLENEST
EERKEEHN o B8 IEFESD - & 1E
BUZMERELEZEMED (EH
EMSMEFERZEEZREE
ZEBESE) SFARYERLESH
B ziBmm e

HWEMLTHMEERRBREZ (AT
BHEAEER) MK —BREY
¥ AZEAFRBEEAZREESA
AFEZERNERE FRAMEE K
mREBRNYEEERFEEP RS &
BRZM*EGRER R ERLE
R EEEBAREEF

HE

HEZES
REEBUHFHREERE165E
BHNETEGRER-—BREEBANER
BRI BEEURERAE IZXEGOB
REBZHEE-

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR 137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

2.3

138

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability
with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For
these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for
costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use assets, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease liability

At the commencement date, the Group recognises and measures
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect
to some of its investment properties. Leases for which the Group
is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessor (continued)

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under
the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured at fair value model.

Variable lease payments for operating leases that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing
costs, professional fees, payments for land use rights and other
costs directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale
of properties under development prior to completion of the
development are included in current liabilities as contract liabilities.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
as the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete within the normal operating
cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sales.

Completed properties held for sales

Completed properties held for sales are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of
the total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties.
Net realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the
prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale of
completed properties held for sales are included in current liabilities
as contract liabilities.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see
the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

23 FET

TR E @)

BE (REXAMBE 2GR
) BRIMIDZE ~ BB Be sk B B
RAEEENRE

REREHRR AEEBRTHEYE
BMERREREREREEZREE
LEBEEZSEERAUBRRRAE
BERZBR -HEEEANERIR
AT EEZ B8R UEE R
BEBEEBEZEE (WA - EREME
BEERWREEZER  AEBGEZ
BEEFMBREELEMZAKME
TR -BUHEIGER—RZOEE
ZFARNBENAIEEZEEERES
EEEM ABTHEETRIDGE

R—BzoEEEZRNRESESE
BB -

B] Y [B] & 28 7% 2 T (B R & a4
EREETHNREE - NIGERE
EBF G RRREARBECARKRE
KRESHEEREEBEREEZR
ERBEFENFERAMBERERE
RE MEFARBEESMRELART U

BEo

WMEstEE (RIVEEEENM) 27
WEcEF LR EREE WEE
(RS ELEN) 2REEZRAR
EHTH&Z@%%E BEBEERER
18 1 P T 53

HEZBBELOREBE IEE (R
TELEEMN ZREEREERES
BzfEst B EE HELEMZ
BREEFATBHMEE (HIREELE
B) RMBEEFELERDAERBRE
RRABEEZREE BREGEZ
BOgRR R EEAE -

CECCEER HWETERRERAS 141



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

2.3
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A financial asset and a financial liability is offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when,
and only when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified,
at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI”) and
FVTPL.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cashflow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. The Group’s financial
assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost and
FVTOCI.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a

financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial

asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the

“Other income, gain and loss” line item (note 6).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is
not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (continued)

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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2.3
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt financial is determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and ii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Definition of default (continued)

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two to three years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023

23 FEGTHHBEHRE @

ERTHE®

THEE @

EHEERE (B)
FERRBRZEREN (&
BHZEE (B

AEBERXD HeREEZAHNBR
QOKRHIEHLEEN KFETEERA
GEMAREZENERESRR
WENBREESTHERIFR R -

EEREEMEE
EULE—ENZEFHHEHEE
WESRRREREELETNEE
R zeMBEERNRHRESERE:
THREEFERENERTEAMRN
UTEHHN]HEREE

e EHTAUBRABBREAMK
PR 2

e EBH O MEXRNEBHFN

e HRNEMERANMEBEZEACFRM
MEBRNENRE  BRAZ
ERFEREBERARTERS
EF—RBERTAEEZ BT
#;

e MBRAFUERERENETH
thEr#HEA ; X

e ZETHMEEMNEETHERMK
PRI 2 T R 55 o

WiEH R
ERAEMKRAEHEAENRENY
1% B E R e 89 B 5E (FIin
EHFARBEACEARERF)
B> FLENERATM S - EMRIBEE S
BEARME=FRK UREEAE) &
EEEREHAENEEMBE -EEE
WERT KEREZEERE BEM
HzesMEEDIRBERAEBNK
EEFBEMBRENITES IR
ERUEI R PR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Classification as debt or equity (continueq)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit (loss) before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit

nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences

and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the general principles above.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R BHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_ S -_HF-A-t+—HLEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, tax effect is included in the accounting for

the business combination.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease

liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease

terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching

to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related

assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHHBEME »®

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of

third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is

due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not

presented on a net basis.

Sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is
recognised when the customer obtains the physical possession or
the legal title of the completed property and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group typically receives 20% to 100% of the contract value
as deposits from the customers when they sign the sales and
purchase agreements, giving rise to a contract liability until the

customer obtains control of the property units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by
the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payments and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. This interest accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period between the
advance payments received and the transfer of the associated
goods and services, and therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the goods and services is transferred to
customers. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it is eligible
to be capitalised under HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The Group
recognises such costs (i.e. sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

2.3

158

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract costs (continued)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration
that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Property management services

For property management services contracts, the Group recognises
revenue equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance
to date, on a monthly basis. The Group has elected the practical
expedient for not to disclose the remaining performance obligations
for these types of contracts. The majority of the property
management service contracts do not have a fixed term.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local municipal governments. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension schemes.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HKS$, which is the
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair
value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on

change in fair value of the item.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the HK$. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these foreign
operations are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and, their statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated into HK$ at
the average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange translation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of

the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are

translated into HK$ at the average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Disposal group held-for-sale

Disposal groups are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. Such classification requires the
asset or the disposal group must be available for immediate sale
in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset or disposal group and its sale
is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held-for-sale when the criteria described
above are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held-for-sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell, except for financial assets within the
scope of HKFRS 9 and investment properties which continue to be
measured in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in
respective sections.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made
in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves making
judgements by the management, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The conditions set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concerns and therefore, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections in the next twelve
months taking into account the major events or conditions which
may give rise to business risks and concluded that the Group has
the ability to continue as a going concern.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the investment
property portfolio of the Group and concluded that all of the
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore,
the directors of the Company have determined that the “sale”
presumption set out in the amendments to HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” is rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised the
deferred tax on changes in fair value of investment properties on the
basis that the Group is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.

Classification between investment properties and owner
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the
portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services or the
portions that are used for different purposes are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales
Properties under development and completed properties held for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion, which were
derived at after considering recent local economic developments,
recent sales transactions, recent construction costs of the Group
and other similar properties in the surrounding areas and internally
available information.

The Group’s management reviews the properties under
development and completed properties held for sales periodically
and carries out an impairment review on a project-by-project basis
at each financial year end. The budget cost and development
progress of the project is reviewed by the Group on a regular
basis and adjusted as appropriate. Where there is any decrease
in the estimated selling price or increase in estimated construction
cost arising from any change in local economic or property
market conditions, there may be written down on the properties
under development and completed properties held for sales.
As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of properties
under development and completed properties held for sales
are approximately HK$679,319,000 (2022: HK$2,645,001,000
(including those classified as disposal group held-for-sale of
approximately HK$1,882,069,000)) and HK$34,893,000 (2022:
HK$158,134,000 (including those classified as disposal group held-
for-sale of approximately HK$96,097,000)) respectively. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, no impairment loss of completed
properties held for sales and properties under development was
recognised (2022: Nil).
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction, are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
their fair value, details of which are disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of the investment
properties was determined by reference to valuations conducted
on these properties by an independent qualified valuer using
property valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions
and inputs as set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties included in the consolidated statement of
financial position and corresponding adjustments to the changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 March 2023,
the carrying amount of investment properties was approximately
HK$595,654,000 (2022: HK$1,379,789,000 (including those
classified as disposal group held-for-sale of approximately
HK$733,265,000)).

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires the determination of the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use
and fair value less costs of disposals. Estimating the value-in-use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and apply a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash
flows, a material impairment loss may arise. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$114,298,000
(2022: HK$123,300,000). Details of which are set out in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

The Group performs assessments on whether items of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have suffered any
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated
that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable,
in accordance with the stated accounting policy. Where there
is an indicator of impairment, an estimation of the recoverable
amount is required. Such estimations are based on certain
assumptions which are subject to uncertainty and might differ from
the actual result. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment was approximately HK$1,036,000
(2022: HK$25,594,000 (including those classified as disposal
group held-for-sale of approximately HK$24,304,000)). As at
31 March 2023, the carrying amount of right-of-use assets was
approximately HK$378,993,000 (2022: HK$582,968,000 (including
those classified as disposal group held-for-sale of approximately
HK$159,033,000)). No impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets was recognised for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Current tax and deferred tax assets

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions, files tax reports and makes tax provision in
accordance with the prevailing tax regulations and prescribed
time frame. However, the implementation of tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and the
Group had not yet finalised certain calculations with local tax
authorities. Judgement is required in determining the Group’s
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which such determination is made. The
carrying amount of income tax payable, carried as a liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023
was approximately HK$100,556,000 (2022: HK$114,889,000).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. There was no deferred tax recognised with respect
to tax losses at 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$341,994,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,467,757,000
including those classified as disposal group held-for-sale of
approximately HK$1,159,587,000). Details of which are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

As further detailed in notes 22 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group disposed of the Disposal Group in April
2022. Upon the completion of the disposal, over 90% of the
Group’s revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are generated
from the Group’s property development and investment projects in
Qinhuangdao City of Hebei Province (the “Qinhuangdao Project”)
and Yinchuan City of Ningxia Province (the “Yinchuan Project”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (2022: including also
the project in Changsha City, Hunan Province (the “Changsha
Project”)). The chief executive officer (the chief operating decision
maker) makes decisions about resources allocation and assesses
performance of the Group based on the operating results and
financial position of the Group as a whole, as the Group’s resources
are integrated and no other discrete operating segment information
is provided to the chief operation decision maker. As much, no
segment information is presented.

Accordingly, the chief executive officer is of the opinion that the
Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao Project and Yinchuan Project in
the PRC is a single reportable operating segment of the Group.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers for
each group of similar products and services is disclosed in note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived solely from
its operations in the PRC, and all non-current assets (other than
financial assets) of the Group are substantially located in the PRC.

During the year, the Group had no transactions with external
customer which individually contributed over 10% to the Group'’s
total revenue (2022: Nil).
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5. REVENUE 5. W=
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () REEFEHNZWZSH
with customers
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: KEEBWR@mZWMWT :
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FET
Sales of properties YIEIHE 35,198 591,493
Management fee income BEEWA 5,860 14,923
Total revenue from contracts with R EHNWmAREE
customers 41,058 606,416
Revenue from other source Hin s R W =
Rental income for investment properties &&= EE N EEYEZHE WA
under operating lease
— Lease payments that are fixed or —EEHERIEH LR
depend on an index or a rate HEHE 10,650 20,686
— Variable lease payments that do not ~ —iEFEEPIEH LR
depend on an index or a rate AEEERIE - 10,539
10,650 31,225
51,708 637,641
2023 2022
—EZ= —=2-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET THET
Timing of revenue recognition Ut 2 e 5 R 5]
At a point in time RE KRR 35,198 591,493
Over time & B ] 5,860 14,923
Total revenue from contracts ER AW EARER
with customers 41,058 606,416
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5. REVENUE (continued)

170

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts
are based on customer’s specifications with no alternative
use. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract terms,
the legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant properties
to customers. Revenue from sales of properties is therefore
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 20% to 100% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreement. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is recognised
over time, and the progress measured using the output
method. The property management service fees are billed to
the tenants monthly.
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W= o
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) PEEFRTENBTEIZRS
performance obligations (]
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance PREEZE=ZF=ZA=+—
obligations the Group (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as HEAEBENGH TREOEE CRE
at 31 March 2023 and the expected timing of recognising }:‘2 WEDRENR) IR ZERE
revenue are as follows: RWENTERARETT
2023 2022
== =2
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Within one year —FRN 47,530 12,787
More than one year but not more BE—FERBBmE
than two years 43,000 75,691
Total revenue from contracts R AHWEmIEEE
with customers 90,530 88,478*
All property management services are for periods of one year FMEMEEERB I AP —F
or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price HUAT-MBEETBERSZEL
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. FISFEST  DEEZSE
BREANRRZEMEIFE-
* Excluding the Disposal Group * TEEHEEE
6. OTHER INCOME, GAIN AND LOSS 6. HfhlgA W= KkE1E
2023 2022
= S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Interest income on bank deposits IRITEIRFI B U 116 75
Net exchange gain BE 2 U =R 7 KB 3 -
Compensation income* AEW A 6,904 =
Others Hith 144 412
7,167 487

*

This represents a penalty payment for work delay in the amount
of approximately HK$6,904,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB5,813,000) from a contractor of the Group.

——

—_—<——

LTy 3R B A M — R AR H N TZE
2 2170 496,904,00058 75 (FHERAA

FR#£5,813,0007T) °

FEHR HETEERERAR 171



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZEMTFRERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MEEHR

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AEBZMEEBRSNUWT
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FHET
Interest on bank and other borrowings IRITREMERF S 51,930 372,829
Interest on lease liability HEaGHE 13 52

Less: Amount capitalised in the cost B EREEBERBEERATH
of qualifying assets BERMEZEE8 - (40,063)
51,943 332,828
The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of borrowing BE_T__F=-HA=+—HIL=#E
costs eligible for capitalisation for the year ended 31 March 2022 E>rAREEAIERCERMESEE
was 9.71%. No borrowing costs were capitalised for the year ZEREEERBITI%N RBEE
ended 31 March 2023. “=EHF=-A=t—HIEHFE LHERE
A E AL ©

172 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A FEERRMIEE
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HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

8.

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit (loss) before tax is arrived at after charging:

8. FRBiAmA (B518)
AEEBRAERN (BB BNBT

&I
2023 2022
—EZ= =S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(@  Staff costs (including directors’ @ BINA (BEEEmS:
emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 16,015 28,096
Contributions to defined contribution REMFRARETBIMERR
retirement plans 1,581 3,774
17,596 31,870
(o)  Other items: (o) EHMER:
Cost of properties recognised as R AR 2 YERAY
expenses* 29,403 579,503
Loss on written off of property, WEEE - mERRE
plant and equipment* 518" - 203
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERRETE
plant and equipment* 592 2,197
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* FREEETE 14,322 19,808
Auditors’ remuneration* TZ BB > 880 1,250
Direct operating expenses incurred for RERNEERSWAD
investment properties that generated WEYERMEEZ
rental income during the year* BELERYT 4,930 5,580
# This amount is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement E ZEBAGRGERANEMEE N E
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. MR HEMAIR
* This amount is included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated * ZEHEFTAGSERAEMEE NG
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. WERZMTEBAZIA -

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5%
of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is

matched by employees.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiary is required to contribute a certain
percentage of their basic payroll to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the required contributions

under the schemes.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution

payable in future years.

rEBERFFAERGERESR
BRIt AREstE (BB X
8)) FRAStBIZEENEAEE
ENAITHEZFEAERZESHA
AEBERBBAHFTHU A Z5%MRIE
EEtBIHR MESTRBEHRMER

I 2

o

RAEERz2EESRSTEBFAE
BZEREERANBANFENE - &
WEBARRBEAHFEZETERD
EE B RN A 5t 8 R BB IRAE
FRMHES -AEBHZRKEH G
Bz -—SERETHEREZMH

=
o

4% B R W R B A 1 30 OB OR R A
EZEMHMR
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9.

174

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2023

EERITHESZME

REEBHEGXZRMAERRAE (TH
P EFLEHRA (TEHRA)
REBRBKAFEI83(1)HEKRRE
(REESFHMIZEH) KA B2
BZESERTHBHEAMESOT

BE_S_=H£=B=+—HL=E
E

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings

RHAES FREFAARERBEAR) REBAARSNES THEKZHE

Salaries, Employer’s
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind retirement plans remuneration
REM]
e Rk BIREHEIZ
ik BWRIE BEMHR MEa%E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTERT TERT TET
Chief executive and executive director: TEREHRYTES .
Mr. Li Yi Feng SR E 850 = 18 868
Executive director: HiTEE:
Mr. Chen Wei BELE 912 - - 912
1,762 - 18 1,780
Independent non-executive directors: BUFRTES !
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen HEHLT 199 - - 199
Mr. Wong Chi Hong Wiliam BTREE 199 - - 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong FERLE 199 - - 199
597 - - 597
2,359 - 18 2,377
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BEZZE-_F=-—RB=+—HILHFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2022

9. EFERTHREZZME @

BE _ZT__#=B=+—HLULtHE
=

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings

RHEES (FRBAATRENBAR) REEARBNEZARERHE

Salaries, Employer's
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind retirement plans remuneration
REMR
i A= 1LY BAREEIZ
wE 2Mila BEHER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TEr TERr TERT
Chief executive and executive director: TEEERPTES .
Mr. Li Yi Feng ERESEE 850 - 18 868
Executive director: HITEE:
Mr. Chen Wei BRELE 972 - - 972
1,822 - 18 1,840
Independent non-executive directors: BUFERTES:
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen HEHLL 199 - - 199
Mr. Wong Chi Hong William BTRELE 199 - - 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong HEREE 199 - - 199
597 - - 597
2,419 - 18 2,437
ZEI=FFR HHETPEZEERRAT 175
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BE

=F=R=1T—HLFE

10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

176

Of the individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two were directors and the chief executive (2022: two) of the
Company whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in

10. B & # N

REEERSHFMALE R F X
ABMBEERTHEBH (ZTT
F W) EM SR EXHEIN R

note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2022: three) BE-ERB=-%(ZTZEZZF.=%) A
individuals were as follows: Tz EMWT

2023 2022

—E== T F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYR & 1,833 1,807

Employer’s contributions to defined REMFRIKRE BN 2 B EH
contribution retirement plans 140 54
1,973 1,861

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

B NI HEEZIFEFRIFTH
My zEREHNEEZARLT !

No. of employee

EE A
2023 2022
—E-= =S
Nil to HK$1,000,000 E 1,000,000 7T 3 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors of the
Company or five highest paid employees of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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BE

11.

A+ —HUEEE

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in Bermuda.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the subsidiaries registered in the PRC is 25% (2022: 25%)).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2023 as the Group did not generate any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2022: Nil).

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties developed
by the Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, which under the applicable
regulations is calculated based on the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

11.

FRiFIRIE R

REBRERMNKZEZR A&EEBA
BAMERBEREMSR

RiFFEAREMBECEMBRZE

(TEFREMLE) REEMERZE
BEHESN RPEEMZHWEAT 2
MER2% (ZEZ2HF 1 25%) °

Eﬁxzﬁﬁlﬁ\ﬁﬁqf*%iﬁ?
SEMNEFEFREN (ZE2EZZ2F
#)  AEAMBE_S _=ZF=H4
—t+t—BLEFEZEEBNNERIR
e o

PEZ B ERDDUEEERER
RHEZME BRELHZABUR
EREIONECORE W HHIREE
BRENHEEMRSRRLNEKRA
HRA> (Bt EREMAE N E
EfTRFIBENEZERMAS StER
¢ o

2023 2022
—E-= B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Deferred tax credit FIETRIBIK 2
Current year KEE 861 7,708

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR
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BE

=F=A=+—HIEFE
1. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 11. FRISRIERE @

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the profit KEEZMEREBEREGSEERG R
(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and HthexmWm®BR2FRAREMN (B

other comprehensive income as follows: 8) HERW T -
2023 2022
—EZ=HF T F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFHET
Profit (loss) before tax BRIETEF] (F518) 1,420,956 (406,592)
Tax at the applicable tax rates BERMESNE ZNE 356,516 (100,195)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEFRBAZRBLE (375,048) (19)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AaflRAE 2 REEE 2,615 3,906
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR CRMEEE L MBEREE 15,056 109,684

Utilisation of tax losses previously not ERBERER 2 RIBEE

recognised - (21,084)
Income tax credit for the year KREEZFERIER (861) (7,708)

178

At 31 March 2023, the Group has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of approximately HK$341,994,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB299,208,000) (2022: HK$1,467,757,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,190,395,000) (including
those classified as disposal group held-for-sale of
approximately HK$1,159,587,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB940,460,000))) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_S_=—F=-A=1+—ALFE

12. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
(@) Basic earnings (loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings (loss) per share is based on

12. Sk&EH (Fi8)
(@) ERELERF (Fi8)
SRERBRT (BR) BEUT

the following data BB E
2023 2022
—E”= s K
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit (loss) attributable to owners RABEE NEIERER (58
of the Company 1,421,817 (398,884)
2023 2022
“E=HF . —
Weighted average number of Tk nETag (Ex)
ordinary shares (basic) 23,336,687,255  23,336,687,255

(b) Diluted earnings (loss) per share

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, basic
earnings (loss) per share is the same as diluted earnings
(loss) per share as there are no potential ordinary shares
outstanding for the year.

13. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the ordinary shareholders of
the company during the year ended 31 March 2023, nor has any
dividend been declared since the end of the reporting period (2022:
nil).

b) ESk#EERF (ER)
BE_ZE_=—FK-_ZE_C
ZE=+t—HLFE-BRE
RIEERBAEIZEBEEE B
kR ERELAET (FH) &
Sk#ERY (BB EE -

13. HQ:%\

RBEE_SE_=#=B=+—H1
FE > WEBANADZERREIKE
FEIKRE  MERSHRENRES
RAERKBE (ZEZZF &) o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

180

14. ME - -BERKE

Leasehold Office Furniture Motor
improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
HE iR
R WARE EEEE HE agt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
31 March 2023 “Z--E=B=1+-H
At 1 April 2022: RZBZ"EMA-H:
Cost R 4,233 2,904 2,187 3,346 12,670
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (4,169) (2,608) (1,368) (3,235) (11,380)
Net carrying amount REFE 64 296 819 111 1,290
At 1 April 2022, net of accumulated depreciation  RZZEZ"#MA—H>
NERFNE 64 296 819 111 1,290
Additions RE - - 60 322 382
Depreciation provided during the year FRNERE (60) (121) (305) (106) (592)
Exchange realignment EREE @ (20) (15) ) (44)
At 31 March 2023, net of accumulated depreciation R-F-=F=F=+—H>
NBEENE - 155 559 322 1,036
At 31 March 2023: RZBZ=F=R=+-R:
Cost 2% 4,233 2,904 2,247 3,668 13,052
Accumulated depreciation RiHE (4,233) (2,749) (1,688) (3,346) (12,016)
Net carrying amount REE - 155 559 322 1,036
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BE_S-_—&£-RA=+—ALEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

14. ME - -BERKRRE @

Leasehold Office Fumiture Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
HE ‘ BRR ‘
BF MERE WARE BEEE i st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
31 March 2022 “E-"F¥-RA=+-H
At1 April 2021: RIEZ-FMA-H:
Cost A 37,343 4,049 7,098 2,801 4126 55,417
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (18,079) (3974) (6.472) (1531) (3928) (28,984)
Net carrying amount REZE 24,064 75 626 1,270 198 26,433
At 1 April 2021, RIZZ-FENE—H"
net of accumulated depregiation NEERHE 24,264 75 626 1,270 108 26,433
Additions HE - 84 241 7 65 397
Written off during the year ERE - = (197) ) = (203)
Depreciation provided during the year FRINERE (1.271) (145) (221) 437) (123) (2,197)
Exchange realignment ERHE 995 50 36 44 39 1,164
Reclassffied as held-for-sale ENDEAREHE (23,988) - (189) (59) 68) (24,304)
At 31 March 2022, RIEZZE=RA=1-R"
net of accumulated depregiation NEREHE - 64 296 819 11 1,290
At 31 March 2022: RZEZZE=F=1+—H:
Cost IS = 4233 2,904 2,187 3,346 12,670
Accumulated depreciation FEHNE - (4,169) (2,608) (1,368) (3,235) (11,380)
Net carrying amount REFE - 64 296 819 11 1,290

——

—_—<——
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15.

182

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. IREWYE

Under
Completed construction Total
=5-354 "B st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHERT FHERT
FAIR VALUE AFE
At 1 April 2021 A_E_—FNA—H 838,415 501,476 1,339,891
Additions wE - 2,213 2,213
(Decrease) increase in fair value BRPERZ A FE
recognised in profit or loss (RiZL) 1870 5,104 (21,202) (16,098)
Reclassified as held-for-sale BN EAFELE (534,875) (198,390) (733,265)
Exchange realignment R 35,326 18,457 53,783
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R_Z__F=A=+—H
E_E__#MB—H 343,970 302,554 646,524
Decrease in fair value recognised BRPERZ A FERLD
in profit or loss (1,449) (1,994) (3,443)
Exchange realignment P& R A (25,245) (22,182) (47,427)
At 31 March 2023 A BT =F=A=+—H 317,276 278,378 595,654

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated in the PRC.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2023 and 2022 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by Avista Valuation Advisory Limited
(“Avista”), independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. Avista are members of the Institute of Valuers.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. KEYE @
The valuation was arrived at by reference to market transaction ZEELK2ZHUMBERTZ
prices and rentals for similar properties in the similar locations and BOUMETBRXZERATEE
conditions. Details of valuation techniques and assumptions are BERERBRAFBNR TXHwme E—
discussed below. There has been no change from the valuation FEFRZMGEREZLEETE o 05T
technique used in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the mMEZAFER  ZVWEZEER
property, the highest and best use of the property is its current use. REGHAAANDERFZEHASN -
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses AEGTEENEENATE &&
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level B ERB TS BREEIE M KRE
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified REF—HBAHE ~AEETEHE
valuers to perform the valuation. The management of the Group B CERMGEMETHE KE
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the BEEEERSERISEEME T
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. G UAEEBENEER ERER
B A B o
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that are measured KEBRVEREREBERRATEE
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value grouped into fair AR ¥R A FE 5= B B A B 0] B
value hierarchy level 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to RREEDSALRTFEERE=ZHR 2K
fair value measurement is observable and the information about EMEZDMUKRE B WA ESRG
how the valuation has been reached and the use of significant ENEREAFTTERREB ASE
unobservable inputs are as follows: BERmT
Relationship
Significant Range of of significant
Fair value Fairvalueasat  Valuation technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 31 March 2023 and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
RIBZ= BAFRAHE FAHZ EXTIRZHAUE
ATERR =B=+-HZATE GEFERTIEHAYE BAHE BAMEHE AATEZREE
*Commercial Investment Level 3 2023: N/A- Income Approach Discount rate 2023: N/A (2022: 8.5% The higher the discount
Property A (completed) (2022: HK$534,875,000) per annum) rate, the lower the fair
- by reference to forecasted net value
income discounted using a
market discount rate and Capitalisation rate 2023: N/A (2022: 5.5% The higher the
capitalised income beyond per annum) capftalisation rate, the
the forecast period lower the fair value
WEREMEABRD  £=R ZECCRIRBR S WAE fR= ZECCFITER TREEE
(CE-—&: (CBZZE: AT EME
534,87500087) —SBRERHHTRENENE FE85%)
ARAFBRBEENSAN
BAIEIWA BALE Sy N BALEdR
(CE-CE: ATEHIE
SE55%)
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BHE_Z_=—F=-A=+—HLEE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

184

15. KEYE @

Relationship
Significant Range of of significant
Fair value Fairvalue asat  Valuation technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 31 March 2023 and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R-ZBZZE EATHER FIRE EXTTRREARE
ATEER ZR=+-HZAFE REFERIEDAHE BAHE BAHEEE AATEZMR
*Commercial Investment Level 3 2023: N/A Market Comparison Approach Adjusted market price  2023: N/A The higher the adjusted
Property B (2022: HK$198,390,000) (2022: RMB1,348 - market price, the
(under construction) - by reference to recent selling RMB1,875 per square higher the fair value
price of comparable metre)
properties and adjusted to
reflect the time, size and
location of the property
HEREMEB (T8) E=4 CECCRITER TR RBEENE “BCRIAER REmELS,
CB—f: C2_Z£:8FAK  LATEES
198,390,008  —SRILBNEZAAEEL ARHE1,348LE
(RO EvAS: AEH#1,87570)
i R R
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$317,276,000 (2022:  Income Approach Term yield 5% (2022: 5%) per annum  The higher the term
Property C (completed) HK$343,970,000) yield, the lower the fair
- taking into account the current value
rents of the property
interests and the reversionary  Reversionary yield 5.5% (2022: 5.5%) per The higher the
potentials of the tenancies annum reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value
BEREMEC BRD  E=R 317,2760008w WA ikl G 8% BBlEEES>
(CE-Z#&: (CBZ2F 1 5%) ATEBE
343970000  —sTAMERZZSRBEERE
BZBEEN ERlRE §F55% CElGE S
(ZEZZE 155%) NTEHE
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$278,378,000 (2022:  Market Comparison Approach Adjusted market price  2023: RMB1,898 - The higher the adjusted
Property D HK$302,554,000) RMB1,900 market price, the
(under construction) - by reference to recent selling (2022: RMB1,900 - higher the fair value
price of comparable RMB2,221) per square
properties and adjusted to metre
reflect the time, size and
location of the property
BEREWED (T8) E=h 27837180008 MIELEE RBEENE 2R IGTHR gREnEER
CB—f: AR¥1898TE ATHEEE
30255400087  —BREULBMEZAAERL AE1519007
(RO EvAS: (CBCE:
i RER ARHE1,900E
AR2,2017)
* These investment properties were disposed during the year ended 31 * ZEREMEREE_ZS_=F=A4

March 2023
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

15.

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment properties with
carrying amount of approximately HK$454,385,000 (2022:
HK$1,225,170,000 (including those classified as disposal group
held-for-sale of approximately HK$733,265,000)) were pledged
to secure certain other borrowings (note 29) and amounts due to
related parties (note 28) of the Group.

15.

BREYE @

W_E_=F=B=+—H ' &x5H
BREEANA454,385,0008 T (Z
" :1,225,170,0008 7T (81
ZEDHEARBFLEZHEERY
733,265,000/ 7m)) 2 KREWEE
EAKRKEBETHMMER (ME29)
REMEESmE (MF28) 2 &
o

LEASES 16. A&

(i) Right-of-use assets () FERAESEE

2023 2022
—EZ= S

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FHET
Land T 378,889 423,579
Buildings g5 104 356
378,993 423,935

As at 31 March 2023, right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$378,889,000 (2022: HK$423,579,000) represents land
use rights located in the PRC.

The Group has lease arrangement for office premises. The
lease term is two years (2022: two years) at fixed rentals
without any extension or termination options.

R_ZB_=ZF=ZBA=+—8"
fF A E E#378,889,0008 7T
(ZEB -4 : 423,579,000
) IEURFE R

FEBEMBPLAEYETANEE
ZH-HBAIME (T
FIWmF) HEEE BILE
ERERSRIEEERE-
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16. LEASES (continued)

(i)

(i)

186

Right-of-use assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, right-of-use assets in respect of land
use rights amounting to approximately HK$378,889,000
(2022: HK$582,612,000 (including those classified as disposal
group held-for-sale of approximately HK$159,033,000)) had
been pledged to secure certain other borrowings (note 29)
and amounts due to related parties (note 28) of the Group.

16. fHE »®

(i)

FHEEE ®
RZ_ZE_=#=HR=+—8">
THMERAEIRERAREE
#9378,889,0008 T (ZE -
fF 582,612,000 ¢ (B1E =%
ENHEARFHEZHLEER
#159,033,000% 7)) EF A
NEEEFTHMER (H:E29)
KREMSRAERHE (Hs28) =2
B o

Lease liability iy HE&R
2023 2022
—EZ=HF BT THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-current JEBDEA - 109
Current BNHA 109 251
109 360
Amounts payable under lease liability: HEaBBE NENRE !
2023 2022
—EZ= —E-
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Within one year —FRN 109 109
After one year but within two years —FBREMFR - 251
109 360
Less: Amount due for settlement 12BN EHBEERIE
within 12 months (109) (251)
Amount due for settliement after 128 B & BB E A
12 months - 109

Richly Field China Development Limited
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16. LEASES (continued) 16. A& @)
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) M8z PR ZRIE
2023 2022
= ——

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET

Depreciation expense on FREEEITERS

right-of-use assets

- Land — i 14,070 18,424
- Buildings —1&F 252 1,384
14,322 19,808
Interest on lease liability HEsENE 13 52

Others

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered
into a new lease arrangement in respect of renting office
premise and recognised lease liability and right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$503,000 (2023: Nil).

(iv)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cash outflow
for leases including interest paid on lease liability and payment
of lease liability amount to approximately HK$264,000 (2022:
HK$1,533,000).

(iv)

——

—_—<——

Hith

HE_Z__F£=ZHA=+—H
FTFE AEERBEERLE
METIL-—BHEETHILRE
REEEGERERAREEEN
503,000 T (ZE - =F:

#®) o

BHE_E£_=ZF£=ZB=+—H
IFFEE -HER:REEEE (8
FHEEGEZENAEKRTE
E8BEMNR) £85264,0008 7T
—ZE -4 :1,533,000%

e

TN
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17.

188

=F=R=1+—HILFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. R E AT Z %
2023 2022
—EZ= —E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
NS FAET TFET
Costs of investments in associates REERB 2 REMA - S
Share of post-acquisition losses and FE(L U BB B 518 K
other comprehensive expense Hith2mAxz (48,712) (48,690)
(48,712) (48,690)
Amounts due from associates JE IS B B) T (a) 83,037 88,266
34,325 39,576
Impairment on amounts FER B E AR IEZ RE (o)
due from associates (33,767) (33,185)
558 6,391

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the

following associates that are not material to the Group:

RESHR AEBRUATHEAER
WAEANBELADESED

Proportion of nominal value of paid-up

Place of incorporation/ Class of capital by the Group and portion of
Name Form of entity establishment and operation  equity held voting power held indirectly Principal activities
BRI/ RIR Fifs FERFIESRRATELA
£ BRI s R REEEEZRZRLA IBEK
2023 2022
ZEIcE I "
Huallai Dayi Winery Company Limited” Limited liability company The PRC Registered 50% 50%  Property
capital development
ERA-FHELERRAA BRELAT M it 50% 50% @R
Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited” Limited liability company The PRC Registered 42% 42%  Property
capital development
SHEBRAURLITNHERAT ARELAT M iR 42% 0% WERE
Jiangxi Globe Qutlets City Co., Ltd.* Limited liabiltty company The PRC Registered 50% 50% Property
capital development
IRRERSARTHERAR BRETAT i A 50% 50% MERE

*

For identification purposes only

Richly Field China Development Limited
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17.

T_=HF=ZA=+—HLEE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

material:

17. REFE AT 2 o
BHAERBMEARD ZLEGTER !

2023 2022
—E= g2
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFET
Aggregate carrying amount of individually FEMBRRANENFAEKREE
immaterial associates in the consolidated NEZIFEIREE
financial statements 558 6,391

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of
those associates:
Loss from continuing operations
Other comprehensive expense

CEE AR

Hth2EFA

AEEBEZEHEQATZ

REFBEEEBZBE

Total comprehensive expense

SH SRR

Notes:

@

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
these balances are considered as quasi-equity investments in the
associates.

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited (“Globe Outlet”) is principally engaged
in a property development project in Changchun, Jilin Province, the
PRC. At 31 March 2023, the Group had an amount due from Globe
Outlet of HK$53,549,000 (2022: HK$59,141,000). At 31 March
2023, an aggregate impairment loss on investment in Globe Outlet of
HK$9,618,000 (2022: HK$9,303,000) was recognised.

Jiangxi Globe Outlets City Co., Ltd. (“Jiangxi Outlets”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Nanchang, Jiangxi
Province, the PRC (the “Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City Project”). At
31 March 2023, the Group had an amount due from Jiangxi Outlets of
approximately HK$11,805,000 (2022: HK$11,442,000) and an aggregate
impairment loss on investment in Jiangxi Outlets of approximately
HK$6,466,000 (2022: HK$6,199,000) was recognised as at 31 March
2023.

——

—_—<——

Mk -

FEHR HETEERERAR

BB ERATMEAEER REXK

EEEEMM- $’&7%$u w0 2
BEHEREASNBE AR ZALURER

ﬁo

S RET R EITNMAE R A
7 ((EMEESHY) TEERPEREM
LEETRBYELRER N _Z
T=ZEZRA=+—H Fx&EEEREK
= MR B 3 H 2R 1B 53,549,000 7T (Z
T T4 159,141,000 7T) c N ZE

T ZEZRA=Z+—H BIERERT
ﬁ@ﬁ%%zmﬁﬁﬁmﬁgmsmo
BT (T4 : 9,303,000 7T) ©

IABESRTRBITIINERAE
(CIABESRT) TERFERIA
LtHETmHEYwEEREER (IR
BEASRE R I INMIER)) R _E
—ZFEZA=Z+—H AEEBREK
ST P8 B 4% SR T SR IE 49 11,805,000 7T
(- — 11M2mm%n)~/
BN =F=HB=+—HH:?
BT BES R 2 B ERIEAEE ﬂ
6,466,00078 77 (— & — — £ : 6,199,000
BIT) °
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17.

18.

190

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17. REE QB 2D @
Notes: (continued) MisE : (@
(o)  (continued) (o) €59)
Huailai Dayi Wineries Company Limited (‘Huailai Dayi”) is principally BERAK—BHETEBRAR (MEHE
engaged in a property development project in Huailai, Hebei Province, the A—1) FERFPEIEERRIEEY
PRC (the “Huailai Dayi Project’). At 31 March 2023, the Group had an =REEE (MBRA—EE) -KRIE
amount due from Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$17,683,000 (2022: _=F=HA=+—H ' KXEBBREK
HK$17,683,000) and an aggregate impairment loss on investment in AR K —FNIE£917,683,00058 7T (ZF
Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$17,683,000 (2022: HK$17,683,000) 4 :17,683,000/7T) L ER T
was recognised as at 31 March 2023. SET=—F-A=+—HHEIVLENE
RAR— 2 BERBAREEAI17,683,00074
T (TTBZ T4 1 17,683,000 7T) °
The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity AEBPRBEATD ZREHBHAER
interests held by the Company. BB ZRAERARN-
The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses AEBBRIIEIELHELDBH
of associates, because the share of losses of the associates B BERABLZEBRELRNIZEH
exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate. The amounts of BoBEXAERRNZERE AT 2
the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of these associates for i o AFEREERHKREDEG
the current year and cumulatively were approximately HK$110,000 ZEBRE LR ZEEKRRESTRESD
(2022: HK$106,000) and HK$6,389,000 (2022: HK$6,279,000), A A&4110,0008 T (ZE - = :
respectively. 106,000 7T) 56,389,000/ 7T (=
LT 4 16,279,000 7T) ©
FINANCIAL ASSET DESIGNATED AT FVTOCI 18. IEEH AT EFAHMER
s S REE
2023 2022
== BT F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET AT
Unlisted equity investment JELEMRREERE 2,724 2,724

The above unlisted equity investment represents investment in
unlisted equity securities issued by a private entity incorporated
in Hong Kong which is engaged in operation of trampoline park
business in the PRC. At 31 March 2023, there was no open market
for such investment and the directors of the Company consider that
the marketability of the Group’s shareholdings in such investment is
low.
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18.

19.

FINANCIAL ASSET DESIGNATED AT FVTOCI

(continued)

The investment is not held for trading. Instead, it is held for medium
to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company have elected to designate the investment in unlisted
equity investment as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in the investment’s fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding the
investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance
potential in the long run.

The fair value measurement of the investment is disclosed in note
38(e) to the consolidated financial statements.

18.

EERATFEGFAHEMEE
WREZEMEE @

ZRBNWIFFEEEFE AR HDBF
FPRAREAR AL ARFE
ZEEERRENFLTRERE
EEMRBAFESFAEMEE KT
EPHERRED /N B ERZR
BERAVEZERRIFTTETEHR
REFEZREBEUKRREEREAR
RENZREE

ZRENATEFAERENRGSY
R &M 5£38(e) ©

GOODWILL 19. H&
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFAET

Cost and net carrying amount: YA e AR T SHE

At beginning of the year REY 123,300 118,392
Exchange realignment b O (9,002) 4,908
At end of the year RER 114,298 123,300

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the cash-generating unit of Qinhuangdao Project for impairment
testing.

In determining the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit,
the directors of the Company had considered both the value-in-
use and fair value less cost of disposal of the cash generating unit.
Based on the impairment assessment made, no impairment on the
goodwill as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 is considered necessary.
The value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering project life of a five-year period approved
by Board of Directors at a pre-tax discount rate of 10% (2022:
10%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rate of 3%.

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR

HEHBETZRERR
EREBAHBAZHEECHRE
REEEECREEL B WEST
LR & o

RNETRSEL BN A UWEEEE
B A AR EECETRBESELEN
ZHEREERATFEREEMRA R
BEREHZ RESE RZIEZ=F
TE - FEZA=+—HIEW
RBAVEZEHERE FHREEDR
BEREFSEEM 2EBEEFHAFH
MEBENRERETERN > ERATH
HE10% (CBE - & 1 10%) 51 & o
BHAFHACZRESREFEAI%ZE
IR REEH
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following describes the key assumptions on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwiill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risk relating to the cash generating unit.

Budgeted selling price and construction costs — The basis used
to determine the budgeted selling prices and construction costs
is based on the latest market information and expected market
trends.

Fair value of property development project — the basis used to
determine the fair value is based on independent valuation derived
from market comparables.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rate,
budgeted gross margins and market prices are consistent with
external information sources

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

19. & ®

HEggETZRENR @

T X b B R A B AT 1
B (E R S 8 A TR E
BER

FEE-FRAZFREARRA
TRERSELE G EEEEA
o

HEEBREZEX X -—FANEER
BEBREEMAFTZEETURN
THEENKBRHETEEERRE-

WEZREEZAFE-BRERE
AFEZREEDUTSIELRIEA
BRHZBIGERRE-

FRE - AEENXKTHERZE
ERRBEEIINLERRR -

20. EEME

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET TFAET

Properties under development TEYE 679,319 762,932
Properties under development expected to be 7f Z¥) 2 BRI IE

completed within normal operating cycle: BRANSER

Within one year —FRN 80,117 69,886

After one year —F% 599,202 693,046

679,319 762,932

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s properties under development with
an aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$180,825,000
(2022: approximately HK$282,736,000, (including those classified
as disposal group held-for-sale of HK$90,470,000)) were pledged
to secure certain other borrowings (note 29) and amounts due to
related parties (note 28) of the Group.
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20.

21.

22.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s properties under development
with a carrying amount of approximately HK$90,506,000 were
pledged to secure certain other borrowings of the Disposal
Group. As instructed by the providers of finance, the pledge of
the properties will gradually be released and be available for sale
in the open market. Part of the proceeds from the sales of these
properties will be utilised for repayment of borrowings of the
Disposal Group. Upon such repayment, the Group will record an
amount due from the Disposal Group. Up to the date of these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had not disposed of
any of the pledged properties or make any repayment on behalf of
the Disposal Group. The Group is still negotiating with the providers
of finance and the Disposal Group on the detail arrangement of
such.

20. EEBYE @)

W_E_=F=B=+—H ' &x5H
BREEANA90,506,0008 T2
MECBFEALEERSE THMER
2ER -HNmERERIET WX
BELREERT I HRQE TS
HE HEZEMENBOAERE
BEAREEHEEBRMER NIEHZ
BERE AEEERSERHEER
ME - BEZSHBEREWHHREFH
o AEEHARHETAERY K
RKERHEEEFHERAER AEEH
MEARESREILAEEERM L
METENER T EITER -

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES 21. iS{fHE BT Y%
2023 2022
—E= B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
Completed properties held for sales FIEHEZERTYE 34,893 62,037
DISPOSAL GROUP HELD-FOR-SALE 22. HFIEHEZLHESE

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the directors of the
Company resolved to dispose of the entire equity interests in
the Disposal Group. The assets and liabilities attributable to the
Disposal Group, which are expected to be sold within twelve
months, have been classified as a disposal group held-for-sale and
are separately disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

On 9 February 2022, the Group entered into a formal conditional
equity transfer agreements with an independent third party to
dispose of the entire equity interest in the Disposal Group for an
aggregate consideration of RMB3. The disposal was completed in
April 2022. Details of the disposal are set forth in the Company’s
announcements on 9 February 2022, 2 March 2022, 17 March
2022 and 14 April 2022.

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR

BEE S __H#=-HB=+—HL=E
E AR RBEERALELREER
2PRE-HEEBRLZEERES
FE(EHEERT_EBEAREE) ESD
EAREHEZHEER UR&ES
MR RRPERIFE-

A _E__F_RBRAH AEHEE—
EBIUBE =AM EXNNE KGR
HEERZ MHELEEEZ 2
R, KEEEAARKIT-HE
EECON _ZE-__FHNARM -HE
EEHEBHERNARTHEA S
—_—HZBhAB-ZEZZF=8Z
H-ZZZZ-HF=-HB+tBKZZ
T TENBHMAZASE

193



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE

22.

194

=F=R=1T—HLFE

DISPOSAL GROUP HELD-FOR-SALE (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group
classified as held-for-sale are as follows:

22. FIELEZHEER @

TEERTOEAFFHEZETE
EERBEENNT

2022
“EZCHE
HK$’000
TAET

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -MEREE 24,304
Investment properties KEYE 733,265
Right-of-use assets EREEE 159,033
Properties under development ey ES 1,882,069
Completed properties held for sales FEHEZ B TYE 96,097
Trade receivables FEUR BR =R 6,952
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FB1s 7UIE ~ % <& Bz H fth FE Ut 18 43,929
Cash and cash equivalents BEAIBEEEER 8,520
Total assets classified as held-for-sale DEAREHE BEEE 2,954,169

Liabilities afE
Trade payables FE{TRR X 890,202
Other payables and accruals HihENmIBRESTER 734,831
Contract liabilities H5H8E 513,903
Amounts due to related parties FETREE S =18 583,607
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5+ 8 8817 & ELfth & 1,508,570
Provisions B 7,134
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 13,532
Total liabilities classified as held-for-sale DRARFHE 2 BREELE 4,251,779

As at 31 March 2022, amounts recognised in reserves and
accumulated in equity relating to disposal group classified as held-
for-sale amounted to approximately HK$283,873,000.

As at 31 March 2022, trade receivables are all aged within one year.

As at 31 March 2022, trade payables of approximately
HK$863,776,000 are aged within one year, approximately
HK$23,364,000 are aged one to two years and approximately
HK$3,062,000 are aged over two years.
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

23. FEURER X

2023 2022
= S

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET TFET

Rental receivables FEURFE & 2,448 8,979
Rental recognised using the straight-line FREGSEER2EE

method 156 582

Total 4EST 2,604 9,561

The Group does not hold any collateral over its trade receivables.

An aged analysis of the rental receivables as at the end of the

AEBRTEMEBUERFTELEM
R o

NEZHBRAEE BUAESNRS

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HERZEREDWMAOT
2023 2022
2= —=E--
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Within one year —FRN 2,448 8,979

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

FEERBEFRNEHRAEEBE
WEEABRUBIRRZBEER B
WM BREEGEEEREBEE
BIr2EEBEANBEHRRIHER
BB AR BRI ARR DM IE S
GE TMEBANBERR REH
AREFMETEMNERBEEBRR
HRBESEHNERBRRHEREK
BREAFEFLARE-

HREBAEEZBEEEBER
o ARENEREREEBERZIE
NEREER FLERBEBRHAMNR
MZEBRERIRE-—TEDEE
BzTRERER-
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
on a provision matrix grouped by the past due status of these
receivables. However, no loss allowance was made on these

24,

196

receivables as the identified impairment loss is immaterial.

23. FEURERFR (&

A B AR BB B L R URBR AR (3%
ZEFRWRENBBAR RETDHE)
EREAERCEEBRE -2 AR
BRMNZBEBEL AEKX > QI HE
TR FRUCRIEF BB R 5 o

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. FAfTRRIE ~ & R H A FEUX
RECEIVABLES TRIE
2023 2022
== |
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mk FHET FET
Other receivables HhpgEwsIa (@) 2,893 2,325
Less: impairment of other receivables B MBI RE (787) (797)
2,106 1,528
Other tax recoverable Hh W RIE 95 82
Other prepayments HFE=IE 2,516 6,111
Prepaid construction costs FET IR A (b) 104,991 111,584
Deposits B& 689 749
Amounts due from Disposal Group FEUS H & £ B FUE (d) 142,147 =
Amounts due from related parties JE W R4 75 TUIE (© 52,306 43,962
304,850 164,016

Richly Field China Development Limited
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

()] Loss allowance of other receivables as follow:

24, FEARIE-HE R EMELWR
HRIE @)
M5k -

HEWRIEZ BEREEHNT

Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
[k ERE4R(E EEiaRE
% HK$’000 HK$'000
% TExT FET
For the year ended 31 March 2023: BHE_Z_=—F#=H=+—H
IEFE
Other receivables — Performing HittEWmIE— B4 * 2,106 =
Other receivables — Default HtEWRIE— 2L 100 787 787
2,893 787
For the year ended 31 March 2022: BE_Z-__F#=RB=1+—H
IEFE
Other receivables — Performing HAnEWERIE— B4 * 1,528 -
Other receivables — Default HAnEWEIE— 2L 100 797 797
2,325 797
* For the year ended 31 March 2023, no impairment has been HE_Z_=f=HA=+—HL®=®

recognised on other receivables of approximately HK$2,106,000
(2022: HK$1,528,000) as the directors of the Company consider
that there is no significant expected credit losses associated with
the other receivables given that there is no recent history of default
or there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

B WEF 492,106,000 T (ZE -
£ 11,528,000/ 7t) BUE fthFE WL R IB ER
R E ) TR A B AR
EERKRBEVTERLR N EREY
M WEAABDEERAMELAELME
W BB EATERE SRR -
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. ARE-HERHME K
RECEIVABLES (continued) HIE (@)
Notes: (continued) Mo © (&)
@  (continued) (@) (&)
The movement of impairment of other receivables is as follows: HMEWEIEZ BEZBNT -

12-month Lifetime ECL -

ECL credit impaired Total
2 HATRHA
E8E1E
128 B faHA -B#4%
EEE1E EERE st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
FHET & FET
At 1 April 2021 N _Z2 - —FMA—H - 4,561 4,561
Written off iy - (3,956) (3,956)
Exchange realignment PE R EEE - 192 192
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R E-__F=ZA=+—HK
“E-_F#MB—H = 797 797
Exchange realignment PE R AR - (10) (10)
At 31 March 2023 W2 =%=A=+—H - 787 787
() At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the balance represented prepaid (o) A _E_ZFERZIEZIF=8
construction costs to subcontractors for the development of property —t+—B > ARieEETRERYEIE
projects in the PRC. BEman a2 BEMA -
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HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(© The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Mr. Wang Hua (‘Mr. Wang”), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
is also the controlling shareholder of the related parties. The directors of
the Company consider that there is no significant expected credit losses
associated with the amounts due from the related parties as there is
no recent history of default or there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since intitial recognition and no impairment loss has been
recognised.

It represents mainly intercompany balances carried forward since the
acquisition of Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co. Ltd. (“Ningxia
Jinguan”) from a related party, JeShing Real Estate Group Company
Limited since 2018. The increase in the amount was mainly due to
the rental expense recorded as a result of the sale-and-leaseback
arrangements in respect of certain properties between Ningxia Jinguan
and the purchasers of such properties. To encourage the purchase
of such properties in the past, Ningxia Jinguan entered into the sale-
and-lease back agreements with such purchasers. Pursuant to such
arrangements, Ningxia Jinguan shall lease back such properties from
such purchasers at a premium to the market rent (the “Leaseback Rent”).
Ningxia Jinguan then lease out such properties to third parties at the
market rent (the “Lease-out Rent”). As a result, Ningxia Jinguan incurred
rental expenses due to the difference between the Leaseback Rent and
the Lease-out Rent.

The related party (vendor of Ningxia Jinguan when the Group acquired
it in 2018) has agreed to fully reimburse and indemnify Ningxia Jinguan
in respect of any expense and loss due to such differences during the
respective term of such sale-and-leaseback agreements. Details of which
are set out in the circular of the Company dated 31 January 2018 in
relation to the acquisition of Ningxia Jinguan.

(@] The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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25.

26.

200

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. HERREFEM
The interest rates on the cash at bank ranged from 0.01% to BITRESZ2FMNENF0.01%E
0.385% (2022: 0.01% to 0.385%) per annum. 0.385% (ZE__F :0.01% =%
0.385%) °
At 31 March 2023, the cash and bank balances of the N ZE_F=ZB=+—H & &
Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to approximately UARESEZIRE RIBITHER
RMB20,899,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,873,000) WA ANRH20,899,0000 (BE R
(2022: RMB37,785,000 (equivalent to approximately #23,873,000% ) (Z& ==
HK$46,589,000)). The RMB is not freely convertible into other AR#37,785,0007m (HERL
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange 46,589,000 7)) - ARKTRIER
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and HRHAHEMER  BR%PE A
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted ZONEEIRIR G R A B~ BB R TR
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to EERE AEEREZFERERLSS
conduct foreign exchange business. HNEXEBZRTHEARBERBRAH
HE-
TRADE PAYABLES 26. FE{TERTR
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the MBEZEHHAREE BNERIANRS
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BARZEREDHAOT :
2023 2022
—EZ= TETTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Within one year —FRN 18,339 144,599
Over one year B—F 370,928 382,424
389,267 527,023

The Group has financial risk management policies to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.

According to the court decision of a legal proceeding against
the Group from the constructor, the Group is required to settle a
construction payment of approximately HK$192,914,000 (2022:
HK$200,354,000) to the constructors. The settlement amount has
been accrued as trade payables as at 31 March 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/

27. HthEHIBERESHER,

CONTRACT LIABILITIES aEHEE
2023 2022
—EC=fF B F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
F5E FHET AT
Other deposits received HihE Wiz 14,968 17,473
Other payables HARE (I =Ia 14,624 53,880
Interest payables FERHIE 32,830 30,598
Deferred income FEIEUT A (b) 425,732 459,535
Accruals == 6,867 1,315
495,021 562,801
2023 2022
E-=F g2
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FHET AT
Analysed for reporting purpose: MEHRENDHS !
Current portion BRHAER 7 431,327 494,050
Non-current portion JEBPHERER
Deferred income PEIEUT A (b) 63,694 68,751
495,021 562,801
2023 2022
gz =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Contract liabilities =E =N @) 48,254 47,265
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes:

202

@

Contract liabilities include advanced receipts and deposits received from
customers to transfer completed properties to them.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023 that was
included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$39,073,000 (2022: approximately HK$497,857,000).
There was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year.

Balance represented government subsidies of approximately
HK$425,732,000 (2022: approximately HK$459,535,000) received from
the Finance Bureau of Changli County, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province to
support the development of the Qinhuangdao Project.

Pursuant to a business plan approved by management, the Qinhuangdao
Project commenced pre-construction work and approximately
HK$63,694,000 (2022: approximately HK$68,751,000) of the deferred
income is expected to offset future construction costs of investment
properties and is therefore classified as a non-current liability.
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27. HthEHRIBERESER,
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BHNEREEREWRERE R ZAWRIE
RigE  LAREBRETYE-

REE_ZE-_=F=B=+—HILHF
ERMRATA S __F£mAE—H
2 A B EMIIRE4 739,073,000 7T
TE T T4 #9497,857,00058 7T) ©
AEEMERIE I —EEENNE
HETEERNURE -

EeREWENENILEEEEERHG
B SR 2 BT 4 B 49425,732,0005 75
(ZE - —4#F : #9459,535,0008 7T) °
UERFREEER#ERE-

REEEBHAEZEH T8 F2
EEEBCRBEIMEFEBEREY
63,694,000 T (- —F | &
68,751,000/ 7t) Z IEIEUR A f 3L 853
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/A
SHAREHOLDER

() Amounts due to related parties

28. FEIIRAEY IRRMRIE

() FEFIRRESHRIE

2023 2022
gz —E-
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5% TFAET TFHET
JeShing Real Estate Group SREXEREEEBRAD
Company Limited (“JeShing”) E325=E) @), (), () 181,999 175,785
ISR ERMMEIBRAR IEBREMMEARAR
(VLEREEER") (DIgREERN)) (b) 25,908 27,036
HMREBEETREEARAT MRFE EREIRER
(ARE) BRR2E (MERE— (b) 325,542 316,997
BEREEEMEMREERAR EEWNEEMERERRAR
(BETEE (IZEWERE)) (d 7,627 =
BEEEEMERBERAE EEEENERBBERAE
(‘BEEEY) (MZEx:E%)) (d 7,407 =
Total st 548,483 519,818
2023 2022
—EZ= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Carrying amount repayable (based on  ZBFEENREE (BIEEFHE
scheduled repayment dates set out FRE 2 TREEM HAAME)
in the loan agreements)
Within one year —FR 548,483 519,818
(i)  Amount due to a shareholder (i) FE(TREERFNIE
2023 2022
—EZ= —E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5% FAET TFHET
Stimulate High Investment Limited ixEFREERA T ©) 19,826 =
ZEC=FEH HEPEZEARAR 203
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/A
SHAREHOLDER (continued)

Notes:

204

@

As at 31 March 2022, JeShing granted the Group unsecured revolving
loan facilities in aggregate of RMB4,000,000,000 which will mature in
December 2022 (RMB2,000,000,000) and 2023 (RMB2,000,000,000),
respectively, bearing interest at 5% per annum.

As at 31 March 2022, RMB2,000,000,000 was granted to the Disposal
Group and approximately HK$203,388,000 had been utilised.

As at 31 March 2023, approximately RMB9,060,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$10,349,000) had been utilised for the remaining facility
of RMB2,000,000,000 (2022: RMB?2,000,000,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2019, an entrusted loan agreement was
entered into among ST EREEEM (as the entrusting party), JeShing (as the
entrusting party), B =R % — (as the entrusting party), a lending bank (as
the lender) and the Group (as the borrower). Pursuant to the entrusted
loan agreement, a loan of RMB301,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$344,746,000) was provided to the Group. Mr. Wang is also the
controlling shareholder of ;T k£, JeShing and R 5 —. There is no
further extension agreement between lender and the entrusting parties
in March 2023. Therefore, the entrusted Loan was in default from March
2028. Lender has the discretionary right to demand entrusting parties on
full payment of the whole principle amount and any unpaid interest.

To the best interest of the Directors, management of the entrusting
parties have commenced negotiations of the repayment terms of the
entrusted Loan with lender since then. Up to the date of this report, those
negotiations are still in progress and have not been concluded. As the
right-of-use assets of the Group has been pledged against the lender,
lender has the discretionary right to confiscate the right-of-use assets and
dispose it for entrusted loan repayment.
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2,000,000,000cEFHEER » 4
203,388,000 T E & A °

NZE_=F£=BA=+—H ' #%H
BRELE AR #2,000,000,00070 (Z &
— & AR%2,000,000,0007T)
= 9 AR 19,060,000 (HHERLH
10,349,0007870) BE& A ©

BE_ZEZ—-—NAE=A=+—8L*=®
B IEEN (FAZRSEH) SREXE
(fEAZTH) " BRF— (FAZT
7)) ~BRIRITT (ERERAN) BHAEER
(EABERN) ST EZLERHE R
BERITERWE  ARM301,800,000
7T (FEE 71 49344,746,0008 7T) 2 B
BRHETEAER  ThLETETIEHE
M eRBENERE —ZIERRE-
RIE_=ZF=ZR ERARETLH
B EE— SR RGE AL 5=
T ZEZRiE R EREN BN
ANBEERNBEEREZTLHBHEESRD
KEEBRAMHE

REFZRENG EEHEEES
ERECRBEBRARERERZ
BRIFERETES BEARESAL
BREANEETPEFERER A
REAEBEREEECHRTFMEN
N BERABRNBRREREEE
WREHEENERERZTEEN



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZERTRERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/A 28. FE(IRAES IREIE @
SHAREHOLDER (continued)
B (continued) b  #&)

As at 31 March 2023, the balance is secured by the Group’s right-of- RIEZ=F=B=+—H>#&8H

use assets, properties under development and investment properties in
Qinhuangdao with a carrying amount of approximately HK$378,889,000,
HK$90,319,000 and HK$278,379,000, respectively (2022: approximately

FEBZERARBEERNTESZE
BYMERREYERT REED 5
#973378,889,0007 7T ~ 90,319,000

T %278,379,00058 T (ZE -
#9423,579,0003 7T ~ 97,491,000 7©

HK$423,579,000, HK$97,491,000 and HK$302,553,000 respectively),
carrying interest ranging from 5.7% to 6.19% (2022: 5.7% to 6.19%) per

annum. $2302,553,000/87T) » BN FE5.7%E
6.19% (CE - "F :57%F6.19%) Z
FFEFE o
© Included in the amount due to JeShing was HK$1,320,000 (2022: (0 EtAEMSREENIEAT,320,000%8
HK$1,320,000) which is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 7o (T8~ 411,320,000 7T) > B
demand. REARIEF - RERZEREER-
d  Mr. Wang is the controling shareholder of ZEE &% and =B &Y. d EhEABEEVEZIEREEREYN
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ZERBR - ZRIEAEIRT R KRE
z*fﬁ =
() The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ) HZREABRKF BEREZRMER

29. INTEREST-BEARING OTHER BORROWINGS 29. ;tEHfhfE =k

2023 2022
ZECZHF ZECCF
Contractual Contractual
interest HK$'000 interest HK$'000
BHIFE T#ET BHFE TAET
Current EnA
Other loans - unsecured HittEx—®igH 27.6% 30,718 27.6% 19,444
30,718 19,444
Analysed into: BUTERA:
Other loans repayable based on B EXIRZEZ BEER
scheduled repayment dates in HEMEEZ HMMER .
loan agreements:
Within one year —FR 30,718 19,444
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BE

29.

206

=F=R=1+—HILFE

INTEREST-BEARING OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

Certain other borrowings, including those classified as disposal
group held-for-sale are secured by assets of the Group with net
carrying amounts as listed below:

29.

I:|+ 5 H 1‘& 15 A (58)

AETHMER (BEZEDEARIE
HEZHEER) AAEEKREFE
M ZEEEMT

2023 2022
—EZ= TE T &
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET TFET
Investment properties BY=E7/ES - 466,934
Right-of-use assets FREEE = 159,033
Properties under development EREYE - 185,245
- 811,212

Notes: B 5E
@  Asat 31 March 2023, there is no banking facilities for the Group. As at 31 @ RIEZ=ZF=ZRA=+—H %&

March 2022, the Group’s banking facilities amounting to approximately
HK$1,159,883,000, of which approximately HK$1,159,883,000 had
been utilised.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s bank facilities were further secured by:

o a corporate guarantee executed by JeShing;
o a personal guarantee executed by Mr. Wang; and

o a corporate guarantee executed by FREREMRKE, a
company which Mr. Wang is a controlling shareholder.
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30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 9 February 2022, the Group entered into a conditional
equity transfer agreements with an independent third party to
dispose of the entire equity interest of AIFI# HEIFHITE 2
BBRAR (Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited), &
D HRFHRFTEESIERBRASE (Changsha Yutian Outlets
Business Administration Co Ltd) and E/VSHE R EEIE
BBR/ATE (Changsha Yutian Outlets Property Management Co
Ltd) (collectively known as “Disposal Group”) for an aggregate

30. HEWME AR

RZE__F_BhB AEHHE—
LB E =B R EREEE
B MEENEREHBRISRTE X
ERATD - ENVHRHBIF R
EEERLADERENVHEHBREY X
EEERARA (HBTHEER) 2
SR E KEREAARKEIT
HEHEEREN _E_-__F£W™A
+HEER -HEEERHERRBZ

consideration of RMB3. The disposal of Disposal Group was
completed on 14 April 2022. The assets and liabilities of the

EERBRUOT

Disposal Group at the date of disposal are as follows:

14/4/2022
—E-C
mBE+mA
HK$ 000
TFHET
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREE 24,246
Investment properties "EY= 731,540
Right-of-use assets FREEE 158,659
Properties under development EEYZE= 1,877,849
Completed properties held for sales FIEHEZ B TIYE 95,872
Trade receivables FEUWER =X 4,785
Prepayments, deposits and AR % E M H R IE
other receivables 39,517
Cash and cash equivalents REeERREEER 8,721
Total assets disposed of HEBERE 2,941,189
Liabilities &R
Trade payables FE{TRR X (886,025)
Other payables and accruals HthEARIEBEREE R (762,825)
Contract liabilities ==Y (613,181)
Amounts due to related parties FETREE S A (561,905)
Amounts due to remaining group FEBR TEEIE (145,063)
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHMERR (1,505,022)
Provisions s (7,117)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE (3,321)
Total liabilities disposed of EaEMREE (4,384,459)
Net liabilities disposed of EaEFEE (1,443,270)

“ECCHGFR HAETEBERARA

a 207



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZEMTFRERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE —F=A=1+—HILEFE
30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30. HEMB AR @
14/4/2022
—gs-—
mA+mE
HK$'000
FET
Gain on disposal of the Disposal Group: Mt HEERE >~ Uz .
Consideration received BUWRE =
Net liabilities disposed of HE&EFEE 1,443,270
Cumulative exchange difference in respect HEDENMDEEER
of net assets of subsidiaries reclassified B ATE E@TEZ%'E SHEREER
from equity to profit or loss 69,348
1,512,618
Consideration received BWRE =
Net cash outflow arising on the disposal: HEELZRESMEFEE .
Cash consideration received BWRENE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERESKRIREEER (8,721)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FAREEFNREREZRHER
included in cash flows from investing BEFEERRE TR
activities (8,721)
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31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. IRIEMIE
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the year are TR RIERIE (BE) BBEZ2EEHUW
as follows: S c
Deferred tax (assets) liabilities RERE (BE) 8R
Fair value
adjustment
arising on Revaluation
acquisition of properties Total
WEEEZ
REERAE MESR et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET TFET
At 1 April 2021 AZE_—FMA—H 58,918 (6,363) 52,555
(Credited) charged to (Gt ABm) PEE PO
profit or loss (24,946) 17,238 (7,708)
Reclassified as held-for-sale BN EAFELE (10,204) (3,328) (13,532)
Exchange realignment bE S0 R 356 86 442
At 31 March 2022 and A —E_"_F=HA=+—H
1 April 2022 ”R-_E-_FWPAB—H 24,124 7,633 31,757
Reclassified from held-for-sale B EHEENDE 10,204 S 10,204
Credited to profit or loss FFAER - (861) (861)
Exchange realignment b 7S L 1,537 (5632) 1,005
At 31 March 2023 R _E_=F=A=+—H 35,865 6,240 42,105

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. fig&
2023 2022
—EC=HE B TE
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
K& E it ] R #E T8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Authorised: AE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &R E1E0.058 T2
EER
At 1 April and 31 March ROE—B&
=B=1+—H 40,000,000,000 2,000,000 40,000,000,000 2,000,000
2023 2022
—EC=HE S
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
RHEE &8 R EE T8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTAT
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each & EE0.05 T2
Ve
At 1 April and 31 March ROE—B&
=B=1+—H 23,336,687,255 1,166,834 23,336,687,255 1,166,834
33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 33. EXEHE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to related parties, amount due to a
shareholder and interest-bearing other borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

210
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34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from
six months to twenty years (2022: six months to twenty years).
These properties are expected to generate rental yields of 2.55%

(2022: 2.55%) on an ongoing basis.

Certain of the Group’s existing operating lease arrangements are
with terms of contingent lease payments and are calculated based
on a percentage of relevant performance of the tenants, ranging
from 5% to 10%, pursuant to the rental agreements. Contingent
rents recognised as income for the current year amounted to

approximately nil (2022: HK$10,539,000).

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group

in future periods as follows:

34.

REHEZHF
fEa A

AEBREBELEHEZHEHBER
EYE HELEmEER BN T
NEBEZA+F(ZEZ_F . NE
BEZA+HF) - ZEVEBRPFEE
H2055% (CB - _HF:2.55%)27H
W o

AEBETHEAKEHEZHERNRE
ANRBERE IRERERZ
BHEPRZHBEEZEB DL (N F5%
Z10%) tE - REAEEBRIBA KA
NRARESHOART (ST _F .
10,539,000% 7T) °©

RESAPEFEERBERERR
RKRHABERN AT HFELERE
BEFZARMBBFEAERENT !

2023 2022

== -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Within one year —FRN 10,689 5,715
After one year but within two years —FBEMFR 6,119 2,211
After two year but within three years MEBREB=ZFEN 2,711 150
After three year but within four years —FBENER 1,255 3
After four year but within five years NEBERER 1,124 =
After five years hF% 5,151 -
27,049 8,079
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE
35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. B KiE

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the RREMAR  AEBERKENT
reporting period:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
Construction of properties included under BV BERREE T2
property, plant and equipment and MERKREY)E
investment properties 526,430 569,375
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. EARS
(@) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in (@) MECHBEEREMBIORE
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the 2R KEBRERE U
following material transactions with related parties during the TERBEBEARS-
years.
2023 2022
—F-= S
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5% TET FET
Interest expense FERX () 22,206 51,834
Rental income from kERVEBXIEES
EVBEXILEEERBRAA ERARAE
(“RIBRE" (rEWBE)) =z
AsWA - 53
Management fee income from RERDEEZ
R RE EEBWA - 285
These transactions were conducted on terms and conditions ZERGREFZHEREZK
mutually agreed between the parties. ARG ETT
Note: BI5E
0) Being interest expense to JeShing, SR &, R E— and F R i) mEREX VIHRENR -BR
£ B E MRS E where Mr. Wang has control over these entities. F-KRERERERREESH
N ERS EhEHZEER
BRI
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

36. FAEAR S @

b) =EEXFEEEASZME

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Short term employee benefits RHREEET 2,359 2,419
Post employment benefits BB EN 18 18
2,377 2,437

(C) The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined by the Group with reference to the performance
of individual and market trends.

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(c) FEEBABZME D AAE
BE2EEAXRBERTSZEDY

T & 7€ °

37. AR B zERMTA

Categories of financial instruments &R T ALER
2023 2022
E-=F g2
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets TRBEE
Financial assets at amortised costs RBIEN AT 22 SREE 234,935 121,781
Financial asset at FVTOCI BATESFAREMEZERG 2
TREE 2,724 2,724
Financial liabilities ERIAE
Amortised costs IR A 1,057,583 1,169,551
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38.

214

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amount due from Disposal Group,
cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, amount due to a shareholder, amounts due to related
parties and interest-bearing other borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate other borrowings (note 29) and amounts due
to related parties (note 28). The Group aims at keeping
borrowings at fixed rates in order to reduce cash flow risk.
The Group’s exposure to changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s amounts due to related
parties with floating interest rates. The Group’s exposure to
interest rate risk is minimal as the cash and cash equivalents
represented cash at banks with short maturity. Management
considers that the interest rate risk is insignificant. No
sensitivity analysis to be presented. The Group does not have
any interest rate hedging policy, and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses mainly are carried out in the Mainland
China, all transactions including major revenue and cost items
are denominated in RMB and the Group has no material
transactional currency exposure. The RMB is not a freely
convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes controls
on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and in
certain cases the remittance of currency out of Mainland
China.
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e B HRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE_ S _—F-FA=+—HILEE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 38. EREMEEEEMT A
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AEE @

(b) Foreign currency risk (continued) (b) ShEEEPE (&)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial position and condition are performed on each and
every major debtor periodically. These evaluations focus on
the debtor’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the debtor as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates. No credit
terms are granted to the debtors of the Group'’s property
development. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from its debtors.

7 % B3RS A 4b U M R
HoAT ERBERIEESR
Al tRAEEREREEY
S E A S S BRI o

EEE R

EEARERZBHFREN
HENBEEMERALEAAR
B 5 A5 1R 2 AL IR o 74 % [ B 3R
m—EBE REEAEER
B2RBHFETRB F 5
MORBOTMBRMEHEEER
B2 A

B _=f=R=+—8H">
FEEEFERREZERENE
W BR R A HAth FE W RRIE » 75 1
FERRBEERME BEEEE
REFEHRR LIFEERX
SEERR -AEBEEHAHK
TEEBAZHMBRRAKRER
ETEEFG ZFHGLEE
HEEHSABTZIBHARE
BREMXNTED EZEE
BAZBEEHKREBAEE
FTEKERIREZEBRER &
EETEMMERZERES A
RUBEEH - —RMS c&E
AEEHANWEBIE IR -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

216

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Credit risk (continued)

For trade receivable, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

For other non-traded related receivables, the Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its
management to develop and maintain the Group’s credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their
degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by the management which uses the Group’s
own days past due to rate its major customers and other
debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(©

Credit risk (continued)

(©

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

EERRE @

38. SR AGEIERSHTAY
AEE @

FrEEEERZEERR (@
FEBEER 25 8RR RIE
REEUTEE:

Basis for recognising ECL

REREERRZEE

Other
Trade financial

Category Description receivables assets

5 A FEUBR R Hit& e E

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
or has not been a significant increase in credit  (simplified
risk since initial recognition and that are not credit  approach)
impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

B4 TREEZENRRBRRENGEEREBVGEDL 2HERESES 12@2 786
RImARGMETERLREEHE BRE—M 8B GEEH 518
E)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that - not credit — not credit
are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2) impaired impaired

FEE TREEGEERRBVGEBLURANEEMERL 2HEREES 2HEHAGE
REERE BRE MR B-REERE BE-REL

BRE EERE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
one or more events that have a detrimental impact  credit impaired credit impaired
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have
occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

EHY E-EyTEHZEEZGRKREREELE 2HEREEE 2HBEHES
AXE2E2HELER SMEERTLALREE HB-BRLE BE-BEL
BE (FBRE =R &iREE E8RE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written Amount is
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic  off written off
prospect of recovery

g ERBEETNEBABRAREMBERNBEEAERR S MEEHSE MEEMAEE
PRI e Bl S BRI
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)
The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s
financial assets as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to

218

credit risk.

38. EREMEEREMIAY

31 March 2023

NFE @

c) EERE ®

FrEREEZEERR (@

TEREAAEBRETREEZ(E
EEERAEREERHZREE
ERK-

31 March 2022

ZZ”=f=HR=+—-H “2T"F=A=+-H
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount
ABEEST  12ERF
& SHBERERSE REEE BEEE  REFE RERE BEEE REPE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTHET THET FTHET TET FTET FTET
Trade receivables N/A Lifetime ECL (simplified 2,604 - 2,604 9,561 - 9,561
approach)
FEUSER TR AER HEREERE
(#1555
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECL 197,248 - 197,248 46,239 - 46,239
receivables
BeRHEM B4 REREREERE
B
Deposits and other Default Lifetime ECL - credit 787 (787) - 797 (797) -
receivables impaired
B RHEM B4 SHEREERE-
IR BELEEERE
Cash and Cash Performing 12-month ECL 35,083 - 35,083 65,981 - 65,981
equivalents
RekRe%Emn B4 2@ BHREERE
Note: M -

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due status. The
identified impairment loss is not significant.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 38. EREMEEEEMT A
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AEE @

(d) Liquidity risk 0 FBEEERE

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$511,791,000
as at 31 March 2023. In order to improve the Group’s
liquidity position, the directors of the Company have been
implementing various operating and financing measures,
details of which are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements. Based on those measures, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the Company and the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as when they fall due in the coming twelve months
from 31 March 2023 and it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions and related
parties to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and bank balances and available funding through (i)
refinancing of interest-bearing other borrowings and loans
from related parties and a shareholder when they fall due;
and (i) obtaining new financing to strengthen the liquidity
position of the Group and to meet the Group’s commitments
for properties development projects and other business
operations.

HRNAERNR _SET _=6=H4
—t+—HBES/RHAEEFELY
511,791,000 5> WA EE @
BB EERAR AREARE
ENRBESER R AT E
FEETZEEERMERE
BERAEBENGEMBREW
H2 A - ERNZERE  AQH
EERA ARBRAERE
ERREEESTRBTER S
T ZEZRBR=Z+—HREKRK
+ZEBREENGTFEE
ERFERESEEREZER
EHBEREREBESBE

AEENEHNEEEREEH
BEREEEFHE BERS
BHRZEAREREEENE
HHEBBETER EAFIQ
AEFEMRESTAIFEE -T&
B HRBEHEERRRE
HRBETFR BEERE
MIRE R EE SRR R
BTN E AN AGRER
MENHEERERRRIARSE

AEEEERBEEEBI)NE
BHMERRKEBEL R—
LRRERIFFERE , &
(VRS HMBE ERFEN R
TRIBTEHFARDTHBAE
TOUMBAERBZRBES
RARBERrEBYEERIE
BREMEFZERIE-
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

220

38.
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group

THEMREEREMIAZ
AEE @

(d)

MEBEEER @

TRIFAEBRZEHREEN
BEMRZBETGOHR £
EREHNRERREERE (B
REQFR B F B Al
BREMAERFANXFAEZINE
R REEBRATFINZESR

can be required to pay. HEfo
On demand or Total
less than 1 undiscounted Carrying
year 1 to 2 years cash flows amount
BRERY RURRE
—EZR —EmE e SREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FHET FTAET TAT
2023 —EZ=H
Trade payables FEFTERER 389,267 - 389,267 389,267
Other payables and accruals HitE [ ZIB R ETE F 69,289 - 69,289 69,289
Amounts due to related parties  FEfIEAE S IS 568,745 - 568,745 548,483
Amount due to a shareholder FEfREIE 19,826 - 19,826 19,826
Interest-bearing other borrowings 5t 8 ALt &% 39,196 - 39,196 30,718
1,086,323 - 1,086,323 1,057,583
Lease liability HEER 114 - 114 109
2022 EICF
Trade payables FE(TERAR 527,023 - 527,023 527,023
Other payables and accruals HiEARBRENER 103,266 = 103,266 103,266
Amounts due to related parties  FE{SBIE A FIE 541,689 = 541,689 519,818
Interest-bearing other borrowings 5t 8 E & 24,669 - 24,669 19,444
1,196,647 - 1,196,647 1,169,551
Lease liability HEaR 264 110 374 360
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e)

Fair value

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period for recurring measurement, grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.

38. SRtAMEEREMTIAZ
AEE @

(e

AFE
TRERNREZREPREQF
BstEESM T ED T UMHE
TERBEYHHE ERATEH
FTEHEIEERBAERZ S
HFBERSABE—EE =M

31 March 2023

—_EB_=H=A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— B B4R st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FTHET FHET FHET
Financial asset at FVTOCI ## A F (&5t A
Htz2EmK=EZ
EREE
Unlisted equity investment  3F g% & - = 2,724 2,724
31 March 2022
“E-"F=B=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—i Bk Bk et
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHERT FAERT FHET
Financial asset at FVTOCI  ##AF{Est A
HhzmWmz
TRMEE
Unlisted equity investment  3F_E AR IER & - - 2,724 2,724
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, there were HE_ZT__ —E=

no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

B=+—BLEEE > 2¥E
RESHhz2EHEETAE

@‘@mlll
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 38. EMEMEEREMIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ~AFE @
(e) Fair value (continued) e XFE@®
Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair BEEMEEUATEAEZ
value on a recurring basis ETMEEZATE
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value THRHIINUKLBUHEETFES
measurements of each financial instrument on a recurring BEMIBZAFEMERZ
basis are set out below: fH1E 7 & R A B
Relationship of
key inputs
and significant
Valuation Significant unobservable
Fair value Fair values as at technique and unobservable inputs to
Financial instruments hierarchy 31 March key inputs inputs fair value
TEBRAEER
EXFIHZ
BABERSA
&ERER EXFIHR ATEZEH
EWMIA NFERR R=B=+—HZA¥&E FEHARE WAYE itk
2023 2022
ZgZ= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEr FTET
Financial asset at FVTOCI
- Unlisted equity investment Level 3 2,724 2,724 Market approach Marketability The higher the
- by reference Discount marketability
to pricing discount, the
multiples of lower the fair
similar business value
enterprises
Minority Discount The higher
the minority
discount, the
lower the fair
value
BRATEHARMZEKEZ
EREE
—FLETRERSE B=M miEE-BB2  mHEASNNE TERBENE
TENEBE He ATE
ENEBREH HIE
DR ETE DR ETEY
B ATEY
il
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

38. ERMAREEREMIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AEE @

(e) Fair value (continued) e XFE@®
Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair BSEHEEURTEAZZ
value on a recurring basis (continued) ETHEEZAFE®

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial
assets on recurring basis are as follows:

UEBNBERERE=BRATE
SAEZEMEEZHERNT !

Unlisted
equity
investment
JELT
RiERE
HK$'000
TFHET
As 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, R_E-—FMB—HB
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 B _HF=ZRA=4+—H"
= — Y e S
“EI=_F=-A=+—4H 2,724

The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost approximate to their fair values.

AEBEERBRR REBHEN
AIRZEMEMEE R B
BEZREEHEZAERQFEME
=,
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 39. ZREMBRRRIEBEES
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE *=
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the AN RBERRZHBRIKE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B
2023 2022
—EZ= T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y E R R B 12 6
Right-of-use asset FREEE 104 356
Investment in subsidiaries and associates RB AT MBME AT ZRE 65,694 57,281
Financial asset designated at FVTOCI BEEATES ARMEER
Wamr EMEE 2,724 2,724
68,534 60,367
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and BN FIBE & Mk HE M EWREIE
other receivables 2,053 1,477
Amounts due from Disposal Group U H & &£ B 7B 13,337 =
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBEEER 10,815 27,356
26,205 28,833
Current liabilities Bt =R
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBE R ERE A 8,085 7,796
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NG 111,809 111,267
Amount due to a related party e BE 2 /5 =08 1,320 1,320
Amount due to a shareholder FETRZ SRR I8 19,826 =
Lease liability HEaE 109 251
141,149 120,634
Net current liabilities mEBaEREE (114,944) (91,801)
Total assets less current liabilities HEEERTHERE (46,410) (31,434)
Non-current liability ERBERE
Lease liability HEAaRE - 109
Net liabilities =P (46,410) (31,543)
Equity Ex
Issued capital BEITRA 1,166,834 1,166,834
Reserves M (1,213,244) (1,198,377)
Total equity g (46,410) (31,543)
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 39. XAR MBI AKREEES
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE = @)
COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KRNBVEEBEZHRBEUWT ©
Capital
Share Contributed redemption Reorganisation Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
fRip &8 BARE EXEERRE EiAfE Hitif#tE RiEH st
(note)
(D)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FEn FEn T FEn TEn TEn FEn
At 1 April 2021 RIEZ—FNE—H 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6,856 (2,466,368) (1,252,461)
Profit and total comprehensive AEERIRZENRAE
income for the year - - - - 54,084 54,084
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R_ZE-"F£=HF=+—H
kRZEZZFMA—H 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6,856 (2,412,284) (1,198,377)
Loss and total comprehensive TEEREREERS AR
expense for the year - - - - (14,867) (14,867)
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=%#=A=+-A 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6,856 2427151)  (1,213,244)
Note: e
Reorganisation reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of EARGREENEREARRRTROZEE
the shares issued and the net asset value of the subsidiaries of the Company BANTMEB AT BEFBE T E%Eo
uponN a group reorganisation.
ZEo=HER BRETERRERAT 225



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ZEMTFRERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_S_=—F=-F=+—HILEE

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
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40. MEEHEEZARHIR

TERHITEBERMEIHELEZE
B2 BRERENFRTEH -
EREEZERNEHEERE
FRKRREAERNGEEREERE
XKPDEAMETHEEREZE

activities. & o
Reclassification
1 April New lease to Disposal Financing Finance Exchange 31 March
2022 arrangement Group cashflows  costs incurred Accruals realignment 2023
Z5Izf ENNEE Skt
mA-A HRERH HEEE RERERE ELIMEER &R EREE =A=t-A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TR TEn TEn ThEn TEn TEn
Interest-bearing other borrowings SHEEMER 19,444 - - 13,343 20724 (8,204) (23,589) 30718
Interest payables (ncluded other payables FEfTHIS (5t A EAhFERT
and accruals (note 27)) FERMEER (W57)) 30,598 S = S S 8,204 (6,972) 32830
Amounts due to related parties EREERTE 519,818 - - 42539 22,206 - (36,080) 548,483
Amount due to a shareholder B RRNE - S S 19826 S = S 19,826
Lease liabilty gk 360 - - (264) 13 - - 109
570,220 - - 75,444 51,943 - (65,641) 631,966
Reclassification
1 April New lease to Disposal Financing Finance Exchange 31 March
2021 arrangement Group cashflows  costs incurred Accruals realignment 2022
B ENNEE - St
mA-A HRERH HEEE RERERE ELIMEER &R EREE =A=t-A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TR TEn TEn ThEn TEn TEn
Interest-bearing bank and FHERTREMER
other borrowings 1,486,468 - (1,508,570 (22,619 280,942 (278,916) 62,139 19,444
Interest payables (included other payables FE(TFIS (5t A fhfE(T
and accruals (note 27) BRI ER (H:27)) 302911 - (569,726) - - 278916 18,497 30,598
Amounts due to related parties EREERTE 903,244 - (585,637) 108,900 51,834 - n41m 519,818
Lease liablty AE&E 1338 503 = (1539) 5 = 5 360
2,693,961 503 (2,663,933) 84,748 332,828 - 122,113 570,220
Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BHEZ

M.

T_=HF=ZA=+—HLEE

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 30 March 2023, on 14 April 2023, King Future
Holdings Limited (the “Seller”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into the Cooperation Agreement
with Heilongjiang Fenglin Investment Company Limited* (the
“Purchaser”) and Qinhuangdao Arirang (the “Cooperation
Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, the Seller agreed to
transfer the 30% of the equity interests in Qinhuangdao Outlets
Real Estate Company Limited* to Qinhuangdao Arirang for a
consideration of USD1.2 million in accordance with relevant legal
procedures.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14
March 2023 for details.

On 31 May 2023, the Board announced that the Purchaser and
Qinhuangdao Arirang have failed to perform the payment obligation
in accordance with the Cooperation Agreement and Equity Transfer
Agreement. On 31 May 2023, the Seller served the termination
notices to the Purchaser and/or Qinhuangdao Arirang (as the
case maybe) to terminate the Cooperation Agreement and Equity
Transfer Agreement.

41.

“ECCGFR HHETEBERARAR

HEHREE

RZIEZ=F=ZFB=+H% 1K=
T FEWEA+TEHEH ARBZE
EfBARHSZERERARE (THE
FHEEREIAMEERREEAE
(TEA) REEEMERITILEE
& (TE1EHEL)

RIBEGERZ BEXRRBEMARZE

ETEFRAZEEMNENEEREE
BERTEXHERLQBNI0%KRE

1E%41,200,0005= 7t °

ERERE F2REARTEHAR ST

T=FE=ZRt+HEBzZAE.

N _E__FAA=+—H EEEG
EHERTAFTEEMEESKERE
EEHBEAREEEGERITXN
EB R_E_=FR8=+—H>
BAEAEBEAKR/ REEEMER (R
FIBRME) BEKIEBMUKLILES
EE R R EEERZE-
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFMHRHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controling MU F A EBETI R X K EZXHFRE 2
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from HEBEBTAEFHREEZ XEREE
the published audited financial statements is set out below. BEAFERETHBE -

RESULTS e

Year ended 31 March
BE=B=1+—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EZE "B “E--—f5 “Z°FF “Z-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FTHT TAT FER TER

Turnover SE3 51,708 637,641 41,168 181,687 284,184
Profit/(loss) attributable to: U ALREEER/ () -
— Owners of the Company S UN=IE/Z= DN 1,421,817 (398,884) (415,682) (294,856) (268,297
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEKRERE
At 31 March
®=A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC= ZEIZF B ZB-EF —Z—NE

HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKE000 ~ HK§'000  HK$'000
FET TER TET TET TAT

Total assets BEE 2,150,012 5,222,860 5,285,501 4,674,071 4,533,665
Total liabilties BEfE (1,674339) (6,075136) (5670463 (4,596,369 (4,148,766)
Equity attrioutable to: LU AT (L

_ Owners of the Company —KAFREEA 475673 (852076)  (384.962) 77702 384,899

228 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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